1

The mitochondrial permeability transition pore: an evolving concept critical for cell life and death

Giampaolo Morciano^{1,2†}, Natalia Naumova^{3†}, Piotr Koprowski⁴, Sara Valente⁵, Vilma A. Sardão⁵, Yaiza Potes⁶, Alessandro Rimessi², Mariusz R. Wieckowski^{6*} and Paulo J. Oliveira^{5*}

¹Maria Cecilia Hospital, GVM Care & Research, Via Corriera 1, Cotignola, Ravenna, 48033, Italy

²Department of Medical Sciences, Section of Experimental Medicine, Laboratory for Technologies of Advanced Therapies (LTTA), University of Ferrara, Via Fossato di Mortara 70, Ferrara, 44121, Italy

³Department of Cardiac Thoracic and Vascular Sciences and Public Health, University of Padua Medical School, Via Giustiniani 2, Padova, 35128, Italy

⁴Laboratory of Intracellular Ion Channels, Nencki Institute of Experimental Biology, Polish Academy of Sciences, 3 Pasteur Street, Warsaw, 02-093, Poland

⁵CNC - Center for Neuroscience and Cell Biology, CIBB - Centre for Innovative Biomedicine and Biotechnology, University of Coimbra, UC Biotech, Biocant Park, Cantanhede, 3060-197, Portugal

⁶Laboratory of Mitochondrial Biology and Metabolism, Nencki Institute of Experimental Biology, Polish Academy of Sciences, 3 Pasteur Street, Warsaw, 02-093, Poland

ABSTRACT

In this review, we summarize current knowledge of perhaps one of the most intriguing phenomena in cell biology: the mitochondrial permeability transition pore (mPTP). This phenomenon, which was initially observed as a sudden loss of inner mitochondrial membrane impermeability caused by excessive calcium, has been studied for almost 50 years, and still no definitive answer has been provided regarding its mechanisms. From its initial consideration as an *in vitro* artifact to the current notion that the mPTP is a phenomenon with physiological and pathological implications, a long road has been travelled. We here summarize the role of mitochondria in cytosolic calcium control and the evolving concepts regarding the mitochondrial permeability transition (mPT) and the mPTP. We show how the evolving mPTP models and mechanisms, which involve many proposed mitochondrial protein components, have arisen from methodological advances have allowed milestone discoveries on mPTP regulation and composition and its recognition as a valid target for drug development and a critical component of mitochondrial biology.

Key words: mitochondria, mitochondrial permeability transition pore, calcium, cell death

CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	 . 2
II.	The MPTP and mitochondrial CA^{2+} uptake or overload	 . 3
	(1) Mitochondrial calcium influx	 3
	(2) Mitochondrial calcium efflux	 5

^{*} Authors for correspondence (Tel.: +48 225892372; E-mail: m.wieckowski@nencki.edu.pl); (Tel.: +351 231249195; E-mail: pauloliv@cnc. uc.pt)

[†]Equal first authors.

	(3) CA ²⁺ induces mitochondrial swelling	7
III.	From the initial observations to the composition and regulation of the permeability transition: an	
evolvi	ng model	9
IV.	Understanding the MPTP with the use of electrophysiological studies	13
V.	The MPTP – from mitochondrial fractions to intact cells	17
VI.	The MPTP in cell death and pathology	19
VII.	Not always a bad guy: the physiological roles of the MPTP	20
VIII.	The road to the clinic: future perspectives in MPTP regulation	21
IX.	Conclusions	24
Х.	Acknowledgements	24
XI.	References	25

I. INTRODUCTION

The mitochondrial permeability transition (mPT) is a pathophysiological state of the inner mitochondrial membrane (IMM). Under favourable conditions, including calcium (Ca²⁺) overload, oxidative stress, increased phosphate concentration, and decreased adenine nucleotide availability, the IMM becomes highly permeable to solutes with a molecular weight of up to 1500 Da (Halestrap, 2009; Morciano et al., 2015). Since biological and evolutionary features generally make the IMM relatively impermeable, the mPT leads initially to a considerable and unselective influx of solutes and to an abrupt loss of mitochondrial metabolites, causing mitochondrial homeostasis perturbation that can result in cell death (Izzo et al., 2016). The mPT is evolutionarily highly conserved, with critical features present in yeast, mammals, and plants; only the crustacean Artemia franciscana seems to lack a regulated mPT, which may contribute to its longlasting hypoxia tolerance (Menze et al., 2005). The mPT is caused by the opening of proteinaceous channels at the juxtaposition of the IMM and outer mitochondrial membrane (OMM) rather than changes to the phospholipid bilayer composition (Crompton, Costi & Hayat, 1987). The opening of mPT pores (mPTPs) opening can be monitored using fluorescent dyes or absorbance assays in living cells, isolated mitochondria and tissues. Pore opening results from relatively severe perturbations of the mitochondrial matrix and the consequences of mPT are dictated by several factors such as the pore open time, the number of channels present, and the number of mitochondria affected by this pathophysiological event. A long-lasting mPT can lead to irreversible conseincluding matrix swelling, quences. dissipation of mitochondrial potential, ATP hydrolysis into ADP and free phosphate ions, and uncoupling of oxidative phosphorylation, causing cell death. The modalities by which mPT leads to cell death are still debated; based on recent reports, apoptosis or necroptosis may occur depending on ATP concentration and availability (Brenner & Moulin, 2012).

mPTP opening, considered by some authors as a cellular catastrophe (Briston *et al.*, 2019), has been considered a critical mechanism in the development of several pathologies and organ damage caused by toxicity. For nearly two decades, the mPTP has been associated with cardiac dysfunction observed after ischemia/reperfusion of the heart

(Borutaite et al., 2003). In early work, Steenbergen et al. (1987) demonstrated an increase in cytosolic Ca^{2+} concentration after an ischemic episode. Cytosolic Ca²⁺ overload induces the opening of the mPTP and, consequently the release of cytochrome c from mitochondria to the cytosol and activation of the mitochondria-dependent apoptotic pathway (Whittington et al., 2018). During ischemia, the mPTP remains closed because of cytosolic acidification since protons are mPTP inhibitors (Ong et al., 2015). By contrast, opening of the mPTP is strongly potentiated during reperfusion after an ischemic episode. During reperfusion, the reintroduction of oxygen has a deleterious effect, resulting in a burst of reactive oxygen species (ROS) production (Di Lisa et al., 2001; Hausenloy, Duchen & Yellon, 2003; Gonzalez-Montero et al., 2018). ROS potentiate mPTP opening, and this can result in cardiac cell death and cardiac dysfunction. mPTP opening after episodes of ischemia/reperfusion was also observed in the brain (Halestrap, 2006). Inhibition of mPTP opening has been suggested as a neuroprotective strategy to prevent cerebral ischemia-reperfusion injuries (Leger et al., 2011; Rekuviene et al., 2017; Matsumoto et al., 2018). The mPTP is also associated with metabolic diseases, including insulin-resistance or diabetes: Taddeo et al. (2014) demonstrated that mPTP opening is required for induction of insulin resistance in skeletal muscle. Work performed in animal models demonstrated how the mPT is induced in diabetic conditions, which may contribute to complications including diabetic cardiomyopathy or hyperglycemia (Oliveira et al., 2003; Lumini-Oliveira et al., 2011; Taddeo et al., 2014; Riojas-Hernandez et al., 2015). As another example, accumulation of hydrophobic bile acids in hepatic cells during cholestasis induces apoptosis of hepatic cells through mPTP opening (Yerushalmi et al., 2001; Rolo, Palmeira & Wallace, 2003).

The opening of the mPTP may also be observed during drug-induced toxicity. For example, high doses of caffeine enhance the Ca²⁺-dependent cardiac mPT in isolated mitochondrial fractions (Sardao, Oliveira & Moreno, 2002), causing concern over the excessive consumption of high-energy drinks and dietary supplements with high doses of caffeine. Doxorubicin, a potent chemotherapeutic drug but with associated cardiotoxicity, decreases the threshold for mPTP opening in cardiac cells, impairing the contraction performance of the heart (Montaigne *et al.*, 2011), as demonstrated in rodent models (Oliveira *et al.*, 2004, 2005; Pereira *et al.*, 2011). The role of the mPTP in cell toxicity induced by xenobiotic compounds that cause oxidative stress and in different diseases has been extensively explored (Bernardo *et al.*, 2013; Carvalho *et al.*, 2018; Teixeira *et al.*, 2018). Due to the importance of the mPTP for mitochondrial function and, consequently, cellular performance, the dynamics and regulation of the mPT have been the subject of intensive research.

Although mPTP opening is often associated with disease conditions, there is evidence for a critical physiological role in its flickering or transient opening mode, especially in the heart (during cardiac development and in damage protection) (Hausenloy *et al.*, 2004; Korge *et al.*, 2011), brain (putative or indirect involvement in synaptic efficacy and plasticity) (Mnatsakanyan *et al.*, 2017), and in metabolic functions (Hom *et al.*, 2011).

II. THE mPTP AND MITOCHONDRIAL Ca²⁺ UPTAKE OR OVERLOAD

The cellular concentration of free Ca^{2+} regulates an array of biochemical reactions and is crucial for signal transduction (Rizzuto, Duchen & Pozzan, 2004; Elustondo et al., 2017; Herst et al., 2017; Krebs, 2017; Santulli, 2017; Giorgi et al., 2018a; Giorgi, Marchi & Pinton, 2018b; Del Re et al., 2019; Glaser et al., 2019; Hausenloy et al., 2020). Mitochondria are fundamental to cellular energy metabolism, supplying energy in the form of ATP and affecting cell physiology through the regulation of Ca²⁺ homeostasis (Picard, Wallace & Burelle, 2016; Krebs, 2017). Mitochondria have a large capacity to accumulate Ca^{2+} and can transiently store it, thus contributing to cell calcium homeostasis. Their ability to accumulate calcium for later release makes mitochondria essential cytosolic stores or buffers for Ca^{2+} in the context of cell physiology and pathophysiology (Dedkova & Blatter, 2008; Elustondo et al., 2017; Ludtmann & Abramov, 2018; Delierneux et al., 2020). Intramitochondrial free calcium plays a significant part in Ca²⁺ homeostasis in cells, also being important in cell survival and death (Bhosale et al., 2015; Picard et al., 2016; Santulli, 2017; Ludtmann & Abramov, 2018; Del Re et al., 2019). It has been demonstrated that a basal level of Ca^{2+} in the mitochondrial matrix is needed for correct mitochondrial functioning, while the pathophysiological role of Ca²⁺ overload, which occurs in a wide range of pathologies, still remains to be clarified (Burgoyne et al., 2012; Bertero & Maack, 2018; Ludtmann & Abramov, 2018).

(1) Mitochondrial calcium influx

Calcium accumulation in mitochondria was first described in the 1960s (Deluca & Engstrom, 1961). Since then, the role of Ca^{2+} in the regulation of mitochondrial bioenergetics and diverse cellular functions has been well established. Calcium

homeostasis in mitochondria is regulated by a complex system of mitochondrial Ca²⁺ influx and efflux mechanisms. This Ca²⁺ transport system in mitochondria comprises specific transporters in the IMM and OMM. To access the mitochondrial matrix, Ca²⁺ must first pass through the OMM. This membrane is permeable to ions, in particular to Ca^{2+} , and to small proteins, due to the presence of a large conductance channel - the voltage-dependent anion channel (VDAC) - which allows the exchange of molecules of molecular weight up to 1500 Da (Schein, Colombini & Finkelstein, 1976; Colombini & Mannella, 2012; Krebs, 2017; Becker & Wagner, 2018; Magri, Reina & de Pinto, 2018). The VDAC is responsible for Ca^{2+} transport from the cytoplasm into mitochondria, with its permeability controlled by ATP and other regulatory factors. Three different VDAC isoforms have been identified: VDAC1, VDAC2 and VDAC3 (Mertins, Psakis & Essen, 2014; Krebs, 2017; Ponnalagu & Singh, 2017). Although these isoforms share some structural and functional properties, they appear to perform different physiological roles (Cheng et al., 2003; De Pinto et al., 2010; Magri et al., 2018; Rostovtseva et al., 2020). While limited information is available regarding the functions of VDAC2 and VDAC3 in the Ca^{2+} -influx mechanism (De Pinto et al., 2010; Lemasters et al., 2012; Magri et al., 2018), VDAC1 has been the subject of detailed research. VDAC1 is highly expressed in most cells (Shoshan-Barmatz & Golan, 2012) and seems to be the most prevalent isoform involved in Ca²⁺ transport into the intermembrane mitochondrial space (Krebs, 2017).

Ca²⁺ transport through the IMM is regulated *via* several transporters. At present, three main mechanisms of Ca²⁺ influx through the IMM are proposed (Fig. 1): (i) an electrogenic mitochondrial Ca^{2+} uniporter (MCU), (*ii*) the rapid mode of Ca^{2+} uptake (RaM), and (*iii*) the mitochondrial rvanodine receptor (mRyR). Three main mechanisms of Ca²⁺ efflux through the IMM are also known: (i) a Na^+/Ca^{2+} exchanger (NCXm), (ii) a H⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger (HCXm), and (iii) the mPTP. The leucine zipper- EF-hand containing transmembrane protein (LETM1) was also proposed as a Ca²⁺-transport system. However, its role in mitochondrial Ca²⁺ influx and efflux through the IMM is still under discussion. Ca²⁺ transport across the IMM was initially thought to involve a single mechanism that was demonstrated to be highly sensitive to ruthenium red and lanthanides (Gunter & Pfeiffer, 1990). The molecular identity of this ruthenium- and lanthanide-sensitive Ca²⁺ transport was unclear for several decades until this transporter was identified as the MCU complex, following identification of the gene encoding the pore-forming subunit of the MCU (Baughman et al., 2011; De Stefani et al., 2011).

Currently, Ca^{2+} influx through the MCU multi-protein complex is the best-characterized pathway for mitochondrial Ca^{2+} uptake. It is driven by the large electrochemical gradient (mitochondrial membrane potential ~180 mV) for Ca^{2+} across the IMM (Elustondo *et al.*, 2017; Mishra *et al.*, 2017; Mammucari *et al.*, 2018; Belosludtsev *et al.*, 2019). It is now considered that this multi-protein MCU complex adapts to



Fig 1. Mitochondrial Ca^{2+} transport system. Ca^{2+} transport into mitochondria takes place through the outer mitochondrial membrane (OMM) *via* a large-conductance channel, the voltage-dependent anion channel (VDAC). For Ca^{2+} influx through the inner mitochondrial membrane (IMM), three main mechanisms are known: the mitochondrial Ca^{2+} uniporter (MCU), rapid mode of Ca^{2+} uptake (RaM), and the mitochondrial ryanodine receptor (mRyR). The MCU is a macromolecular complex composed of pore-forming and regulatory subunits: mitochondrial Ca^{2+} uniporter (MCU), MCU dominant negative beta subunit (MCUb), essential MCU regulator (EMRE), the family of mitochondrial Ca^{2+} uptake proteins (MICU1–3), mitochondrial Ca^{2+} uniporter regulator 1 (MCUR1), and SLC25A23. Ca^{2+} influx through the MCU multi-protein complex is driven by the large electrochemical gradient (mitochondrial membrane potential ~-180 mV) for Ca^{2+} across the IMM, generated by proton pumps (Complexes I, III and IV) of the electron transport chain. For Ca^{2+} efflux through the IMM, three main mechanisms are available: the Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger (NCXm), H⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger (HCXm) and the mitochondrial permeability transition pore (mPTP). The current proposal about the mPTP is based on the formation of ATP synthase dimers, in which the adenine nucleotide translocator (ANT) and Cyclophilin D (CypD) are likely regulators of the mPTP complex. The phosphate carrier (PiC) may also be a pore regulator, while the pro-apoptotic factors from mitochondria. The leucine zipper- EF-hand containing transmembrane protein (LETM1) was proposed as another Ca^{2+} -transport system. However, the role of LETM1 in mitochondrial Ca^{2+} influx and efflux through the IMM is still under discussion.

multiple states and is composed of several subunits, including transmembrane core components and membrane-associated regulatory subunits in the intermembrane space. Three proteins have been identified as core components of the MCU complex: the mitochondrial Ca^{2+} uniporter (MCU), the MCU dominant negative beta subunit (MCUb), and the essential MCU regulator (EMRE) (Raffaello *et al.*, 2013; Sancak *et al.*, 2013; Mishra *et al.*, 2017; Mammucari *et al.*, 2018; Cui *et al.*, 2019; Wang, Baradaran & Long, 2020*a*). The MCU gene (previously known as *CCDC109a*; 40 kDa protein) was identified through bioinformatics screening of the MitoCarta database, a compendium of mitochondrial proteins identified by mass spectrometry analyses on mitochondrial preparations from different mouse

tissues (Baughman et al., 2011; De Stefani et al., 2011; Mammucari et al., 2018). The MCUb gene (*CCDC109b*; 33 kDa protein) was identified through an MCU sequence homology screening (Raffaello et al., 2013), and the incorporation of MCUb into the MCU complex has also been demonstrated by proteomic experiments (Sancak et al., 2013). EMRE (*C220RF32*; 10 kDa protein) was the last identified component of the MCU pore complex (Sancak et al., 2013) and is essential for MCU activity, as demonstrated by experiments in EMRE knockout cells (Patron et al., 2014). EMRE has been proposed to play a fundamental role in interactions between the pore core subunits and the regulatory subunits (Sancak et al., 2013; Mammucari et al., 2018).

The family of mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uptake proteins (MICU 1-3), mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uniporter regulator 1 (MCUR1), and SLC25A23 are now considered the main membraneassociated regulatory subunits of the MCU multi-protein complex (Hoffman et al., 2014; Patron et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2014; Mishra et al., 2017; Marchi et al., 2019; Vais et al., 2020). MICU1 (CBARA1/EFHA3; 54 kDa protein) is a soluble (or membrane-associated) protein in the intermembrane space. It is proposed to be pivotal in both gatekeeping and cooperative activation of MCU; keeping the channel closed under resting conditions (Csordas et al., 2013; Patron et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2014; Foskett, 2020). Other isoforms of the MICU family of proteins - MICU2 (known as EFHA1) and MICU3 (known as EFHA2) - are also identified as regulatory subunits of the MCU multi-protein complex, and display EF-hand domains in their protein structure, but share only 25% sequence identity with MICU1 (Plovanich et al., 2013). However, the location of MICU proteins and the nature of MICU-dependent regulation are still controversial (Vais et al., 2020; Wu et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2020b). The diverse functions of MICU family proteins maintain normal mitochondrial Ca²⁺ levels under resting conditions and enable prompt activation of the MCU to mediate rapid mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uptake (Cui et al., 2019).

MCUR1 (*CCDC904*; 40 kDa protein), which consists of two transmembrane domains and one coiled-coil region, was also demonstrated to be a regulatory component of the MCU complex (Mallilankaraman *et al.*, 2012). More recently, it was shown that MCUR1 binds to the MCU pore and EMRE through their coiled-coil domains that stabilize the MCU complex (Tomar *et al.*, 2016).

SLC25A23, which belongs to a family of Mg-ATP/Pi solute carriers, was also proposed as an essential component of the MCU complex (Bassi *et al.*, 2005; Hoffman *et al.*, 2014; Krebs, 2017). A mutation of the EF-hand domain of SLC25A23 reduces mitochondrial Ca^{2+} accumulation, but whether this depends on direct MCU activity regulation or whether it affects mitochondrial bioenergetics or mitochondrial Ca^{2+} buffering capacity is still debated (Bassi *et al.*, 2005; Rueda *et al.*, 2015; Mammucari *et al.*, 2018). In addition to the MCU, there are other mitochondrial Ca^{2+} influx mechanisms, including the mRyR, RaM, and LETM1, which all have unique biophysical properties that differ from those of the MCU (Gunter & Gunter, 2001; Beutner *et al.*, 2005; Jiang, Zhao & Clapham, 2009; Elustondo *et al.*, 2017; Krebs, 2017; Mammucari *et al.*, 2018).

mRyR is the largest known ion channel (about >2 MDa), localized in the IMM, and can function as an alternative mechanism for mitochondrial Ca^{2+} uptake, especially in the mitochondria of cardiac and neuronal cells (Beutner *et al.*, 2001, 2005; Jakob *et al.*, 2014). Three different subtypes of RyR isoforms (RyR1, RyR2, and RyR3) with different pharmacological properties and tissue-specific expression have been described. RyR1, the primary isoform in skeletal muscle, was identified in the IMM of isolated heart mitochondria through [³H]ryanodine binding, immunogold labelling and Western blot techniques. It is thought to mediate ryanodine-sensitive, rapid mitochondrial Ca^{2+} transport and is believed to play a central role in mitochondrial Ca^{2+} uptake (Beutner *et al.*, 2001, 2005). RyR2 is mostly present in cardiac muscle cells (Bhat *et al.*, 1999), while RyR3 is widely expressed in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) of different vertebrate tissues (Giannini *et al.*, 1995) and may be co-expressed with RyR1 and RyR2. There are suggestions that under certain situations (e.g. mitochondrial Ca^{2+} overload), mRyR channels may also mediate Ca^{2+} efflux (Ryu *et al.*, 2010).

In isolated heart mitochondria, RaM has been described as an additional mechanism for Ca²⁺ transport, capable of sequestering significant amounts of Ca²⁺ hundreds of times faster than the MCU (Gunter & Gunter, 2001). RaM is activated only transiently, facilitates rapid sequestration of Ca^{2+} by mitochondria at the beginning of each cytosolic Ca²⁺ pulse, and rapidly recovers between pulses, allowing mitochondria to respond to repeated Ca²⁺ transients (Sparagna et al., 1995). Compared with the MCU, this transporter is activated at much lower Ca^{2+} concentrations (-50 to 100 nM versus >500 nM) (Sparagna et al., 1995). However, a protein responsible for this rapid mode of Ca²⁺ uptake has not been identified, although it has been speculated that the RaM comprises a substate of MCU operation since both are inhibited by ruthenium red and RaM activity does not appear to be present in MCU-knockout mitochondria (Baughman et al., 2011; De Stefani et al., 2011).

LETM1 was initially identified as a K^+/H^+ exchanger; however, it was later reported as a Ca^{2+}/H^+ antiporter, localized to the IMM (Jiang et al., 2009). LETM1 transports Ca²⁺ bidirectionally across the inner membrane, depending on the pH gradient, and is inhibited by ruthenium red (Jiang et al., 2009). However, further studies are needed to characterize its role in Ca²⁺ transport, as well as its sensitivity to ruthenium red, given recent demonstrations in which LETM1 protein was reconstituted in liposomes and was demonstrated to be a ruthenium red-insensitive electroneutral $Ca^{2+}/2H^+$ antiporter (Tsai *et al.*, 2014). Other studies have reinforced the role of LETM1 in K⁺ homeostasis and suggested that it functions as an electroneutral H^+/K^+ exchanger (Nowikovsky & Bernardi, 2014). This hypothesis was supported by results showing that LETM1 was not responsible for efflux of Ca²⁺ from the mitochondria (De Marchi *et al.*, 2014b). There are some suggestions that the role of LETM1 could change according to specific conditions (O-Uchi, Pan & Sheu, 2012; Austin & Nowikovsky, 2019).

(2) Mitochondrial calcium efflux

While the biochemical characteristics and physiological functions of the mitochondrial systems for Ca^{2+} influx have been widely studied, understanding the molecular nature and properties of mitochondrial Ca^{2+} efflux systems has just begun, although functional characterization of this system began in the 1970s (Carafoli *et al.*, 1974). Currently, two separate mechanisms have been proposed to account for Ca^{2+} extrusion from the mitochondrial matrix: Na⁺-dependent (NCXm) and Na⁺-independent (HCXm).

In most cells, the main mechanism of Ca^{2+} extrusion from mitochondria is the NCXm. Although Na⁺-dependent Ca²⁺ efflux from mitochondria was first discovered in isolated rat heart mitochondria and was described as the mitochondrial Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger years ago (Carafoli et al., 1974), its molecular identity was also only recently resolved (Palty et al., 2010). It appears to extrude Ca^{2+} from the mitochondrial matrix to the intermembrane space and, more specifically, to constitute a Na⁺/Ca²⁺/Li⁺ exchanger in the IMM (Palty et al., 2010; Palty, Hershfinkel & Sekler, 2012). This Na⁺-dependent Ca²⁺ exchange activity is benzodiazepine and CGP-37157 sensitive and is found in a wide variety of tissues. Although it is dominant in the heart, brain, skeletal muscle, parotid gland, adrenal cortex, and brown fat (Gunter et al., 2004; Takeuchi, Kim & Matsuoka, 2015), it is also present in liver, kidney, and lung mitochondria, although its activity there is lower (Haworth, Hunter & Berkoff, 1980). The NCXm is active primarily in excitable cells and, in contrast to the plasma membrane Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger, it uniquely has the ability additionally to transport Li⁺ ions (Carafoli et al., 1974; Palty et al., 2004). The stoichiometry (ion-exchange ratio) and the electrogenicity of the NCXm were controversial, but it was believed to be electroneutral (Affolter & Carafoli, 1980; Wingrove & Gunter, 1986b). The use of permeabilized rat ventricular myocytes demonstrated that the NCXm is voltagedependent and electrogenic, suggesting a stoichiometry higher than 3Na⁺ for one Ca²⁺ (Kim & Matsuoka, 2008). This stoichiometry and the electrogenic nature of the NCXm were proved recently using the whole-mitoplast patch-clamp technique (Islam, Takeuchi & Matsuoka, 2020). Detailed mechanisms of the regulation of NCXm activity and sensitivity to effectors have not vet been clarified, but some studies demonstrate its regulation by a stomatin-like protein 2 (Da Cruz et al., 2010) and the mitochondrial phosphatase and tensin homolog deleted on chromosome 10 (PTEN)induced kinase 1 (PINK1) (Gandhi et al., 2009).

In the tissues with low NCXm activity (e.g. the liver, kidney, lung, and smooth muscle; Takeuchi *et al.*, 2015), the HCXm has a dominant effect on the release of Ca^{2+} from mitochondria (Gunter & Pfeiffer, 1990). The molecular identity of the HCXm is still debated, but most likely its activity is electroneutral with a stoichiometry 2H⁺ for one Ca^{2+} (Gunter, Zuscik & Gunter, 1991). Studies of HCXm activity in rat isolated liver mitochondria demonstrated that the rate of efflux *via* the HCXm decreases with increasing pH gradient and suggest that this mechanism is an active rather than passive Ca^{2+} for 2H⁺ exchanger (Gunter *et al.*, 1991).

LETM1 is considered an additional and/or alternative mechanism of Ca^{2+} efflux from mitochondria (Nowikovsky *et al.*, 2012; Takeuchi *et al.*, 2015; Krebs, 2017; Austin & Nowikovsky, 2019). Ca^{2+} transport through the IMM could be mediated by LETM1, since this protein functions as a Ca^{2+}/H^+ antiporter under certain conditions (Mailloux &

Harper, 2011). Studies using digitonin-permeabilized S2 or 293 cells expressing the mitochondrial Ca²⁺-sensor protein pericam, and purified protein reconstituted in liposomes, showed that LETM1 mediates H^+/Ca^{2+} exchange (Jiang *et al.*, 2009). Later work using reconstituted proteoliposomes reported that LETM1 mediates electroneutral $2H^+/Ca^{2+}$ antiport, which is insensitive to ruthenium red (Tsai *et al.*, 2014). Further studies focused on intracellular-store-dependent Ca²⁺ dynamics provided evidence that LETM1 acts as a $2H^+/Ca^{2+}$ exchanger (Huang *et al.*, 2017). Combined with a theoretical analysis (Nowikovsky *et al.*, 2012), this lends credibility to the role of LETM1 as an important Ca²⁺ efflux mechanism.

Another important mechanism for Ca^{2+} release from mitochondria is suggested as the transiently open form of the mPTP. Under pathophysiological conditions, in which this high-conductance non-specific pore opens, it may function as a Ca^{2+} -efflux system (Takeuchi *et al.*, 2015; Biasutto *et al.*, 2016; Hurst, Hoek & Sheu, 2017; Britti *et al.*, 2018; Briston *et al.*, 2019). Opening of the mPTP is directly regulated by the concentration of free calcium, is triggered by Ca^{2+} overload, and enables rapid Ca^{2+} efflux (Hurst *et al.*, 2017). Detailed information regarding the function of the mPTP in Ca^{2+} transport is provided in Section VII.

It is important to note that the localization of mitochondria within the cell is a crucial factor for mitochondrial Ca^{2+} uptake. It is now well accepted that the location of mitochondria in proximity to the plasma membrane or the ER/sarcoplasmic reticulum (SR) is essential in modulating a variety of cellular functions, as well as in Ca²⁺ transport to subcellular structures, in particular to mitochondria (Rowland & Voeltz, 2012; van Vliet, Verfaillie & Agostinis, 2014; Stefan, 2018; Silva et al., 2020). These interactions between mitochondria and the ER/SR have been described as physiologically and pathophysiologically significant for Ca²⁺ crosstalk between mitochondria and other cellular and subcellular structures (Giacomello et al., 2010; Rowland & Voeltz, 2012; van Vliet et al., 2014; Takeuchi et al., 2015; Rieusset, 2018; Yousuf et al., 2020). During Ca^{2+} movement through the plasma membrane or its release from the ER/SR, these interactions promote Ca^{2+} influx to neighbouring mitochondria, determining the particular properties of Ca²⁺ transport into these organelles (Lawrie, Zolle & Simpson, 1997; Park et al., 2001; Giacomello et al., 2010). There is some evidence of Ca^{2+} channelling through plasma membrane Ca²⁺ channels to nearby mitochondria, as well as in the opposite direction (Korzeniowski et al., 2009). Mitochondria-ER/SR communication is also reported as an essential regulatory factor in a variety of cellular processes, including Ca²⁺ signalling, lipid biosynthesis, and mitochondrial division (Friedman et al., 2011; Rieusset, 2018; Granatiero et al., 2019; Namgaladze, Khodzhaeva & Brune, 2019). It is now clear that bidirectional Ca²⁺ crosstalk between both mitochondria and the plasma membrane and mitochondria and the ER/SR is crucial for regulating a wide range of cellular functions.

(3) Ca²⁺ induces mitochondrial swelling

Hunter, Haworth & Southard (1976) first introduced the concept of Ca^{2+} -induced mitochondrial swelling. In a series of seminal experiments performed on isolated beef heart mitochondria, the authors observed that when low levels of Ca^{2+} were added, mitochondria underwent a configurational transition from a shrunken matrix with large intracristal spaces to a swollen matrix with decreased intracristal spaces (Fig. 2). Mitochondria were described to transition from an aggregated to an orthodox configuration in this process. Using electron microscopy, it was concluded that for each time point post- Ca^{2+} addition, the mitochondrial population was heterogeneous with only the two different configurations present. The authors argued that the transition sequence for each mitochondrion consisted of a lag phase in the aggregated form followed by a sudden transformation to the orthodox form.

To assess the correlation between this configurational change and membrane permeability, Hunter *et al.* (1976) measured the permeability of mitochondrial membranes of isolated beef heart mitochondria to $[^{14}C]$ sucrose in the presence of Ca²⁺. In samples taken at the same time points as those used for electron microscopy imaging, it was observed that permeability to $[^{14}C]$ sucrose increased simultaneously with the decrease in the number of aggregated mitochondria. This important result made it clear that Ca²⁺ increased the permeability of mitochondria to $[^{14}C]$ sucrose. Importantly, the swelling that follows the addition of Ca²⁺ was caused by mitochondrial osmotic water influx that accompanies sucrose entry into the matrix space (Hunter *et al.*, 1976).

Further experiments addressed the effect of IMM permeability on mitochondrial respiratory activity. The uncoupler respiratory control index (i.e. the magnitude of the respiration increase) was compared with configurational changes at several time points after the addition of Ca²⁺. This analysis showed that coupling in an individual mitochondrion follows an all-or-nothing law, precisely as for the configurational transition. However, experiments using hypotonically swollen mitochondria led to the conclusion that the changes in



Fig 2. Mitochondrial swelling as a classical hallmark of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore (mPTP) *in vitro*. The upper part of the figure shows mitochondrial swelling associated with mPTP when induced *in vitro*. Isolated mitochondrial fractions (e.g. from liver or heart) are normally suspended in a reaction buffer with sucrose or KCl as osmotic support (~200 mOsm), represented in the figure as orange hexagons. Mitochondrial membranes are particularly impermeable to sucrose and show regulated permeability to K⁺ and Cl⁻ ions. Upon opening of the mPTP (e.g. using a pro-oxidant agent in the presence of excess calcium), conformational alterations in inner mitochondrial membrane (IMM) proteins (in red) leads to the formation of the mPTP complex through which molecules under 1450 Da flow (including osmotic support molecules). Water follows by osmosis, leading to swelling of IMM and rupture of the outer mitochondrial membrane (OMM) due to the smaller surface area of the latter. The intra-cristal space also decreases. This effect leads to uncoupled mitochondrial respiration and mitochondrial depolarization, leading to calcium-induced calcium release. Mitochondrial swelling can be observed by following the pseudo-absorbance of the mitochondrial suspension at ~540 nm, the isosbestic point for mitochondrial cytochromes (the wavelength at which the total absorbance of the different cytochromes in mitochondria does not change during the event). The lower panel shows electron microscopy images of liver mitochondria before (left) and after (right) undergoing calcium-induced mPT. Images kindly provided by Drs. Sabine Schmitt and Hans Zischka, Helmholtz Center Munich, Germany.

coupling are caused by changes in the permeability of the IMM, rather than changes in configurational transition (Hunter *et al.*, 1976). This clarified previous misconceptions (Harman & Feigelson, 1952; Lehninger, 1962) that mitochondrial swelling by itself did not determine mitochondrial functioning. Hunter *et al.* (1976) also observed that the transition was reversible and that arsenate, phosphate, and fatty acids induced the phenomenon.

In later studies, light scattering was used to measure mitochondrial swelling, based on changes in pseudo-absorbance of a suspension of beef heart mitochondria (Hunter & Haworth, 1979*a*). This methodology, still used today for isolated mitochondrial fractions, enabled the authors to show that mitochondrial metabolites and small molecules and ions can counteract the Ca²⁺-induced membrane transition: endogenous NADH, ADP, and Mg²⁺ all prevented the mPT. The same effect could be achieved with mitochondrial energization (Hunter *et al.*, 1976). Following these pioneer discoveries, Haworth & Hunter (1979) then explored the mechanisms by which Ca²⁺ leads to mPT, and how its inhibitors could function.

One important observation was that mitochondria which had been previously subjected to Ca²⁺-induced mPT lost their endogenous protection. Also, the concentration of Ca²⁺ in the incubation medium was able to regulate the permeability of the IMM in a dose-dependent manner, as seen by measuring light scattering in suspensions titrated with different concentrations of Ca^{2+} . Together with the fact that the membrane transition needed no energy source (Hunter & Haworth, 1979a), this led to the conclusion that the physical binding of Ca^{2+} to units in the IMM could cause the mPT. An important observation was that each preventive agent showed a specific mode of action by which it counteracted the membrane transition. For example, Mg²⁺ was observed to inhibit the transition competitively. Hunter et al. (1976) had already proposed that Mg²⁺ could bind to 'trigger sites', but Ca²⁺, with an apparently higher affinity for those sites, could exclude Mg^{2+} and induce the transition. The effects of ADP and NADH were investigated in more detail later (Haworth et al., 1980). ADP and NADH have synergistic effects on inhibition of the Ca²⁺-induced transition in isolated mitochondria. ADP was thought to have an inner membrane binding site which, when bound to ADP, could significantly inhibit binding of Ca^{2+} to the trigger site and therefore inhibit the transition. The inhibition by NADH was observed to be reduced by NADPH (Haworth et al., 1980). Several cations were identified as competitive inhibitors of the modulating effects of Ca²⁺ (Hunter & Haworth, 1979*a*), including divalent cations, such as Sr^{2+} and Mn²⁺, and the monovalent cations, K⁺, Na⁺, and tetramethylammonium (TMA). The trivalent metal inhibitor La³⁺ ion exhibited competitive inhibition more potent than these mono and divalent cations. Protons (H⁺) were also a competive inhibitor, an observation that formed the basis for studies that eventually led to inhibition of the mPT by ischemia-induced cytosolic acidification (Qian et al., 1997). These observations suggested that the trigger site could be

involved in high-affinity Ca^{2+} uptake. However, Ca^{2+} induced transition progression was found to be ruthenium red insensitive. Because high-affinity Ca^{2+} uptake is sensitive to ruthenium red (Moore, 1971), Hunter & Haworth (1979*a*) assumed that another mitochondrial site, independent from those involved in high-affinity Ca^{2+} uptake, must be involved in the transition.

Hunter & Haworth (1979b) further investigated pathways for the release of Ca^{2+} that occurred during the transition. They concluded that Ca^{2+} release was due to the Ca^{2+} induced transition because: (i) agents that blocked the transition, such as Mg²⁺, ADP and bovine serum albumin (BSA). inhibited Ca^{2+} release under steady-state respiration; (ii) mitochondria that accumulated Sr²⁺, did not release it subsequently, indicating that the spontaneous release mechanism was selective for Ca^{2+} , similar to the transition itself; (*iii*) the use of light-scattering and electron microscopy to assess the configurational change during Ca²⁺ release showed that the transition to the orthodox state took place at the same time as Ca²⁺ release. Additional observations showed that the kinetics of Ca^{2+} release was similar to that of the transi-tion: measurement of $^{45}Ca^{2+}$ fluxes indicated that mitochondria release their entire pool of Ca^{2+} at the same time, following a lag phase without any release. The authors also investigated the release of Ca²⁺ induced by the addition of an uncoupler molecule that dissipated the transmembrane electric potential ($\Delta \Psi$) (Hunter & Haworth, 1979b), observing that as Ca²⁺ accumulated in mitochondria, so did the amount of Ca²⁺ released by addition of the uncoupler trifluoromethoxy carbonylcyanide phenylhydrazone (FCCP). Addition of FCCP also provoked a configurational change from the aggregated to the orthodox form, i.e. a permeability transition was observed. The percentage of mitochondria that underwent the transition was higher in populations with higher levels of Ca²⁺ accumulation. Again the pattern of uncoupler-induced Ca²⁺-dependent Ca²⁺ release was sudden and total and followed a lag phase of no release. In conditions where the NADH protective mechanism was lost, mitochondria were observed to transition to an orthodox conformation without the requirement for additional Ca^{2+} . and to release Ca²⁺ much faster than mitochondria that still possessed this protective mechanism, thus implying that Ca^{2+} release depended on the permeability transition.

In addition, Sr^{2+} release was dependent on Ca^{2+} accumulation and was ruthenium red insensitive, both characteristics of the transition. Supported by this evidence, the uncoupler-induced release of Ca^{2+} was concluded to be another consequence of the Ca^{2+} -induced transition, but dependent on the level of Ca^{2+} accumulated.

Hunter & Haworth (1979*b*) also explored whether the release of Ca^{2+} caused by Na⁺ was mediated by the Ca^{2+} -induced transition. Because no mitochondrial configurational changes upon addition of Na⁺ and consequent Ca^{2+} release were observed, it was concluded that not all release of Ca^{2+} from mitochondria depends on the mPT. Na⁺induced Ca^{2+} release was later shown to originate from a protein membrane exchanger (Wacquier *et al.*, 2017).

III. FROM THE INITIAL OBSERVATIONS TO THE COMPOSITION AND REGULATION OF THE PERMEABILITY TRANSITION: AN EVOLVING MODEL

Over the past three decades, our understanding of the structure of the mPTP has evolved; while we now know some of the modulators involved, precise details of the pore-forming parts, including their dynamics, remain elusive. Advances in technology have enabled a better understanding of the mPTP pore complex composition and assembly, and its regulation in intact cells and tissues. Early work (Raaflaub, 1953; Lehninger & Remmert, 1959; Lehninger, 1962) used gravimetric and optical methods to show that isolated liver mitochondria can take up water and thereby increase in volume. Later studies were based on measuring either light transmittance (transparency) or light scattering (opacity, turbidity) of mitochondrial suspensions. Interestingly, Lehninger (1959) also observed the reverse process, which he termed 'contraction', consisting of the extrusion of water from mitochondria, resulting in a decrease in mitochondrial volume manifested by increased turbidity (light scattering) of mitochondrial suspensions. The standard method used for isolated mitochondria is still the mitochondrial swelling assay, which records a decrease in absorbance at 520/540 nm that accompanies mitochondrial swelling, with Ca^{2+} administered to preparations at pH 7.4.

This mitochondrial swelling, subsequently studied by Azzi & Azzone (1965a), was termed 'large-amplitude swelling' as it eventually led to complete rupture of the OMM and the formation of IMM 'ghosts' of low light absorbance (Fig. 2). By contrast, 'low-amplitude swelling', first observed by Chance & Packer (1958) and studied by Azzi & Azzone (1965b), was fully reversible and exhibited variation in the energy and metabolic state of mitochondria. These low-amplitude changes in mitochondrial volume and structure could also be observed inside living cells (Hackenbrock et al., 1971). The term 'permeability transition' of the IMM was probably first used by Wingrove & Gunter (1986a). Large-amplitude and (most likely) lowamplitude mitochondrial swelling could be interpreted as resulting from an unspecific increase in permeability of the IMM to low molecular weight solutes. This increased permeability allowed the concentrations of low molecular weight compounds to equilibrate inside and outside the mitochondria, whereas concentrations of high molecular weight compounds, in particular, soluble intramitochondrial proteins, remained unchanged. This resulted in a higher osmotic pressure (so-called colloidal or oncotic pressure) inside mitochondria, resulting in the influx of water.

In contrast to mitochondrial swelling, mitochondrial contraction was assumed to be an active process (Lehninger, 1959). While the release of non-esterified fatty acids accompanied mitochondrial swelling, their contraction involved the reincorporation of these fatty acids into mitochondrial phospholipids as demonstrated using isotopically labelled [¹⁴C]oleate and glycerol 3-[³²P]phosphate (Wojtczak, Włodawer & Zborowski, 1963). These studies suggested that contraction was enabled by the removal of accumulated free fatty acids and the restoration of some lipid compounds indispensable for the normal low permeability of the inner membrane.

A systematic study using electron microscopy revealed that the swelling-related increase in mitochondrial matrix volume is accompanied by the rupture of the OMM (Wlodawer et al., 1966) (Fig. 2). By contrast ATP-induced contraction was reflected by matrix condensation, although this never led to the restoration of the original structure of the intact mitochondrion. Impermeability of the OMM to cytochrome c (Wojtczak & Zaluska, 1969; Wojtczak & Sottocasa, 1972) led to the development of an assay for its intactness in preparations of isolated mitochondria based on oxidation of externally added reduced cytochrome c (Wojtczak et al., 1972). The same protocol can be used to detect the release of cytochrome c from mitochondria that might occur during mitochondrial swelling. In living cells, release of cytochrome c to the cytosol accompanied by the rupture of the outer membrane (Vander Heiden et al., 1997; Petit et al., 1998) can be investigated with the use of antibodies against cytochrome c; however, this requires isolation of cytosolic fractions. It is also important to note that there are other possible ways in which cytochrome c can be released from mitochondria into the cytosol without swelling and rupture of the OMM (Wieckowski et al., 2001).

Experiments on isolated mitochondria were carried out in the late 1970s (Haworth & Hunter, 1979; Hunter & Haworth, 1979a,b (see Section II.3) in research into the molecular mechanisms underlying the mPTP, its regulation, and the biological function of this transition that employed the 'controlled' environment offered by isolated and deenergized organelles. Despite being artificially devoid of endogenous substrates, de-energized mitochondria preserve a permeability transition, allowing its analysis in a relatively variable-free environment. Methods applied to isolated mitochondria partly replaced previous methodologies using enzymatic reactions performed, for instance, on ashed preparations from rat heart that were often inaccurate and technically difficult (Slater & Cleland, 1953). Although the earlier methods allowed Ca²⁺-dependent mitochondrial swelling to be observed (Slater & Cleland, 1953), studies on isolated mitochondria enabled the demonstration of the sudden opening of a reversible permeability state of the IMM, termed the 'Ca²⁺-induced transition' (Hunter et al., 1976), and enhancement of that effect by increased concentrations of phosphates, arsenate and fatty acids (Hunter & Haworth, 1979a). The ability to add different substrates to mitochondrial preparations to identify their regulatory properties allowed exploration of the protective mechanisms against mPTP opening, such as Mg²⁺ which competes with Ca²⁺ for a shared binding site inside mitochondria. Thus, Ca²⁺ was established as the central positive modulator of the mPT (Azzi & Azzone, 1966; Hunter et al., 1976). Other protective mechanisms included the reduction status of mitochondrial NAD⁺, bongkrekic acid, and the energetic status of mitochondria (Hunter et al., 1976). This evidence was confirmed more recently when it was demonstrated that Ca²⁺-

dependent swelling was efficiently inhibited by bongkrekic acid administration, an ADP-based medium and by the immunosuppressant Cyclosporin A (Halestrap & Davidson, 1990). This work highlighted the usefulness of mitochondrial swelling to study this unselective pore's opening and highlighted a regulatory role for the adenine nucleotide translocator (ANT) and cyclophilin D (CypD), the molecular target of Cyclosporin A.

Critical to modern studies was the description of two ways by which a non-specific pore opens: one caused by low physiological Ca²⁺ concentrations involving a peptidylprolyl isomerase (PPi)-dependent mechanism that is insensitive to Cyclosporin A, and a second in response to higher Ca^{2+} concentrations and that is Cyclosporin A-sensitive (Davidson & Halestrap, 1987). These observations led to the proposal of a model of pore opening, based on the CypD-ANT protein interaction in the presence of Ca²⁺ overload (Halestrap & Davidson, 1990). In this model, by binding CypD, Cyclosporin A would promote its dissociation from the translocator and block the pore. The ability of ADP, ATP, and bongkrekic acid strongly to inhibit mPTP opening suggested that they also may bind the ANT carrier, reversing its conformation caused by Ca²⁺ addition. A combination of isolated mitochondrial preparations and patch-clamp techniques allowed monitoring of mPTP properties in response to ANT oligomers in artificial membranes (Brustovetsky & Klingenberg, 1996).

It was also suggested that the mPTP might result from structural and functional 'cooperation' between the IMM and OMM (Kottke *et al.*, 1988; McEnery *et al.*, 1992; Kinnally *et al.*, 1993). This view identified the contact sites between the two membranes as possible loci regulating not only the permeability but also the metabolic and energetic functions of mitochondria (Nicolay *et al.*, 1990; Bucheler, Adams & Brdiczka, 1991; Wieckowski, Brdiczka & Wojtczak, 2000). Arguments that the mPTP is located at the junction between the two membranes were based on observations that proteins supposedly participating in this pore came from both the OMM and IMM.

Early studies on isolated mitochondria identified putative proteinaceous channels between the IMM and OMM with ANT and VDAC as the core components of the mPTP (Fig. 3A), and a plethora of regulators, including the OMM 18-kDa peripheral benzodiazepine receptor (TSPO), glycogen synthase kinase 3β (GSK3 β), hexokinase II (HKII) and creatine kinase (CK) (Ong et al., 2014; Morciano et al., 2015; Tanaka et al., 2018). Although the VDAC enables the transport of most solutes across the IMM, the new era of genetic studies challenged this proposed pore structure (Baines et al., 2007), demonstrating that mitochondria isolated from VDAC-knockout (KO) mice still exhibited a Ca²⁺-dependent mPT very similar to that found in wild-type mitochondria. Similarly, cell death was unaltered in VDAC-KO cells. Gene inactivation studies using KO animal models confirmed the presence of a functional mPTP also in ANT-KO mice, thus excluding it as a pore-forming component of the mPTP (Kokoszka et al., 2004) and conferring to CypD

a more important modulatory role (Schinzel *et al.*, 2005; Hurst *et al.*, 2020). The recent innovative generation of a triple KO for ANT1, ANT2, and ANT4 has revisited the contribution of this translocator to the mPTP cascade; the progressive deletion of these isoforms led to equal decreases in sensitivity of the pore to opening (Karch *et al.*, 2019), implying that ANT, under favourable biochemical conditions and in a given tissue, may constitute an alternative to ATP synthase during mPTP formation.

CypD then remained the only protein whose involvement in the mPTP was uncontested: experiments performed with transgenic mice lacking the peptidylprolyl isomerase f (*Ppif*) gene confirmed that this protein is a key element of the mPTP that is responsible for its sensitivity to Cyclosporin A (Basso et al., 2005; Valasani et al., 2014, 2016; Lindblom et al., 2020; Torpey et al., 2020; Panel et al., 2021). However, it should be stressed that CvpD plays a regulatory role and is involved in the pore itself (Fayaz, Raj & not Krishnamurthy, 2015). The elucidation of the regulatory role of CypD in mPTP opening was facilitated by discovering that Cycloporin A (the gold-standard inhibitor of the mPTP) targeted this protein. To date, multiple investigations have shown that CypD inactivation (using genetic or pharmacological approaches) inhibits mPTP induction and cell death in several in vitro and in vivo models. Signalling events also can target CypD to regulate mPTP opening.

McEnery *et al.* (1992) investigated the interaction of TSPO with the ANT and VDAC proteins. At that time, studies on IMM–OMM contact sites were the focus of interest, and ligands of TSPO with nanomolar affinity and joined to VDAC/ANT proteins were shown to have mPTP-like channel activities, as recorded using the patch-clamp technique (Kinnally *et al.*, 1993). However, biochemical attempts to identify the mPTP core complex by conditional deletion assays led researchers to conclude that TSPO was dispensable in terms of mPTP regulation and hence does not participate in mPTP-dependent cell death (Sileikyte *et al.*, 2014).

It was proposed independently by two research teams (Alcala *et al.*, 2008; Leung, Varanyuwatana & Halestrap, 2008) that the phosphate carrier (PiC) could be a good candidate to form the core of the mPTP (Fig. 3B). The observed concentration-dependent inhibitory effect of n-ethylmaleimide (NEM), ubiquinone 0 (UQ0), and (spiro [cyclopentane-1,5'-[5H]dibenzo[a,d]cyclohep-ten]-

2-one,10',11'-dihydro-3-methylene (Ro 68-3400) on both the mPTP and PiC suggested that the PiC could act as a pore-forming component. This was reinforced by the fact that phosphates greatly enhanced mPTP opening, so it was believed that an additional protein of the IMM (such as the PiC) could represent the putative pore-forming part. Varanyuwatana & Halestrap (2012) subsequently questioned this concept by showing that a 70% or more decrease in expression of the PiC in HeLa cells did not affect mPTP opening. This was confirmed by other authors using KO models (Gutierrez-Aguilar *et al.*, 2014). Interestingly, the involvement of the PiC in the PTP could not be fully excluded because complete genetic deletion of this carrier in mouse



Fig 3. Different models for the composition and structure of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore (mPTP). (A) The initial model, in which the adenine nucleotide translocator (ANT) in the inner mitochondrial membrane was proposed to have a structural role, together with the outer mitochondrial membrane voltage-dependent anion channel (VDAC). The mPTP structure and opening is regulated by the matrix chaperone cyclophilin D (CypD), while hexokinase (HK) and the peripheral benzodiazepine receptor (PBR) also have regulatory roles through their interaction with the VDAC. (B) Knock-out experiments revealed that neither the VDAC or the ANT are indispensable for the mPTP complex. Instead, the phosphate transporter (PiC) was proposed as the mPTP main structural component, whose opening is regulated by the ANT and CyD. (C) Other proposals suggested that the mPTP is composed of, not one, but several possible entities comprising distinct proteins and which are converted into the mPTP through the binding of matrix chaperones. (D, E) The most recent proposal suggests that the structural component of the mPTP is ATP synthase dimers are the core of the mPTP complex (E). In both these models, the ANT and PiC, both components of the mitochondrial phosphorylative system, have a regulatory role. Regardless of the model proposed, there are common features, including a contribution of increased levels of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and increased [Ca²⁺] and of decreased [ATP] contributing to pore opening.

cardiac mitochondria desensitized the mPTP (Kwong *et al.*, 2014). The PiC was thus instead suggested to be a regulatory rather than a core component of the mPTP (Kwong *et al.*, 2014).

In another perspective, Karch et al. (2013) provided evidence for B-cell lymphoma-2 (Bcl-2)-associated X (Bax) and Bcl-2-antagonist/killer 1 (Bak) members of the Bcl-2 family as mPTP components; using transgenic animal models, they demonstrated that the absence of both proteins promoted resistance to mitochondrial swelling and resulted in the lack of channel activity, as evidenced by patch-clamp studies on mitoplasts (Karch et al., 2013). Thus, even though Bax and Bak play a structural role in the OMM part of the mPTP complex, an increase in solutes in the mitochondrial matrix also requires permeability of the IMM. This pore model suggested a subdivision between IMM- and OMM-pore formation, returning to previous concepts of IMM-OMM contact sites in mPTP assembly (Beutner et al., 1998). Despite solid data supporting the contact site model of the mPTP, another model of mPTP formation has been proposed (Kowaltowski, Castilho & Vercesi, 2001; He & Lemasters, 2002). This model suggests that the pore could be formed by misfolded mitochondrial proteins modified, among other agents, by oxidative damage and unconnected with the presence of a pre-existing inner membrane pore. It has been proposed that opening of such unregulated pores occurs when the number of amphipathic protein clusters exceeds the number of chaperones available to block their conductance (Fig. 3C).

Although Ca²⁺ overload is widely recognized as the primary inducer of the mPT, other positive regulators have been reported. Halestrap (1991) demonstrated that pH can act as an additional and precise regulator of the mPT in rat heart and liver mitochondria. mPTP opening is thought to be inhibited in an acidic matrix pH because of the displacement of Ca^{2+} at the trigger site by H⁺ ions (Halestrap, 1991). Atractyloside, a natural toxic glycoside, increases mPTP opening by modifying the conformational state of ANT, locking it in a cytoplasmic-side open conformation. ROS production and low mitochondrial membrane potential (MMP) are two other known inducers. Mitochondria are an important source of ROS (Giorgi et al., 2018c), and conditions that lead to increased oxidative stress in cells, such as reoxygenation following hypoxia, strongly sensitize mPTP opening and consequent cell demise (Assaly et al., 2012). Thus, it is a classical notion that the mPT is related to the redox state of mitochondria, including that of coenzyme Q (Kowaltowski, Castilho & Vercesi, 1995), and NADPH (Bernardes et al., 1994), with mitochondrial oxidative stress playing an important role even in de-energized mitochondria (Kowaltowski, Castilho & Vercesi, 1996; Vercesi *et al.*, 2018).

A unique role is also played by thiol groups of proteins localized in the IMM. Connern & Halestrap (1994) showed that exogenous administration of thiol oxidizing reagents to purified mitochondria preparations promoted key modifications in Cys56, Cys159 and Cys256 residues of the ADP/ATP translocator. In particular, Cys56 oxidation potentiated the binding of mitochondrial CypD with the IMM leading to pore opening (Connern & Halestrap, 1994). Cys56 and Cys159 are thought to be involved in antagonizing the inhibitory properties of ADP via the nucleotide-binding site on the ANT protein, as shown by adding phenylarsine oxide (PhAsO) to deenergized mitochondria, with its effect independent of CypD binding (Halestrap, Woodfield & Connern, 1997). All these effects were reversed in the presence of antioxidants (Kowaltowski et al., 2001; Vercesi et al., 2018). Further, evidence for mPTP inhibition in the presence of rotenone and the sensitivity of the mPT to inorganic phosphate (Pi) prompted the suggestion that NADH:ubiquinone oxidoreductase (Complex I) could also be implicated in the negative modulation of the mPTP, establishing a novel level of regulation. This was proposed to occur via conformational changes of Complex I affecting its interaction with the mPTP, in a manner that depends on the availability of Pi and CypD expression (Li et al., 2012).

The open conformations of the mPTP may assume a low or a high conductance. The ability to switch from a low to a high conductance was investigated by Ichas & Mazat (1998) who also reported that this transition became irreversible upon reaching the high-conductance state. Historically, physiological roles have been attributed to the lowconductance open conformation; indeed, mitochondrial functions are preserved while in the so-called 'flickering mode' that regulates cellular Ca²⁺ homeostasis (Gunter & Pfeiffer, 1990; Altschuld et al., 1992), with very limited diffusion of solutes through the IMM (cutoff <300 Da) and precise regulation by matrix pH changes and mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uptake (Ichas, Jouaville & Mazat, 1997). Conversely, when the mPTP switches to the high-conductance state, the consequences that are not compatible with cell life, including increased permeability of the IMM to solutes of 1500 Da, rupture of the OMM, and activation of the apoptotic cascade.

Our understanding of the processes leading to the association of ATP synthase (Complex V) with the mPTP (Fig. 3D, E) began with the discovery of regulatory analogies between these two complexes. Two mPTP inhibitors (ADP and Mg^{2+}) interact to block the hydrolytic activity of Complex V (Feniouk, Suzuki & Yoshida, 2006), while phosphates, known to be positive regulators of mPTP opening, reversed this state. In addition, the mPTP subunits ANT and PiC form a so-called ATP synthasome by interacting with ATP synthase (Ko *et al.*, 2003). Similarly, mitochondrial CypD, the target of the mPTP inhibitor Cyclosporin A, has been demonstrated to interact with the peripheral stalk of ATP synthase, the oligomycin-sensitivity-conferring protein (OSCP) (Giorgio *et al.*, 2009). This protein is able to modulate ATP synthase activity, causing it to decrease when mitochondrial CypD is anchored and to regulate mPTP opening (and cell death) *via* its C141 and H112 residues. These residues respectively affect the sensitivity of the pore to oxidation and its dependence on H^+ binding (Antoniel *et al.*, 2018; Carraro *et al.*, 2020).

In recent years, much effort has been made to identify putative component(s) of the IMM with channel properties. The c-subunit of Fo-ATP synthase, an IMM-resident protein, was identified as a key mPTP component with voltage-sensitive channel properties in its monomeric form and in the presence of both CypD binding and high Ca²⁺ concentrations (Alavian et al., 2014). Studies from three independent research groups confirm the knowledge that this csubunit plays a pivotal role in mPTP opening and link physio-pathological effects to its intracellular expression (Bonora et al., 2013) and phosphorylation status (Azarashvili et al., 2014). How the mPTP complex takes shape and which other proteins contribute to the structure of the pore-forming region remains elusive. Biochemical studies (Pavlov et al., 2005; Elustondo et al., 2016) reported the presence of higher numbers of c-subunits in mitochondria following induction of the mPT. This suggested the possibility that the c-subunit modifies interaction within F_1/F_0 -ATP synthase dimers. They described an essential role of complexes formed by the c-subunit-inorganic polyphosphate (polyP)-hydroxybutyrates (PHB) axis in the formation of a non-specific pore channel during Ca²⁺-induced stress. These results suggest that the c-subunit may form water-filled pores with polyP possibly serving as a hydrophilic coating of the pore, despite the F_1/F_0 -ATP being a hydrophobic protein. Further confirmation of the importance of the c-subunit in mPTP activity has been published recently (Neginskava et al., 2019).

Two separate hypotheses justify a contribution of ATP synthase to mPTP assembly and activity (Fig. 3D, E): first, dimerization of ATP synthase is essential for the generation of the pore opening (Giorgio et al., 2013) (Fig. 3E); second, ATP synthase monomers with a proper c-ring (the arrangement of c-subunits in the IMM) conformation constitutes the pore-forming part (Fig. 3D) (Bonora et al., 2017). However, currently both models present certain critical issues that remain to be addressed (Bauer & Murphy, 2020). Concerning the first model (Giorgio et al., 2013), there is irrefutable proof of the involvement of ATP synthase dimers (and oligomers) in beneficial bioenergetic functions of mitochondria, partially due to their role in ensuring the correct curvature of the IMM (Daum et al., 2013), thus dimers of ATP synthase are unlikely also to be a mediator of Ca2+-dependent cell death. For the second hypothesis, a structural model by which a non-specific current occurs in the c-ring is still needed. The controversial nature of the mPTP was highlighted by two recent publications in which KO experiments showed that the c-subunit and the peripheral stalk subunit of ATP synthase are not required for mPT opening (He et al., 2017a,b). However, electrophysiological analysis

of isolated mitoplast KOs for the c-subunit demonstrated that, in their absence, the current recorded differed from that expected for mPTP. Indeed, the c-subunit-KO cells did exhibit a Ca²⁺-inducible current, which could be inhibited by Cyclosporin A, but this was much lower than in wild-type cells (0.3 nS versus 1.3 nS). Moreover, the data suggest that, in c-subunit-KO cells, a second current could be generated by ANT (Neginskaya et al., 2019). These findings thus confirm the key role of the c-subunit in mPTP activity. In another study, fully reconstituted active ATP synthase in liposomes was responsive to Ca²⁺, converting dimers, but not monomers, into a channel. Interestingly, the activity was sensitive to adenine nucleotides, but not to ligands of ANT or VDAC (Urbani et al., 2019). Recent decades of research have led to the discovery of a large number of inhibitors (Morciano et al., 2018) and inducers of the mPT (see Fig. 4).

IV. UNDERSTANDING THE mPTP WITH THE USE OF ELECTROPHYSIOLOGICAL STUDIES

Important information about the mPTP structure and functioning has been obtained using the patch-clamp technique. To record channel activity of the IMM using this technique, it is necessary to remove the OMM and to create singlemembrane mitoplasts. Two methods can be used to achieve this: the French press (Decker & Greenawalt, 1977) or osmotic swelling (Gupte *et al.*, 1984).

The first patch-clamp recordings of mitochondrial chanactivity from the IMM (Sorgato, Keller nel & Stuhmer, 1987) led to the description of a single, slightly anion-selective channel of 107 pS conductance in 150 mM KCl. A 350 pS channel attributed to the OMM was also observed (Sorgato et al., 1987). Subsequently, a study on liver mitochondria (Kinnally, Campo mouse & Tedeschi, 1989) reported a variety of conductances of 10-20, 45, 80, 120–150, 200, 350, and 1000 pS, with the latter uncharacterized due to its rarity. A parallel study on rat liver mitochondria (Petronilli, Szabo & Zoratti, 1989) observed a similarly large-conductance activity of about 1.3 nS. This activity exhibited a flickering nature, and its main subconductance state was around 0.63 nS at +20 mV. However, a range of other subconductance levels was observed at different voltages, for instance, at +30 mV subconductances were 450, 350, 860 pS while at -40 mV they were 650, 450, 1000 pS. This study was carried out in 150 mM KCl with 0.1 mM CaCl₂, while Kinnally et al. (1989) employed no addition of CaCl₂. A follow-up study (Szabo & Zoratti, 1991) found that this large-conductance activity characterized by multiple subconductance states, for which they coined the term 'mitochondrial megachannel' (MMC), was inhibited by 100-200 nM Cyclosporin A, a known inhibitor of the mPTP (Broekemeier, Dempsey & Pfeiffer, 1989). The kinetic features of the single-channel events supported the idea that the MMC is composed of cooperating subunits. Further properties of the MMC were

characterized in a subsequent study, showing that the MMC was non-selective, activated by Ca^{2+} , and inhibited by Mg²⁺, Cyclosporin A, and ADP, probably acting at matrix-facing sites (Szabo & Zoratti, 1992). It then was shown that Mg²⁺, Mn²⁺, Ba²⁺, and Sr²⁺ and Cyclosporin A act as competitive inhibitors for Ca²⁺ (Szabo, Bernardi & Zoratti, 1992), and that the MMC is regulated by pH in the physiological range. Lower pH values caused MMC closure in a Ca²⁺-reversible manner. For example, MMC activity that was blocked by pH 6.5 in the presence of 0.5 mM Ca^{2+} could be reinstated by 1.2 mM Ca^{2+} . Patch-clamp experiments were carried out using a so-called 'inside-out' configuration in which the matrix side of the membrane patch is exposed to the medium. Together, these patchclamp results led to the conclusion that the modulating sites involved in these effects are located on the matrix side of the IMM. Bernardi et al. (1992) provided evidence that the Ca²⁺-induced mPT is affected by the above agents, supporting the identification of the MMC as responsible for mPT. This pharmacological characterization of the MMC/PTP was set aside in subsequent studies in which the voltage dependence of the megachannel was re-investigated (Szabo & Zoratti, 1993). It was noted that the closed state(s) of the MMC was favoured at negative (physiological) transmembrane potentials. MMC conductance was 4.35 nS in symmetrical 0.5 M KCl with gating events involving a flickering half-size conductance (2.2 nS), which corresponded to that of the fully open VDAC in these conditions (Szabo, de Pinto & Zoratti, 1993). This led to the proposal that the MMC consisted of two cooperating porin (VDAC) molecules. Beutner et al. (1996) then characterized high molecular weight complexes isolated by Triton X-100 extraction from rat brain homogenate. These complexes were tested with specific antibodies and contained hexokinase, creatine kinase, VDAC, and ANT. After incorporating artificial bilavers, channel activity of 6 nS in 1 M KCl with an asymmetrical voltage dependence was recorded.

A claim that ANT was responsible for the mPTP was made a couple of years earlier (Tikhonova et al., 1994). In their studies, purified ANT was incorporated into liposomes and fused into black lipid membranes (BLM) in the presence of 800 mM urea. Channel activity was induced by mersalyl. They observed a range of conductances from 200 pS to 2.2 nS in 180 Na₂SO₄, 20 mM 2-(N-morpholino)ethanesulfonic acid (MES)-NaOH, pH 7.0, in the presence of 3 mM Mg²⁺. Involvement of ANT in MMC activity was also proposed in other studies (Brustovetsky & Klingenberg, 1996; Brustovetsky et al., 2002). Brustovetsky & Klingenberg (1996) used bovine heart ANT, purified and reconstituted into giant membrane vesicles. Large conductance channels of 300-600 pS [in buffer containing 100 mM KCl, 2 mM MgCl₂, 1 mM CaCl₂, 4 mM potassium gluconate, 5 mM MES, and 5 mM trisaminomethane (Tris) at pH 7.2] were observed. These channels exhibited low cation selectivity $(PK^+/PCl^- = 4.3 \pm 0.6)$, were activated by Ca²⁺ (1 mM), inhibited by protons (pH 5.2), and by a combination of bongkrekate and ADP. Channel closing was induced at

mPTP inhibitors

▲ Mg ²⁺	
• nu	
T ph	
$\mathbf{\uparrow} \Delta \Psi_{mt}$	
ADP	
АТР	
UTP	
Antamanide	
AntiOXBen3	
Bendavia peptide	
Bongkrekic acid	
Carvedilol	
Cinnamic anilides	
CO donors (e.g. transition metal carbonyls)	
Creatine	
Cyclocreatine	
Cyclosporin A and analogues	
6-MeAla-cyclosporin A	
N-methyl-4-isoleucine-cyclosporin A (NIVI811)	
N-methyl-4-valine-cyclosporin A	
mitochondrially targeted CsA	
Dexpramipexole	
Diarylisoxazole-3-carboxamides	
DIDS	
Ginsenoside Rd	
GNX-4728	
H ₂ S donors (e.g. NaHS)	
Isoproterenol + adenosine	
JM-20	
König polyanion	
Latrepirdine (dimebon)	
Levosimendan	
Minocycline or doxycycline	
MitoQ	
NADH	
NADPH	
No donors (e.g. S-nitroso-N-acetyipeniciliamine (SNAP))	
Oligomicyn	
Riperine and ninerlonguminine	
Sanglifehrin A	
Securinine derivatives (e.g. allomargaritarine)	
SfA	
Small-molecules c subunit inhibitors	
Tanshinone IIA	
TMD#7538	
TRO40303	

mPTP inducers

↑ Ca ²⁺
↓ рН
$\checkmark \Delta \Psi_{mt}$
P _i
stress $\begin{cases} O_2^{\bullet} \\ \text{oxidized thiols} \\ \text{peroxided lipids} \end{cases}$
ABT-737
Atractyloside
AUL-12
B4G2
Berberine
Betulinic acid
Chenodeoxycholate
Curcumin
Ebselen
EM20-25
Glucose-6-phosphate
Icaritin
Ionidamine
Long chain fatty acids - (e.g. palmitate)
PK11195
Salinomycin
Ursolic acid

 $\label{eq:Fig4.Mitochondrial permeability pore direct and indirect regulators (inducers and inhibitors). ABT-737, 4-[4-[[2-(4-chlorophenyl]) phenyl]methyl]piperazin-1-yl]-N-[4-[[(2R)-4-(dimethylamino)-1-phenylsulfanylbutan-2-yl]amino]-3-nitrophenyl]$

sulfonylbenzamide; AntiOXBen 3, 5–(6-(3,4,5-trihydroxybenzamido)hexylamino) carbonylpentyl]triphenylphosphonium bromide; AUL-12, AuIIIBr2(ethylsarcosinedithiocarbamate); B4G2, 23-hydroxybetulinic acid derivative; CO donors, e.g. transition metal carbonyls; CsA, Cyclosporin A; DIDS 4,4'-diisothiocyanatostilbene-2,2'-disulfonic acid; EM20-25, 5-(6-chloro-2,4-dioxo-1,3,4,10-tetrahydro-2H-9-oxa-1,3-diaza-anthracen-10-yl)-pyrimidine-2,4,6-trione; Ginsenoside Rd, 2-O-β-D-glucopyranosyl-(3β,12β)-20-(β-D-glucopyranosyloxy)-12-hydroxydammara-24-en-3-yl-β-D-glucopyranoside; GNX-4728, substituted cinnamic *(Figure legend continues on next page.)* extreme voltages. In a follow-up study, recombinant ADP/ATP carrier (rAAC) from *Neurospora crassa* was expressed in *Escherichia coli* (Brustovetsky *et al.*, 2002). Purified rAAC was reconstituted and its activity recorded by patchclamp. Its behaviour was similar to that observed for ANT from bovine heart. In addition, it was shown that cyclophilin isolated from *Neurospora crassa* suppressed channel gating, thus increasing channel open probability, while Cyclosporin A abolished the cyclophilin effect. When ADP was applied to cyclophilin-activated channels it induced flickering of the channel, effectively decreasing channel open probability. By contrast, channel gating was diminished by the pro-oxidant tert-butyl hydroperoxide (Brustovetsky *et al.*, 2002).

Although attempts to characterize the mPTP by means of various assays, such as mitochondrial swelling or mitochondrial Ca²⁺ accumulation were carried out at this time, only a few electrophysiological studies on the MMC were published. In one such study it was observed in patch-clamp experiments with rat liver mitochondria that ubiquinone 0 and decylubiquinone inhibited the activity of the MMC, in line with earlier observations for the mPTP (Fontaine, Ichas & Bernardi, 1998). Inhibition by these compounds was reversed by increasing $[Ca^{2+}]$, a similar behaviour to that observed for several other MMC inhibitors. Classical MMC activity was observed in human hepatoma HepG2 cells. This channel had a high conductance of 1.23 nS (in 150 KCl), and frequently occupied a 640 pS subconductance level; it was active at high (1 mM) and closed at low $(1 \mu M)$ Ca²⁺ and was inhibited by 10 μM Cyclosporin A (Loupatatzis et al., 2002). Biochemical studies suggested that Bax cooperates with ANT in apoptotic events and thus was likely to be a component of the mPTP (Marzo et al., 1998). However, other work (Campello et al., 2005) showed that the activity of the MMC does not require Bax. In this study, using the human HCT116 cancer cell line, the MMC was found in 10–20% of patches from both Bax⁺ and Bax⁻ cells, indicating that the mPTP was independent of the presence of Bax. MMC activity was recorded in 150 mM KCl, 0.5 mM CaCl₂, 1 mM Pi, 20 mM 4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid (Hepes), pH 7.35, and under these conditions had a conductance of about 1 nS (range 0.9-1.3 nS) with a hallmark flickering substate of about half this size. Weakly anionic or no selectivity (PCI^{-/} $PK^+ = 1.8$) for the high conductance state, and slight cationic selectivity $(PK^+/PCI^- = 2.8)$ for the low conductance state was observed.

It was known that Cyclosporin A binds CypD, as described above. However, it was not clear whether CypD was a component of the pore itself. To solve this question, MMC channel properties from liver mitochondria from wild-type and CypD-deleted mice were compared in detail (De Marchi *et al.*, 2006). The pores observed in the two cases were indistinguishable, with the only clear difference being their sensitivity to Cyclosporin A. It was therefore concluded that CypD is a modulatory component of the PTP but is not part of the MMC pore (De Marchi *et al.*, 2006).

The work of Giorgio et al. (2013) proved that electrical mPTP activity was related to ATP synthase dimers. First, they identified the activity of monomers and dimers of ATP synthase after separation of mitochondrial proteins using blue native electrophoresis. Second, these gel-purified ATP synthase monomers or dimers, devoid of ANT, VDAC, and CypD, were incorporated into planar lipid bilayers made of purified soybean azolectin and channel activity was recorded. When the experimental medium contained 50 mM KCl, 1 mM Pi, and 0.3 mM Ca²⁺ no channel activity was observed when either monomer or dimer of ATP synthase were added. However, the addition of Bz-423, a proapoptotic agent (Boitano et al., 2003) that was previously shown to target ATP synthase (Johnson et al., 2005), elicited channel activity only when dimers but not monomers of ATP synthase were added to the bilayer. Bz-423 elicited similar activity in the presence of PhAsO, a sensitizer of the mPTP to Ca²⁺ (Krauskopf et al., 2006). This channel activity could be inhibited by γ -imino ATP (AMP-PNP), a nonhydrolyzable ATP analog, and by ADP in the presence of Mg^{2+} ions; ADP also exhibited a partial inhibitory effect when present alone. Channel activity was not inhibited by Cyclosporin A, in agreement with the absence of CypD in the preparation and the fact that ATP synthase dimer was extracted in the presence of 10 mM Pi, which sensitizes the mPTP even in the absence of CvpD. Channel opening was still observed in the presence of bongkrekic acid and could not be elicited by atractyloside, a selective inhibitor of ANT. These results have been further confirmed by recording the MMC activity using a highly purified preparation of bovine ATP synthase dimers (Urbani et al., 2019).

Further evidence for the role of ATP synthase dimers in the formation of the pore came from the planar bilayer recordings of blue native polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (BN-PAGE) purified yeast F_1/F_0 -ATP synthase (Carraro *et al.*, 2014). The ATP synthase dimers did not elicit currents unless Ca²⁺, PhAsO, and Cu(OP)₂ were added. Moreover, the channel activity was inhibited by Mg²⁺ + ADP as found for the mammalian ATP synthase dimer. The unitary conductance of the channels formed by ATP synthase dimers

(Figure legend continued from previous page.)

anilide; JM-20, 3-ethoxycarbonyl-2-methyl-4-(2-nitrophenyl)-4,11-dihydro-1H-pyrido[2,3-b][1,5]benzodiazepine; MitoQ, 10-(6'-ubiquinonyl)decyltriphenylphosphonium bromide; O_2^{-} , superoxide anion; Pi, inorganic phosphate; PK11195, 1-(2-chlorophenyl)-N-methyl-N-(1-methylpropyl)-3-isoquinolinecarboxamide; SfA, Sanglifehrin A; TMD#7538, N-phenethyl-6-phenyl-2, 3, 4, 9-tetrahydro-1H-carbazol-1-amine; TRO40303, 3,5-seco-4-nor-cholestan-5-one oxime-3-ol; $\Delta\Psi$, mitochondrial transmembrane potential.

ranged from 250 to 300 pS, and thus was lower than the conductance observed for the mammalian MMC. It should be noted that the dimer preparation did not contain translocase of outer mitochondrial membrane 20 (Tom20) or translocase of inner membrane 54 (Tim54) and therefore, that channel activity could not be due to the twin-pore translocase (Rehling *et al.*, 2003). The same approach showed that dimers of *Drosophila* Fo-ATPase form channels opened by Ca^{2+} , Bz-423, PhAsO, and Cu(OP)₂ with a single-channel conductance of only 53 pS (in 100 mM KCl) (von Stockum *et al.*, 2015).

This sequence of papers thus implicated ATP synthase dimers as the molecular entity responsible for mPTP activity. A subsequent study (Alavian et al., 2014) showed that the purified human Fo subunit of ATP synthase alone, which is formed by an octameric ring of c-subunits (see Fig. 3D, E), when reconstituted into liposomes exhibited channel activity. This channel had a high conductance of around 100–300 pS, 500–750 pS, 1500 pS, and 1800–2000 pS and resembled the activity of the MMC. It was unselective with a permeability ratio $Na^+/K^+ = 1.5$. AMP, ADP, and ATP inhibited this c-subunit activity, and for ATP the half maximal effective concentration (EC50) was found to be 660 μ M. The same study also determined the EC50 for ATP on MMC activity recorded in submitochondrial vesicles (SMVs), which was found to be lower by at least an order of magnitude (50 μ M). An anti-pan-c-subunit antibody that inhibits the activity of the c-subunit ring also inhibited MMC activity induced by Ca²⁺ in SMVs. In contrast to purified ATP synthase monomers, the activity of the c-subunit was unaffected by Ca²⁺. To demonstrate further that the c-subunit ring could create a pore, they substituted up to four highly conserved glycines within the first alpha-helical region of the c-subunit with valines, under the assumption that this would interfere with the tight packing of the c-subunit molecules within the ring structure. When reconstituted into liposomes, these mutants all demonstrated increased singlechannel conductance compared to that of the wild-type, with the conductance of the quadruple mutant being the largest (Alavian et al., 2014). This channel was also shown to be insensitive to blocking by ATP. They then hypothesized that F_1 binding to the c-subunit ring would inhibit the channel's activity, and applied purified individual F₁ proteins to reconstituted active c-subunit channels. Curiously, only the β subunit but not γ , δ , or ε subunits of ATP synthase had an inhibitory effect. Alavian et al. (2014) tested further the channel activity and regulation in the following preparations: (i) purified recombinant c-subunit lacking CypD and OSCP reconstituted into proteoliposomes (neither Ca²⁺ nor Cyclosporin A had an effect on channel activity); (ii) purified ATP synthase monomers containing OSCP but lacking CypD reconstituted into proteoliposomes (infrequent channel activity was observed, strongly enhanced by the addition of recombinant CypD protein either in the presence or absence of Ca^{2+} ; this activity was inhibited by Cyclosporin A); (*iii*) mitochondria and SMV containing endogenous CypD and OSCP, and SMV exposed to urea to denature and remove

extramembrane proteins, including F_1 components such as the OSCP, β subunit, and CypD (the activity of mitochondria and SMVs was regulated by Ca²⁺ and Cyclosporin A, but was completely absent from the urea-exposed SMVs; 1 mM ATP was still able to inhibit the activity of the channel). Mnatsakanyan *et al.* (2019) confirmed these initial conclusions by recording megachannel activity of purified porcine monomeric ATP synthase. Altogether, these patchclamp experiments in which channel activity was recorded from reconstituted highly purified protein complexes indicated in a compelling way that ATP synthase, either as a dimer or as a monomer, is responsible for MMC activity.

A considerable controversy then arose as a result of studies showing that HAP1-A12 cells incapable of producing the ATP synthase c-subunit still show mPTP activity as measured by Ca^{2+} retention capacity of mitochondria (He *et al.*, 2017*b*). Recently, mitochondria derived from this cell line were further investigated by the patch-clamp technique (Neginskaya et al., 2019). In contrast to the mitochondria of the wild-type HAP1 cells in which classic MMC activity of 1.3 ± 0.2 nS with a subconductance state of 0.4 ± 0.04 nS was detected, the mitochondria of HAP1-A12 cells contained a channel of a much smaller conductance of 0.3 ± 0.07 nS with a subconductance state of 0.13 ± 0.03 nS. Curiously, this channel was blocked by Cyclosporin A but also partially by ADP and bongkrekic acid. Similar features, including conductance and sensitivity to ADP and bongkrekic acid, were previously described for a purified ANT converted to a channel by Ca²⁺ treatment (Brustovetsky & Klingenberg, 1996) indicating that in the absence of a mPTP its function could be substituted by ANT.

Doubts about the involvement of the c-subunit in mPTP activity were replicated for other subunits, excluding from this phenomenon contributions of both subunits of the peripheral stalk of ATP synthase and of the whole enzyme once assembled. To reach these unexpected conclusions, clones were generated from HAP1-A12 cells via the disruption of ATP5F1 and ATP50 genes encoding respectively for subunits b and OSCP (He et al., 2017a). In both cases, the properties of the mPTP appeared unaltered, still opening following stress stimulation and being inhibited by Cyclosporin A, refuting a role of OSCP as an interactor between the mPTP and CypD. Using the same approach and in the same cell line, subunits e, f, g, 6.8PL and DAPIT were removed (Carroll et al., 2019), leading to similar conclusions. Disruption of these proteins inevitably causes defects in ATP synthase assembly, thus arguing against the involvement of ATP synthase dimers in mPTP activity.

Nevertheless, a stronger case for the involvement of ATP synthase in MMC activity came from a study in which the activity of a single amino acid mutant of ATP synthase was studied by patch-clamp (Antoniel *et al.*, 2018). It was known from earlier work that MMC activity was blocked by protons (Szabo *et al.*, 1992). Antoniel *et al.* (2018) investigated whether a unique histidine in the OSCP subunit of the ATP synthase is important in this blockage by acidic pH. MMC activity from wild-type and from the OSCP H112Q mutant cells

was recorded in a standard symmetrical solution of 150 mM KCl, 0.1 or 0.2 mM CaCl₂, 10 mM Hepes, pH 7.3. Both channels exhibited a maximal conductance of 1 nS and several subconductance states with a prevalent substate of around 500 pS in agreement with previous observations for MMC activity. As observed previously for wild-type ATP synthase, acidification of the bath to pH 6.5 resulted in almost complete MMC activity inhibition. However, in mitoplasts from OSCP H112Q cells, a decrease in pH to 6.5 did not cause considerable changes to open probability but the MMC was still sensitive to the classical mPTP inhibitor Ba²⁺ (Szabo *et al.*, 1992).

Detailed information about the electrophysiological properties of the mPTP have recently been reviewed (Neginskaya, Pavlov & Sheu, 2021). This seminal paper discusses the evidence claiming that patch-clamp investigations can (*i*) discern among different mPTP pathways occurring in a given genetic or biochemical condition, and (*ii*) be used to understand the contribution of proteins or drugs in a highly controlled biophysical system.

V. THE mPTP – FROM MITOCHONDRIAL FRACTIONS TO INTACT CELLS

Since the 1990s, several methods have been developed to study the opening of the mPTP in intact cells, including cell imaging, the use of fluorescent dyes, and pharmacological inhibition of the mPTP (Petronilli et al., 1998; Bonora et al., 2016) (see Fig. 5). Depolarization of the mitochondrial transmembrane potential is a recognized consequence of the mPT (Petronilli et al., 1993; Zamzami et al., 1996), and thus several studies have measured variations in the mitochondrial transmembrane potential as an indicator of the opening of the mPTP (Fig. 5A) (Huser & Blatter, 1999; Rama Rao, Jayakumar & Norenberg, 2003; Briston et al., 2017). However, since many other events besides the mPT can induce alterations in the mitochondrial transmembrane potential (including mitochondrial metabolism *per se*, lipid peroxidation, ion cycles, or activity of uncoupling proteins), it is unlikely that this is a useful method to investigate mPTP opening. Peroxidation of lipids within mitochondrial membranes can induce configurational changes that will alter membrane properties, including a progressive increase in membrane permeability, and consequently, depolarization of the membrane potential (Stark, 1991; Wong-Ekkabut et al., 2007). When inducing the mPT with oxidant agents, one thus must eliminate artifacts caused by non-specific alterations in mitochondrial membrane permeability. Furthermore, transient opening of the mPTP is very difficult to follow by measuring the MMP using fluorescent dyes. The collapse of the MMP is not systematic and to detect measurable changes in the distribution of fluorescent dyes, extended periods of PTP opening are usually required (Petronilli et al., 2001; Dumas et al., 2009). Also, the use of Cyclosporin A as an inhibitor of mPT-induced mitochondrial

depolarization can be unreliable, as Cyclosporin A also inhibits calcineurin in cells, which can cause artifacts. FK-506 (tacrolimus), which inhibits calcineurin but not the mPTP (Rodrigues-Diez *et al.*, 2016), or mitochondrialdirected Cyclosporin A (Malouitre *et al.*, 2009) can be used to account for the potential lack of specificity of Cyclosporin A in intact cells. For this reason, other approaches to measure mPTP opening *in situ* should be employed to complement the information obtained by measurement of MMP.

The 2-deoxyglucose method was developed to follow mPTP opening in intact cells (Fig. 5B). While there was indirect evidence that pore opening occurred during the reperfusion of hearts, there was a need for a method that would provide direct evidence of mPTP opening at critical time points during the reperfusion phase. Griffiths & Halestrap (1995) developed an elegant methodology to follow the opening of the mPTP that used 2-deoxy³H]glucose, which enters the cell through the glucose transporter and is phosphorylated to 2-deoxy³H]glucose-6-phosphate. This metabolite cannot be further metabolized and thus is trapped in the cell. However, it can not cross the mitochondrial inner membrane unless the mPTP is in an open state. Once the mPTP opens, 2-deoxy³H]glucose-6-phosphate enters the matrix of mitochondria. Subsequent treatment of isolated mitochondria with ethylene glycol-bis(β-aminoethyl ether)-N,N,N',N'-tetraacetic acid (EGTA) will chelate Ca²⁺, allowing the mPTP to close, trapping 2-deoxy³H]glucose-6-phosphate in the matrix. The measurement of disintegrations per minute (d.p.m.) in isolated mitochondrial fractions allows calculation of the uptake of 2-deoxy³H]glucose-6-phosphate by mitochondria and, therefore, demonstrates that the pore opened during that period. Since this method was developed, it has been used in several settings (Kerr, Suleiman & Halestrap, 1999; Rama Rao et al., 2003; Ayoub, Radhakrishnan & Gazmuri, 2017).

Nieminen et al. (1995) developed a different fluorescent method using the fluorescent dves calcein-acetoxymethyl (AM) and tetramethylrhodamine methyl ester (TMRM) to monitor the mPT in intact cells (Fig. 5C). Calcein is a hydrophilic fluorescein derivative, that when esterified with an AM group, acquires the ability to cross the cellular membrane and become entrapped in a non-fluorescent form. Once in the cytosol, intracellular esterases hydrolyse the AM group and the trapped calcein becomes fluorescent. Cleavage of AM moieties is a widely used strategy to entrap fluorescent probes inside cells. TMRM is a positively charged cellpermeant fluorescent compound that once inside the cell is sequestered by mitochondria, depending on the MMP. Nieminen et al. (1995) demonstrated that when cells are loaded with calcein at 37°C, this fluorescent dye accumulates predominantly in the cytosol, while mitochondria appear as dark spots when using confocal microscopy to image calcein fluorescence. However, due to its positive charge, TMRM accumulates in active mitochondria; hence the calcein-unlabelled dark spots now appear labelled with TMRM fluorescence. Once the mPTP opens, mitochondria lose TMRM fluorescence and the dark spots become filled with fluorescent



Fig 5. Techniques used to evaluate the mitochondrial permeability transition (mPT) in intact cells. (A) Evaluation of mitochondrial permeability transition pore (mPTP) opening by using a mitochondrial transmembrane potential ($\Delta \Psi$)-dependent dye such as tetramethylrhodamine methyl ester (TMRM) is based on its accumulation in mitochondria with a closed mPTP, in which the electric gradient is maintained. Because mPTP opening is not the only mechanism for loss of $\Delta \Psi$, proper controls need to be performed with Cyclosporin A (CyclA), a pore inhibitor, However, because this compound is not specific to cyclophilin D since it also inhibits calcineurin, a proper control with other calcineurin inhibitors is also needed (e.g. tacrolimus, also known as FK506). This method can be used with a fluorescent plate reader, flow cytometry or fluorescent microscopy. (B) A more specific method involves using 2-deoxy³H]glucose, which is retained in cells after phosphorylation, although it does not permeate intact mitochondria. Upon mPTP opening, it can permeate the mitochondria. Isolation of mitochondria and quantification of radioactivity in a scintillation counter allows measurement of the extent of mPTP opening. Although specific, this is a complex and often time-consuming and highly technical methodology. (C) The calcein-acetoxymethyl (AM) method involves loading cells with the dye under specific temperature conditions, in conjugation with TMRM. After cleavage of the AM moiety by esterases, greenfluorescent calcein labels the cytosol, while red-fluorescent TMRM labels polarized (intact) mitochondria. After mPTP opening, mitochondrial TMRM labelling is lost, while calcein now permeates the mitochondria. The most reliable methodology to follow these events is fluorescent microscopy. (D) An adaptation of the calcein-AM method in which cobalt chloride (CoCl₂) is used to quench calcein fluorescence. In this protocol, calcein is spread throughout the cell, including in mitochondria. As Co^{2+} does not permeate mitochondria, CoCl₂+calcein-treated cells show dark cytosol and green mitochondria. Upon mPTP opening, Co²⁺ permeates the mitochondria, and the green mitochondrial fluorescence is lost. This method can be used with a fluorescent plate reader, flow cytometry or fluorescent microscopy. In all methods, proper controls with mPTP inhibitors (as well as negative controls) must be performed to avoid artifacts.

calcein. By using laser-scanning confocal microscopy, this method allowed the authors to monitor the mPTP in intact hepatocytes after exposure to t-butylhydroperoxide (Nieminen *et al.*, 1995). Their method was, however, challenged by Petronilli *et al.* (1998) who pointed out caveats and advised caution in interpreting the results. Since the esterified form of calcein (calcein-AM) can cross intracellular membranes, diffusion among the different organelles can also occur and it may label other cell spaces beside the cytosol (Petronilli *et al.*, 1999). The esterified form of calcein can also be cleaved by mitochondrial esterases and the fluorescent calcein may become trapped inside the mitochondrial matrix. Regarding the dark spots observed by Nieminen *et al.* (1995) in confocal microscopy images of calcein fluorescence, Petronilli *et al.* (1998) suggested that TMRM could quench calcein fluorescence, or that the concentration of calcein inside the mitochondrial matrix could reach values high enough to cause calcein self-quenching. To overcome the flaws of this method, Petronilli *et al.* (1998, 1999) suggested loading cells with calcein-AM in the presence of 1 mM of CoCl₂ (Fig. 5D). In the presence of Co²⁺, calcein fluorescence in the cytosol and nucleus is quenched, and because

 Co^{2+} does not cross the mitochondrial inner membrane, mitochondria appear as green-fluorescent bodies against a dark background. Under a condition promoting mPTP opening, calcein can exit the mitochondria and Co^{2+} can flow to the mitochondrial matrix. A decrease in calcein fluorescence intensity in the mitochondrial matrix can be measured by fluorescence microscopy or in a regular multiplate-based fluorescence assay. This method proved to be a useful tool for the *in situ* study of mPTP modulation and it available in the form of commercial kits.

As described in Section III, mitochondrial swelling is a valuable method to study mPTP opening in isolated mitochondria. However, the observation of mitochondrial swelling in intact cells after mPTP opening is still somewhat controversial. While some authors argue that morphological alterations observed in mitochondria in intact cells result from mitochondrial swelling (Minamikawa *et al.*, 1999), others believe that, in intact cells, mitochondrial swelling does not occur immediately after mPTP opening because of the presence of proteins in the cytosol that may inhibit osmotic water entry into mitochondria (Dumas *et al.*, 2009). Thus mitochondrial swelling is not a uniformly accepted end-point for measuring mPTP opening in intact cells.

The evaluation of the mPT in intact cells thus is not a straightforward process and remains subject to confounding factors and artifacts. There is still no single reliable method to measure *in situ* the dynamic of the mPT. Further difficulties arise when attempting to measure the low-conductance state of the mPTP, because most of the available methods are designed to evaluate its high-conductance form. Thus, for maximum reliability, a combination of different methods is required to evaluate mPTP dynamics in intact cells.

VI. THE mPTP IN CELL DEATH AND PATHOLOGY

As described in Section III, mPTP opening can lead to mechanical stress in the OMM due to swelling, leading to its rupture. It is of interest to consider whether this is a common phenomenon that takes place due to solute distribution between mitochondria and the cytosol in intact cells and tissues, or whether it is affected by the number of calciuminduced pores in a single mitochondrion. Neginskaya et al. (2020) calculated that the number of mPTP structures per mitochondrion was between one and nine, although they noted that this may be a possible underestimate. In any case, the mPTP is a central mechanism involved in cell death. Mitochondrial membrane depolarization resulting from mPTP opening leads to a deficit in mitochondrial ATP, a condition generally associated with necroptosis (Bauer & Murphy, 2020) or classical necrosis (Lemasters, 1999). Induction of the mPTP is also involved in Bax recruitment to mitochondria, an event that represents one of the first steps in the mitochondrial apoptosis pathway (Narita et al., 1998; Precht et al., 2005). The binding of Bax to the ANT increases IMM

permeability and triggers cell death (Marzo *et al.*, 1998). It was also shown that the mPTP directs Bax translocation and multimerization in the OMM (De Giorgi *et al.*, 2002). This phenomenon was observed to be inhibited by binding of the anti-apoptotic protein Bcl-2 (Brenner *et al.*, 2000).

Further research demonstrated that mPTP induction is not always required for the apoptosis-inducing effects of Bax (Eskes *et al.*, 1998). Apoptosis caused by Bcl-2 homology 3 (BH3)-interacting domain death agonist Bid, a pro-apoptosis 'BH3-only' member of the Bcl-2 family, which is cleaved by caspase-8 and translocated to the OMM, was initially shown not to depend on mPTP opening or Bax translocation (Kim *et al.*, 2000), although later studies contradicted this (Zamzami *et al.*, 2000). One mechanism to explain these differences may involve the concentration of calcium, which in low concentrations may induce cytochrome c release without mPTP induction, whereas higher concentrations can activate the mPTP and trigger cytochrome c release (Gogvadze *et al.*, 2001).

Increased mPTP induction is associated with several pathological conditions. This is not surprising given its roles in cellular bioenergetic dysfunction and cell death and its association with redox and ionic disruption. We provide below a brief description of selected research in which the mPTP has been recognized as part of a pathophysiological mechanism.

The mPTP is a recognized mediator of neuronal death in several neurodegenerative diseases including amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) (Sun *et al.*, 2019), Parkinson's disease (Iravanpour *et al.*, 2021), hypoxic–ischemic encephalopathy (Chen *et al.*, 2021), and Alzheimer's disease (Du *et al.*, 2008) in different animal models. Interestingly, increased activation of the mPTP in Alzheimer's disease was recorded even in non-neuronal tissues such as skin fibroblasts from patients (Perez *et al.*, 2018).

Cardiac injury has been frequently associated with an increased activity of the mPTP. Anthracycline-induced cardiomyopathy, a pressing concern in anti-cancer therapy, has an important mitochondrial component with increased mPTP activation mediated by oxidative stress and CypD signalling (Oliveira *et al.*, 2004; Dhingra *et al.*, 2020; Wallace, Sardao & Oliveira, 2020). CypD hyperacetylation appears to be involved in increased mPTP opening during heart failure (Castillo *et al.*, 2019).

It is known that CypD gene silencing is protective against ischemic renal injury in a mouse model (Devalaraja-Narashimha, Diener & Padanilam, 2009). The protective effect of silencing CyPD and that of Cyclosporin A both evidence the role of the mPTP in kidney injury. Indirect evidence for kidney cell injury caused by mPTP opening is provided by Bendavia, a mPTP inhibitor, which inhibits damage caused by revascularization in experimental renal artery stenosis (Eirin *et al.*, 2012).

A recent study showed that hepatic steatosis in a mouse model was associated with mitochondrial swelling and depolarization, two mPTP-linked outcomes that were inhibited by Cyclosporin A (Li *et al.*, 2021). This result confirmed previous findings showing that CypD inhibition improved fatty liver in animal models (Wang *et al.*, 2018). Aging is associated with progressive alterations in mitochondrial function, including altered mPTP regulation. Zhou *et al.* (2019) showed that reduced mPTP opening increases the lifespan of *Caenorhabditis elegans*. Their work also suggested an essential link between mPTP opening, IMM permeability, and autophagy in the regulation of yeast and mammal healthy aging (Zhou *et al.*, 2019). An earlier study showed that mitochondria from older (36-month-old) animals had a higher response to Ca²⁺ in terms of mPTP induction compared to younger (1-month-old) animals (Goodell & Cortopassi, 1998).

Questions still remain on how over-activation of the mPTP occurs in these and other pathologies. Increased oxidative stress is an obvious explanation, a condition that could be exacerbated by prolonged mPTP opening. Prolonged mPTP opening leads to mitochondrial depolarization, increased ROS production, and triggers cell death signalling, leading to tissue injury. Nevertheless, the situation is likely to be more complex. Some of the examples above include a role of CypD in potentiating mPTP opening, including post-translational modifications such as acetylation, resulting from the metabolic stress associated with different pathologies.

VII. NOT ALWAYS A BAD GUY: THE PHYSIOLOGICAL ROLES OF THE mPTP

In addition to the known pathological results of mPTP opening, it has been linked to diverse normal physiological processes, such as cell fate and differentiation (Hom *et al.*, 2011; Folmes *et al.*, 2012; Vega-Naredo *et al.*, 2014). Several studies have addressed the importance of mPTP regulatory molecules under physiological conditions that prevent the cell from deleterious changes to mitochondrial functions that could lead to cell death.

In the context of a physiological role of the mPTP, two possible forms of its open state were proposed: a fullconductance irreversible opening for permanent permeability, or an alternative transient and flickering short-term opening of the mPTP (Wang *et al.*, 2008; Hou *et al.*, 2014; Li *et al.*, 2020) (Fig. 6). The full-conductance open state leads predominantly to apoptosis and cell death, while the transient short-term open state with smaller and more variable conductance is likely to function during physiological conditions (Perez & Quintanilla, 2017).

Evidence for such physiological opening of the mPTP has been described, including a flickering opening activity (Crompton, 1999; Hausenloy *et al.*, 2004, 2010; Korge *et al.*, 2011); furthermore, an association between transient mPTP opening and 'superoxide flashes' was observed in striated muscle mitochondria (Wang *et al.*, 2008). Based on the suggestion that this transient opening of the mPTP may release mitochondrial matrix Ca^{2+} to maintain mitochondrial homeostasis, a model was proposed for a physiological function of the mPTP, in addition to its well-known role in cell death (Elrod *et al.*, 2010). The most prominent physiological role for the mPTP in mitochondrial and cellular Ca²⁺ homeostasis thus is apparently its capacity to act as a Ca²⁺ efflux mechanism (Altschuld *et al.*, 1992; Takeuchi *et al.*, 2015; Biasutto *et al.*, 2016; Hurst *et al.*, 2017; Krebs, 2017; Li *et al.*, 2020; Xu *et al.*, 2020).

Evidence for the transient opening of the mPTP as a physiological Ca²⁺ efflux pathway includes early demonstrations of the inhibition of Ca^{2+} release in the presence of mPTP inhibitor Cyclosporin A in isolated adult rat ventricular cardiomyocytes (Altschuld et al., 1992). Transient or lowconductance opening of the mPTP was proposed to serve as an additional mode of Ca²⁺ efflux that mitigates sustained matrix Ca²⁺ overload (Ichas & Mazat, 1998; Bernardi & von Stockum, 2012). Numerous studies have supported this hypothesized physiological role (Elrod et al., 2010; Korge et al., 2011; Bernardi & von Stockum, 2012; Elrod & Molkentin, 2013; Gainutdinov et al., 2015). However, in a recent study, mitochondrial Ca2+ efflux rates measured in intact HeLa cells were completely unaffected by mPTP inhibition either by Cyclosporin A or by small interfering RNA (siRNA)-mediated reduction of the ATP synthase c-subunit (De Marchi et al., 2014a), suggesting that the mPTP may not always play a role in Ca²⁺ efflux under physiological conditions. Most experiments addressing the role of the mPTP in Ca²⁺ homeostasis use Cyclosporin A, which introduces inherent problems regarding its specificity. Notably, the inhibitory effect of Cyclosporin A depends on the expression level of CypD, which is rarely assessed (Bernardi et al., 2015). Cyclosporin A inhibitory ability can vary significantly, with known differences in sensitivity to Cyclosporin A in different tissues; for example, NIH3T3 fibroblasts and HL60 cells show no sensitivity to this inhibitor (Li et al., 2012). The relative expression of CvpD and Fo-ATP synthase may also be crucial; cross-linking experiments in beef heart mitochondria indicate that there is much less CypD present than subunits b, d, and OSCP and that many Fo-ATP synthase channels are insensitive to Cyclosporin A even if CypD is expressed (Bernardi et al., 2015). Thus the role of Cyclosporin A-sensitive/insensitive mPTP functions, particularly as a mechanism of mitochondrial Ca²⁺ efflux, remains unproven. Despite this continuing debate, most research does suggest that the mPTP appears to function as a Ca²⁺-release mechanism required for proper metabolic regulation (Bernardi et al., 2015).

 Ca^{2+} remains the most important regulator and inducer of pore opening, given its numerous indirect roles regulating and modulating the mPTP (Biasutto *et al.*, 2016; Hurst *et al.*, 2017). At physiological levels, Ca^{2+} could stimulate transient opening of the pore, while Ca^{2+} overload changes the balance from physiology to pathology, leading to sustained mPTP opening with subsequent mitochondrial and cellular dysfunction (Hurst *et al.*, 2017; Mnatsakanyan *et al.*, 2017; Perez & Quintanilla, 2017; Nesci *et al.*, 2018; Lamb, 2020). Recent studies also highlighted a crucial role of the mPTP in cardiac, neurodegenerative and other pathologies and its involvement in cardiac and brain



Fig 6. Reversibility of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore (mPTP). The mPTP has been described as undergoing different conformational changes, leading to alternative fates for the cell. Mild elevations in calcium and oxidative stress, as well as cytosolic signalling can trigger the formation of reversible low-conductance mPTP opening under conditions of normal mitochondrial functioning, and in particular during cell differentiation. Low-conductance mPTP opening can be useful to decrease mitochondrial membrane potential to avoid membrane hyperpolarization and excessive reactive oxygen species (ROS) production, as well as to discharge accumulated calcium. On the other hand, an excessive matrix calcium accumulation, together with persistent and elevated oxidative stress due to increased mitochondrial ROS production, as well as pro-apoptotic signalling may lead to the formation of an irreversible large-conductance form of mPTP opening, which can lead to bioenergetic collapse, and contribute to cell death. The small triangles and squares represent factors that regulate mPTP opening. One such protein factor is the matrix chaperon cyclophylin D (CypD), which has been previously shown to interact with putative pore components, including the ATP synthase. IMM, inner mitochondrial membrane; OMM outer mitochondrial membrane.

development (Folmes et al., 2012; Perez & Quintanilla, 2017), neutrophil activation and ROS release (Vorobjeva et al., 2020). The mPTP has been highlighted as a gating mechanism underlying differentiation in the developing heart and brain, potentially involving cross-talk between genetic and metabolic signalling (Folmes et al., 2012). Transient mPTP opening directly regulates cellular energy metabolism as it uncouples oxidative metabolism from ATP synthesis, a mechanism that operates in concert with ROS flashes to promote cardiomyocyte differentiation (Folmes et al., 2012). Knockout of the mPTP component cyclophilin D results in elevated mitochondrial matrix Ca²⁺, enhancing the activation of Ca²⁺-dependent dehydrogenases and thus reducing metabolic flexibility (Elrod et al., 2010). It was demonstrated that mPTP opening in the early heart is a physiological event required for organ development. In the fetal heart, myocytes exhibit low MMP, high levels of ROS production, and opening of the mPTP. Inhibition of mPTP opening with Cyclosporin A led to maturation of mitochondrial structure and function, decreased intracellular ROS levels and increased MMP, which accelerated myocyte differentiation (Hom et al., 2011).

Concerning the participation of the mPTP in neural development, it was reported that cultured embryonic mouse cortical neural progenitor cells demonstrate intermittent spontaneous bursts of mitochondrial superoxide generation that require a transient opening of the mPTP (Hou *et al.*, 2014). It was shown that both mitochondrial ROS scavengers and mPTP inhibitors such as Cyclosporin A reduced the frequency of mitoflashes and enhanced the proliferation of cortical neural progenitor cells, whereas prolonged mPTP opening and superoxide generation increased the incidence of mitoflashes and promoted differentiation of these neuronal cells (Hou et al., 2012). The evidence that the mPTP participates in cardiac and brain development is thus convincing, but there remains much to understand regarding its roles in other cell types [although for haematopoietic progenitor cells and vascular progenitor cells see Arnold et al. (2000) and Davies et al. (2005)]. The physiological participation of the mPTP in cell development and differentiation appears to depend on the specific cell type, the subcellular localization of mitochondria and on the developmental stage (Mnatsakanyan et al., 2017; Perez & Quintanilla, 2017). Transient pore opening has been shown to be associated with a transient depolarization of the MMP (Jou, 2011; Hurst et al., 2017). While the exact mechanism responsible is still unclear, the physiological roles are beginning to be elucidated. The frequency of these transient openings has been associated with metabolism, aging, wound healing, and an essential role in cell differentiation (Shen et al., 2014; Vega-Naredo et al., 2014; Ding et al., 2015).

VIII. THE ROAD TO THE CLINIC: FUTURE PERSPECTIVES IN mPTP REGULATION

The potentially dual physiological and pathological role of the mPTP has attracted attention in terms of drug discovery, with several pre-clinical trials already published. The mPTP has been extensively studied as a target for therapies aimed at blocking ATP synthesis, especially that of pathogens causing infective pathologies in humans (Andries *et al.*, 2005). By binding the F_O-ATP synthase csubunit and mycobacterial subunit ε , some antimicrobials can selectively and effectively eliminate strains of microorganisms that are resistant to conventional drugs. Another example of the use of F₁F_O-ATP synthase as a pharmacological target is 1,4-benzodiazepine (Bz-423), which induces a selective, ROS- and mPTP-dependent apoptotic cell death in B lymphocytes *via* its interaction with the OSCP subunit (Johnson *et al.*, 2005), the same site used by CypD to modulate mPTP. The discovery of Bz-423 has opened the way for potential treatments for autoimmune disorders such as lupus erythematosus.

Subunit c, together with CypD, have been defined as critical components of the mPTP. However, there are conceptual and technical difficulties in the use of both of these as targets for screening for inhibitors of mPTP opening: CypD is considered a regulator and not a pore component, thus, its targeting may only desensitize pore activity. Subunit c is part of the membrane-bound F_{O} portion (see Fig. 3D, E) and involved in proton translocation for ATP generation. Therefore, its inhibition may lead to unwanted side effects, as is the case for oligomycin, an antibiotic that targets the F_{Ω} component, and N,N-dicyclohexylcarbodiimide (DCCD), for example. Oligomycin is a natural macrolide that acts as a potent inhibitor of both the synthesis and hydrolysis of mitochondrial ATP. It is produced from Streptomyces and exists in six different isoforms, A to F, based on the R group attached to the macrolide. Oligomycin binds side chains of amino acids located on two consecutive c subunits and can inhibit 50% of mPTP opening in living cells at a concentration of $10 \,\mu M$ (Bonora *et al.*, 2017). DCCD is a lipid-soluble carbodiimide with strong inhibitory properties of both portions of F₁F₀-ATP synthase, depending on its use. At low concentrations (about 50 μ M), it interacts covalently with the c-ring through an essential carboxyl amino acid (Asp61) of subunit c and inhibits mPTP opening by 45% if used in the range 7.5–15 μ M; at higher concentrations, it also interacts with the F₁ portion through a glutamine residue in the β subunit. However, the toxic nature of these drugs makes them unacceptable for use: despite significant inhibition of mPTP activity in vitro, they also deplete mitochondrial ATP, causing toxic side effects in more complex disease models.

Considering the importance of the c-ring in mPTP modulation, many efforts are ongoing to find less toxic c-subunit inhibitors. This goal could be achieved by identifying the essential core of a drug required to recognize subunit c, and adapting the surrounding chemical structure to minimize unwanted side effects while maintaining its inhibitory potential. A small-molecule library of c-subunit inhibitors has been obtained by modifying the oligomycin functional core, leading to new compounds that strongly reduce reperfusion damage in animal models of global ischemia without interfering with ATP production (Morciano *et al.*, 2018). For example, compound 10 inhibited mPTP opening *in vitro* by 40–50% at very low concentrations (0.5–1 μ M) and reduced cardiac apoptotic cell death by 40% when administered during reperfusion for 10 min. Compound 10, together with compounds 5c and 6g, showed low toxicity, probably due to their exclusive localization in mitochondria and their reversible binding.

Danshensu (DSS), the main constituent of *Salvia miltiorrhiza* (Danshen), a traditional Chinese herb, provided substantial cardioprotection against myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury as measured by cell viability loss, and creatine kinase-isozyme MB, cardiac troponin and lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) release. This cardioprotection was dependent of the modulation of subunit c protein (Yin *et al.*, 2013). DSS acted by downregulating subunit c messenger RNA (mRNA) and protein levels in reperfused rat hearts, and inhibited mPTP opening and the consequent cardiac ischemia/reperfusion injury, improving heart parameters and cardiomyocyte survival (Gao *et al.*, 2017).

Genetic studies in animals have highlighted the importance of CypD in mPTP-mediated cardioprotection by modifying its *Ppif* gene expression. CypD can be manipulated by a long list of drugs, almost all derived from Cyclosporin A. Cyclosporin A was first isolated from a fungus and entered clinical practice some years later; its binding to CypD is due to a tryptophan (Trp-121) within a short α -helical region of the protein (Davis et al., 2010). Its excellent activity in inhibiting mPTP opening at low concentrations $(0.2-1.2 \mu M)$ and its unquestionable results in *in vitro* and preclinical models, have made Cyclosporin A one of the most promising positive controls for assessing mPTP function. However, Cyclosporin A also has non-mPTP-related effects. Probably due to its diffuse localization pattern inside cells, in both cytosol (Youn et al., 2002; Abikhair et al., 2016) and nucleus (Le Hir et al., 1995), Cyclosporin A can act as an immunosuppressant. Its incorporation into poly-lactic/glycolic acid (PLGA) nanoparticles (CsA-NP) allows better mitochondrial localization; treatment with CsA-NP at the time of reperfusion increased cardioprotection with a significant reduction in infarct size using lower concentrations compared to Cyclosporin A alone (Ikeda et al., 2016). Cyclosporin A derivatives with a significantly decreased (several thousand-fold less) immunosuppressant effect have also been developed. Examples include N-methyl-isoleucine-4-cyclo-sporin (NIM-811) and N-methyl-D-alanine-3-N-ethyl-valine-4-cyclosporin (Debio025). NIM-811 and Debio025 are both semisynthetic analogs of CsA in which cytosolic side effects have been partially abolished by eliminating the calcineurin-binding motif (Waldmeier et al., 2002; Hansson et al., 2004). In assays targeting the mPTP induced with Ca²⁺ overload and Pi in both living cells and isolated mitochondria, NIM-811 showed the same potency as Cyclosporin A. The reduction in its immunosuppressant effects offers an additional advantage since Cyclosporin A has a limited window of action in terms of concentrations $(0.2 \text{ to } 1.2 \text{ }\mu\text{M})$. NIM-811 does not show the same toxicity. Debio025, a NIM-811 derivative, in a comparative study performed in isolated brain and heart mitochondria, showed a 10-fold more potent activity than Cyclosporin A. Multiple studies have reported beneficial effects of these two drugs in

reduced cell death, recovery of left ventricle contractile function, and improved survival (Gomez *et al.*, 2007, 2009; Cour *et al.*, 2011).

Despite the preclinical potential of its derivatives, only Cyclosporin A has so far entered clinical trials, which ended after 15 years with a phase III failure against cardiac reperfusion injury. Indeed, CIRCUS (Cung *et al.*, 2015) and CYCLE (Ottani *et al.*, 2016) trials, consisting of a single intravenous bolus of Cyclosporin A (2.5 mg/kg) before revascularization, showed no improvement in clinical outcome. These findings did not confirm the results of a pilot study (Piot *et al.*, 2008), which initially raised hope for the use of Cyclosporin A to treat reperfusion injury.

Another non-selective inhibitor of CypD is Sanglifehrin A (SfA) (Clarke, McStay & Halestrap, 2002). SfA is as potent as Cyclosporin A regarding mPTP opening; recovery of cardiac performance upon ischemia/reperfusion and a significant reduction of LDH release was observed after SfA treatment (Hausenloy *et al.*, 2003). Since SfA differs structurally from Cyclosporin A, the formation of calcineurin–SfA complexes is avoided, while the ability to bind CypD although at a different site, is maintained, giving this molecule discrete immunosuppressant activities. Similar to the effects of DCCD on ATP synthase subunit c, SfA strongly binds CypD, failing to detach upon washing. Together with its immunosuppressant activity, this may discourage its use in clinical practice, as prolonged residence inside cells may lead to side effects.

Small-size molecule inhibitors also exist for CypD, such as C-9 and C-19. C-9 was initially identified as a therapeutic agent to delay Alzheimer's disease symptoms by preventing the interaction between CypD and amyloid-beta (A β) to decrease mitochondria-dependent neuronal stress (Valasani *et al.*, 2014). C-9 was also found *in vitro* to show potential for the treatment of many other diseases such as acute pancreatitis, ultraviolet radiation damage, and in other neurodegenerative diseases, due to its mPTP-inhibiting properties. The most potent inhibitor in this category is C31 (Panel *et al.*, 2019), which was able to restore mitochondrial parameters following hepatic injury.

Suggested initially as mPTP regulator and most commonly known as the peripheral benzodiazepine receptor for its high affinity in binding benzodiazepines, TSPO has been proposed as a potent inducer of mPTP opening upon interaction with protoporphyrin IX (PPIX) (Pastorino et al., 1994). Targeting of TSPO by 3,5-seco-4-nor-cholestan-5-one oxime-3-ol (TRO40303) showed promising cardioprotective effects in a rat model of cardiac ischemia; its administration prior to reperfusion reduced infarct size (IS) and concomitant cell death by about 40%. However, desensitization of mPTP opening seems to be secondary to its remarkable antioxidant properties (Schaller et al., 2010). Further supporting an indirect mechanism in the modulation of mPTP, studies on TSPO KO mice have excluded the possibility that TSPO ligands, and TSPO itself, may regulate mPTP activity by showing that the presence of the protein in hearts subjected to ischemia and reperfusion was dispensable (Sileikyte et al., 2014). The safety and efficacy of TRO40303 were evaluated in myocardial

infarction patients undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention. This multicenter, double-blinded, phase II study (MITOCARE), in which TRO40303 was administered just before revascularization failed to show efficacy in reducing or limiting reperfusion injury (Atar *et al.*, 2015). In this study, infarct size, left ventricle (LV) ejection fraction evaluation, creatine kinase, and troponin I dosage did not differ between placebo and treated patients.

Investigations of the properties of the mPTP have also highlighted compounds derived from cinnamic anilide, such as GNX-4728 and GNX-4975. These molecules modulate the mPTP in a CypD- and subunit c-independent way, showing beneficial effects in an ALS transgenic mouse model (Martin *et al.*, 2014) with delayed onset of symptoms, increased lifespan, and reduced inflammation. It has been hypothesized that GNX-4975 shares the same binding site as calcium in mPTP opening; once open, ANT and PiC would be subject to conformational changes to form an interface in the inner membrane to which the compound binds (Richardson & Halestrap, 2016).

Screening performed on isolated mitochondria with thousands of compounds in the National Institute of Health repository identified many other small-molecule inhibitors, based on an isoxazole functional core. Of these compounds, ML-404 selectively inhibited mPTP opening without side effects in concentrations up to 100 μ M; this compound was classified with twice the potency of GNX-series compounds (Sileikyte *et al.*, 2010). Having a synergistic effect with Cyclosporin A, ML-404 and other isoxazole-based compounds (such as compound 60) do not act through CypD binding (Roy *et al.*, 2015).

Another strategy to inhibit mPTP opening via CypDindependent interactions involved compounds based on the N-phenylbenzamide scaffold; these have pharmacological relevance due to their complete inhibition of the pore at low concentrations without interfering with ATP synthase production (Roy *et al.*, 2016).

Similar to TRO40303, many compounds that promote mPTP desensitization act primarily as potent oxidant scavengers: these include a gallic acid-derivative, the mitochondriotropic antioxidant AntiOxBEN₃ (Teixeira et al., 2018) and Agomelatine (AGO), a melatonin receptor agonist. These two molecules showed low toxicity, particularly for AGO which protected the rat ischemic myocardium by acting on targets upstream of the mPTP, including the enhanced phosphorylation of GSK3β. Melatonin itself, which has antioxidant activity, also modulates mPTP opening. New evidence and ongoing work has focused on additional and direct effects on the pore (Zhou et al., 2017; Tarocco et al., 2019). Currently, melatonin is considered one of the safest drugs available for use as a mPTP inhibitor. Melatonin is a chronobiotic indolamine mainly synthesized and secreted in the pineal gland with a marked circadian rhythm. Given its high level of lipophilicity, pineal melatonin can diffuse across cell membranes, allowing the distribution of this molecule throughout all cells of the body and influencing organ function (Tan et al., 1999). However, increasing evidence supports

that rather than a passive diffusion process, there are active or facilitated mechanisms that favour melatonin uptake and its cellular internalization, probably via members of the solute carrier family 2 (SLC2)/glucose transporter (GLUT) and peptide transporter 1 (PEPT1) families (Hevia et al., 2008; Huo et al., 2017; Mayo et al., 2018). Indeed, some cellular organelles, especially mitochondria, were found to accumulate high melatonin concentrations (Leon et al., 2004). A recent study also showed that large amounts of melatonin are synthesized by mitochondria during oocyte maturation, being essential for the maintenance of energy metabolism, mitochondrial function, and the quality of oocytes (He et al., 2016). Enzymes involved in the synthesis of melatonin were found in mitochondria and isolated mitochondria retain the capacity to produce melatonin (Coelho et al., 2015; He et al., 2016). These findings underline the importance of melatonin for the mitochondria and raise questions regarding the physiological and protective effects of this neurohormone on these organelles. In addition to its antioxidant role, melatonin has a protective effect against neural disorders and other diseases via modulation of the activity of the mPTP and apoptosis responses (Petrosillo et al., 2009; Espino et al., 2010). Likewise, melatonin stimulates uncoupling proteins (UCPs), contributing to dissipation of the electrochemical proton gradient across the IMM and the consequent reduction of the MMP (Tan et al., 2016; Pan et al., 2018).

mPTP modulation by melatonin is a novel role within the broad spectrum of protective actions of melatonin in diverse diseases, especially in neurological disorders. Early observations in rat brain astrocytes showed that melatonin seems to suppress mitochondrial ROS formation and to target Ca²⁺mediated mPT to protect against cell death (Jou et al., 2010). A later study using fluorescence laser scanning microscopy found that melatonin prevents mitochondrial depolarization and mPTP neurotoxicity under disturbed Ca⁺² homeostasis, preserving the protective conformation of the mPTP (Jou, 2011). A recent study demonstrated that melatonin addition to isolated brain mitochondria inhibits the opening of the mPTP, probably hindering mPTPmediated mitochondrial dysfunction (Waseem, Tabassum & Parvez, 2016). In this study, isolated mitochondria were incubated with Ca²⁺ and 5-hydroxydecanoate to stimulate mitochondrial swelling and induce mPTP opening. Melatonin administration significantly reduced mitochondrial swelling and MMP and improved mitochondrial respiration. Benefits of melatonin are also known in the heart from aged mice and in in frozen-thawed sperm, where melatonin administration inhibited mPTP opening and improved cellular respiration and ATP production (Sahach et al., 2008; Fang et al., 2019). A recent mechanistic study revealed that a melatonin receptor 1 (MT1) antagonist eliminated the mPTP opening inhibition generated by melatonin, whereas a MT1 agonist had the opposite effect (Fang et al., 2020). However, the exact mechanism of action by which melatonin regulates the mPTP still remains unclear, although related molecular mechanisms have been proposed. Interestingly, promising results may

provide evidence that melatonin can regulate the mPTP via inhibition of CypD (Zhou et al., 2018). This study transfected CypD mutants (mimicking permanent phosphorylation) into melatonin-treated endothelial cells and demonstrated that melatonin represses the receptor-interacting serine/threonine-protein kinase-3 (Ripk3)-phosphoglycerate mutase family member 5 (PGAM5)-CypD cascade, attenuating necroptosis and cardiac ischemia-reperfusion injury. Another study used recordings of IMM potentials with a patch-clamp approach in liver mitoplasts from rodents to evaluate the direct effects of melatonin on the mPTP (Andrabi et al., 2004). This work showed that melatonin inhibits mPTP opening in a dose-dependent manner, although there was no evidence regarding its target protein. Together, these publications show that melatonin can modulate mPTP activity and preserves the optimal MMP and mitochondrial integrity, contributing to the maintenance of cell functions and survival.

IX. CONCLUSIONS

- Advances in methodologies, including genetic manipulation, have accelerated our understanding of the mPTP as a constantly evolving entity present in many species, although with different forms of regulation.
- (2) The mPTP plays crucial roles in cell physiology and pathology; excessive mPTP opening is involved in the pathophysiology of different human diseases, but regulated mPTP opening is critical for regulating cell and mitochondrial ionic and redox balance, and plays an apparently important role in fetal development.
- (3) Opening of the mPTP increases the permeability of mitochondrial membranes to different solutes, and can switch from a lower to a higher conductance state according to different stress or physiological stimuli.
- (4) The mPTP is notoriously activated by high levels of oxidative stress and increased Ca²⁺ concentrations, but it is also precisely regulated by several other metabolites.
- (5) No single methodology can accurately measure mPTP opening rates.
- (6) More recent models suggest that ATP synthase is a structural component of the mPTP, although doubt still exists on the exact subunit(s) responsible for channel activity.

X. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Work in the P.J.O. laboratory is supported by FEDER funds through the Operational Programme Competitiveness Factors (COMPETE) and by national funds through the Foundation for Science and Technology (FCT) (PTDC/MED-FAR/29391/2017, POCI-01-0145-FEDER-029391, PTDC/ BIA-MOL/28607/2017, POCI-01-0145-FEDER-028607, PTDC/BTM-SAL/29297/2017, POCI-01-0145-FEDER-029297, PTDC/ASP-HOR/29152/2017, POCI-01-0145-FEDER-029152, UIDP/04539/2020 and UIDB/04539/ 2020). V.A.S. was supported by FCT (IF/01182/2015). M.R. W. was supported by Polish National Science Center, grants no. UMO-2014/15/B/NZ1/00490 and UMO-2018/29/B/ NZ1/00589. Y.P. was supported by Polish National Science Center, grant no. UMO-2018/29/B/NZ1/00589. A.R. is supported by Italian Cystic Fibrosis Research Foundation grant FFC #20/2015, local funds from University of Ferrara, FIR-2017, the Italian Ministry of Health (GR-2016-02364602) and the Italian Ministry of Education, University and Research (PRIN Grant 2017XA5J5N). P.K. was supported by Polish National Science Center, grant no. 2015/19/B/NZ1/02794.

XI. REFERENCES

- ABIKHAIR, M., MITSUI, H., YANOFSKY, V., ROUDIANI, N., OVITS, C., BRYAN, T., OBERYSZYN, T. M., TOBER, K. L., GONZALEZ, J., KRUEGER, J. G., FELSEN, D. & CARUCCI, J. A. (2016). Cyclosporine A immunosuppression drives catastrophic squamous cell carcinoma through IL-22. *JCI Insight* 1(8), e86434.
- AFFOLTER, H. & CARAFOLI, E. (1980). The Ca2⁺-Na+ antiporter of heart mitochondria operates electroneutrally. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 95(1), 193–196.
- ALAVIAN, K. N., BEUTNER, G., LAZROVE, E., SACCHETTI, S., PARK, H. A., LICZNERSKI, P., LI, H., NABILI, P., HOCKENSMITH, K., GRAHAM, M., PORTER, G. A. JR. & JONAS, E. A. (2014). An uncoupling channel within the csubunit ring of the F1FO ATP synthase is the mitochondrial permeability transition pore. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 111(29), 10580–10585.
- ALCALA, S., KLEE, M., FERNANDEZ, J., FLEISCHER, A. & PIMENTEL-MUINOS, F. X. (2008). A high-throughput screening for mammalian cell death effectors identifies the mitochondrial phosphate carrier as a regulator of cytochrome c release. *Oncogene* 27(1), 44–54.
- ALTSCHULD, R. A., HOHL, C. M., CASTILLO, L. C., GARLEB, A. A., STARLING, R. C. & BRIERLEY, G. P. (1992). Cyclosporin inhibits mitochondrial calcium efflux in isolated adult rat ventricular cardiomyocytes. *American Journal of Physiology* 262(6 Pt 2), H1699–H1704.
- ANDRABI, S. A., SAYEED, I., SIEMEN, D., WOLF, G. & HORN, T. F. (2004). Direct inhibition of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore: a possible mechanism responsible for anti-apoptotic effects of melatonin. *EASEB Journal* 18(7), 869–871.
- ANDRIES, K., VERHASSELT, P., GUILLEMONT, J., GOHLMANN, H. W., NEEFS, J. M., WINKLER, H., VAN GESTEL, J., TIMMERMAN, P., ZHU, M., LEE, E., WILLIAMS, P., DE CHAFFOY, D., HUITRIC, E., HOFFNER, S., CAMBAU, E., et al. (2005). A diarylquinoline drug active on the ATP synthase of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Science* **307**(5707), 223–227.
- ANTONIEL, M., JONES, K., ANTONUCCI, S., SPOLAORE, B., FOGOLARI, F., PETRONILLI, V., GIORGIO, V., CARRARO, M., DI LISA, F., FORTE, M., SZABO, I., LIPPE, G. & BERNARDI, P. (2018). The unique histidine in OSCP subunit of F-ATP synthase mediates inhibition of the permeability transition pore by acidic pH. *EMBO Reports* 19(2), 257–268.
- ARNOLD, L. W., MCCRAY, S. K., TATU, C. & CLARKE, S. H. (2000). Identification of a precursor to phosphatidyl choline-specific B-1 cells suggesting that B-1 cells differentiate from splenic conventional B cells in vivo: Cyclosporin A blocks differentiation to B-1. *Journal of Immunology* 164(6), 2924–2930.
- ASSALY, R., DE TASSIGNY, A., PARADIS, S., JACQUIN, S., BERDEAUX, A. & MORIN, D. (2012). Oxidative stress, mitochondrial permeability transition pore opening and cell death during hypoxia-reoxygenation in adult cardiomyocytes. *European Journal of Pharmacology* 675(1–3), 6–14.
- ATAR, D., ARHEDEN, H., BERDEAUX, A., BONNET, J. L., CARLSSON, M., CLEMMENSEN, P., CUVIER, V., DANCHIN, N., DUBOIS-RANDE, J. L., ENGBLOM, H., ERLINGE, D., FIRAT, H., HALVORSEN, S., HANNEN, H. S., HAUKE, W., et al. (2015). Effect of intravenous TRO40303 as an adjunct to primary percutaneous coronary intervention for acute ST-elevation myocardial infarction: MITOCARE study results. *European Heart Journal* 36(2), 112–119.
- AUSTIN, S. & NOWIKOVSKY, K. (2019). LETM1: essential for mitochondrial biology and cation homeostasis? *Trends in Biochemical Sciences* 44(8), 648–658.

- AYOUB, I. M., RADHAKRISHNAN, J. & GAZMURI, R. J. (2017). In vivo opening of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore in a rat model of ventricular fibrillation and closed-chest resuscitation. *American Journal of Translational Research* 9(7), 3345– 3359.
- AZARASHVILI, T., ODINOKOVA, I., BAKUNTS, A., TERNOVSKY, V., KRESTININA, O., TYYNELA, J. & SARIS, N. E. (2014). Potential role of subunit c of F0F1-ATPase and subunit c of storage body in the mitochondrial permeability transition. Effect of the phosphorylation status of subunit c on pore opening. *Cell Calcium* 55(2), 69–77.
- AZZI, A. & AZZONE, G. F. (1965a). Swelling and shrinkage phenomena in liver mitochondria. I. Large amplitude swelling induced by inorganic phosphate and by ATP. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 105(2), 253–264.
- AZZI, A. & AZZONE, G. F. (1965b). Swelling and shrinkage phenomena in liver mitochondria. II. Low amplitude swelling-shrinkage cycles. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 105(2), 265–278.
- AZZI, A. & AZZONE, G. F. (1966). Swelling and shrinkage phenomena in liver mitochondria. III. Irreversible swelling induced by inorganic phosphate and Ca²⁺. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 113(3), 438–444.
- BAINES, C. P., KAISER, R. A., SHEIKO, T., CRAIGEN, W. J. & MOLKENTIN, J. D. (2007). Voltage-dependent anion channels are dispensable for mitochondrialdependent cell death. *Nature Cell Biology* 9(5), 550–555.
- BASSI, M. T., MANZONI, M., BRESCIANI, R., PIZZO, M. T., DELLA MONICA, A., BARLATI, S., MONTI, E. & BORSANI, G. (2005). Cellular expression and alternative splicing of SLC25A23, a member of the mitochondrial Ca²⁺dependent solute carrier gene family. *Gene* **345**(2), 173–182.
- BASSO, E., FANTE, L., FOWLKES, J., PETRONILLI, V., FORTE, M. A. & BERNARDI, P. (2005). Properties of the permeability transition pore in mitochondria devoid of Cyclophilin D. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 280(19), 18558–18561.
- BAUER, T. M. & MURPHY, E. (2020). Role of mitochondrial calcium and the permeability transition pore in regulating cell death. *Circulation Research* 126(2), 280–293.
- BAUGHMAN, J. M., PEROCCHI, F., GIRGIS, H. S., PLOVANICH, M., BELCHER-TIMME, C. A., SANCAK, Y., BAO, X. R., STRITTMATTER, L., GOLDBERGER, O., BOGORAD, R. L., KOTELIANSKY, V. & MOOTHA, V. K. (2011). Integrative genomics identifies MCU as an essential component of the mitochondrial calcium uniporter. *Nature* 476(7360), 341–345.
- BECKER, T. & WAGNER, R. (2018). Mitochondrial outer membrane channels: emerging diversity in transport processes. *BioEssays* 40(7), e1800013.
- BELOSLUDTSEV, K. N., DUBININ, M. V., BELOSLUDTSEVA, N. V. & MIRONOVA, G. D. (2019). Mitochondrial Ca²⁺ transport: mechanisms, molecular structures, and role in cells. *Biochemistry (Moscow)* 84(6), 593–607.
- BERNARDES, C. F., MEYER-FERNANDES, J. R., BASSERES, D. S., CASTILHO, R. F. & VERCESI, A. E. (1994). Ca(2+)-dependent permeabilization of the inner mitochondrial membrane by 4,4'-diisothiocyanatostilbene-2,2'-disulfonic acid (DIDS). *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 1188(1–2), 93–100.
- BERNARDI, P., RASOLA, A., FORTE, M. & LIPPE, G. (2015). The mitochondrial permeability transition pore: channel formation by F-ATP synthase, integration in signal transduction, and role in pathophysiology. *Physiological Reviews* 95(4), 1111–1155.
- BERNARDI, P., VASSANELLI, S., VERONESE, P., COLONNA, R., SZABO, I. & ZORATTI, M. (1992). Modulation of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore. Effect of protons and divalent cations. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 267(5), 2934–2939.
- BERNARDI, P. & VON STOCKUM, S. (2012). The permeability transition pore as a Ca (2+) release channel: new answers to an old question. *Cell Calcium* 52(1), 22–27.
- BERNARDO, T. C., CUNHA-OLIVEIRA, T., SERAFIM, T. L., HOLY, J., KRASUTSKY, D., KOLOMITSYNA, O., KRASUTSKY, P., MORENO, A. M. & OLIVEIRA, P. J. (2013). Dimethylaminopyridine derivatives of lupane triterpenoids cause mitochondrial disruption and induce the permeability transition. *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry* 21(23), 7239–7249.
- BERTERO, E. & MAACK, C. (2018). Calcium signaling and reactive oxygen species in mitochondria. *Circulation Research* 122(10), 1460–1478.
- BEUTNER, G., RUCK, A., RIEDE, B. & BRDICZKA, D. (1998). Complexes between porin, hexokinase, mitochondrial creatine kinase and adenylate translocator display properties of the permeability transition pore. Implication for regulation of permeability transition by the kinases. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 1368(1), 7–18.
- BEUTNER, G., RUCK, A., RIEDE, B., WELTE, W. & BRDICZKA, D. (1996). Complexes between kinases, mitochondrial porin and adenylate translocator in rat brain resemble the permeability transition pore. *FEBS Letters* 396(2–3), 189–195.
- BEUTNER, G., SHARMA, V. K., GIOVANNUCCI, D. R., YULE, D. I. & SHEU, S. S. (2001). Identification of a ryanodine receptor in rat heart mitochondria. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 276(24), 21482–21488.
- BEUTNER, G., SHARMA, V. K., LIN, L., RYU, S. Y., DIRKSEN, R. T. & SHEU, S. S. (2005). Type 1 ryanodine receptor in cardiac mitochondria: transducer of excitation-metabolism coupling. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 1717(1), 1–10.
- BHAT, M. B., HAYEK, S. M., ZHAO, J., ZANG, W., TAKESHIMA, H., WIER, W. G. & MA, J. (1999). Expression and functional characterization of the cardiac muscle ryanodine receptor Ca(2+) release channel in Chinese hamster ovary cells. *Biophysical Journal* 77(2), 808–816.

Biological Reviews (2021) 000-000 © 2021 Cambridge Philosophical Society

- BHOSALE, G., SHARPE, J. A., SUNDIER, S. Y. & DUCHEN, M. R. (2015). Calcium signaling as a mediator of cell energy demand and a trigger to cell death. *Annals of* the New York Academy of Sciences 1350, 107–116.
- BIASUTTO, L., AZZOLINI, M., SZABO, I. & ZORATTI, M. (2016). The mitochondrial permeability transition pore in AD 2016: an update. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 1863(10), 2515–2530.
- BOITANO, A., ELLMAN, J. A., GLICK, G. D. & OPIPARI, A. W. JR. (2003). The proapoptotic benzodiazepine Bz-423 affects the growth and survival of malignant B cells. *Cancer Research* 63(20), 6870–6876.
- BONORA, M., BONONI, A., DE MARCHI, E., GIORGI, C., LEBIEDZINSKA, M., MARCHI, S., PATERGNANI, S., RIMESSI, A., SUSKI, J. M., WOJTALA, A., WIECKOWSKI, M. R., KROEMER, G., GALLUZZI, L. & PINTON, P. (2013). Role of the c subunit of the FO ATP synthase in mitochondrial permeability transition. *Cell Cycle* 12(4), 674–683.
- BONORA, M., MORGANTI, C., MORCIANO, G., GIORGI, C., WIECKOWSKI, M. R. & PINTON, P. (2016). Comprehensive analysis of mitochondrial permeability transition pore activity in living cells using fluorescence-imaging-based techniques. *Nature Protocols* 11(6), 1067–1080.
- BONORA, M., MORGANTI, C., MORCIANO, G., PEDRIALI, G., LEBIEDZINSKA-ARCISZEWSKA, M., AQUILA, G., GIORGI, C., RIZZO, P., CAMPO, G., FERRARI, R., KROEMER, G., WIECKOWSKI, M. R., GALLUZZI, L. & PINTON, P. (2017). Mitochondrial permeability transition involves dissociation of F1FO ATP synthase dimers and C-ring conformation. *EMBO Reports* 18(7), 1077–1089.
- BORUTAITE, V., JEKABSONE, A., MORKUNIENE, R. & BROWN, G. C. (2003). Inhibition of mitochondrial permeability transition prevents mitochondrial dysfunction, cytochrome c release and apoptosis induced by heart ischemia. *Journal* of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology 35(4), 357–366.
- BRENNER, C., CADIOU, H., VIEIRA, H. L., ZAMZAMI, N., MARZO, I., XIE, Z., LEBER, B., ANDREWS, D., DUCLOHIER, H., REED, J. C. & KROEMER, G. (2000). Bcl-2 and Bax regulate the channel activity of the mitochondrial adenine nucleotide translocator. *Oncogene* 19(3), 329–336.
- BRENNER, C. & MOULIN, M. (2012). Physiological roles of the permeability transition pore. *Circulation Research* 111(9), 1237–1247.
- BRISTON, T., ROBERTS, M., LEWIS, S., POWNEY, B., STADDON, J. M., SZABADKAI, G. & DUCHEN, M. R. (2017). Mitochondrial permeability transition pore: sensitivity to opening and mechanistic dependence on substrate availability. *Scientific Reports* 7(1), 10492.
- BRISTON, T., SELWOOD, D. L., SZABADKAI, G. & DUCHEN, M. R. (2019). Mitochondrial permeability transition: a molecular lesion with multiple drug targets. *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences* 40(1), 50–70.
- BRITTI, E., DELASPRE, F., TAMARIT, J. & ROS, J. (2018). Mitochondrial calcium signalling and neurodegenerative diseases. *Neuronal Signaling* 2(4), NS20180061.
- BROEKEMEIER, K. M., DEMPSEY, M. E. & PFEIFFER, D. R. (1989). Cyclosporin A is a potent inhibitor of the inner membrane permeability transition in liver mitochondria. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 264(14), 7826–7830.
- BRUSTOVETSKY, N. & KLINGENBERG, M. (1996). Mitochondrial ADP/ATP carrier can be reversibly converted into a large channel by Ca²⁺. *Biochemistry* **35**(26), 8483–8488.
- BRUSTOVETSKY, N., TROPSCHUG, M., HEIMPEL, S., HEIDKAMPER, D. & KLINGENBERG, M. (2002). A large Ca²⁺-dependent channel formed by recombinant ADP/ATP carrier from *Neurospora crassa* resembles the mitochondrial permeability transition pore. *Biochemistry* **41**(39), 11804–11811.
- BUCHELER, K., ADAMS, V. & BRDICZKA, D. (1991). Localization of the ATP/ADP translocator in the inner membrane and regulation of contact sites between mitochondrial envelope membranes by ADP. A study on freeze-fractured isolated liver mitochondria. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* **1056**(3), 233–242.
- BURGOYNE, J. R., MONGUE-DIN, H., EATON, P. & SHAH, A. M. (2012). Redox signaling in cardiac physiology and pathology. *Circulation Research* 111(8), 1091–1106.
- CAMPELLO, S., DE MARCHI, U., SZABO, I., TOMBOLA, F., MARTINOU, J. C. & ZORATTI, M. (2005). The properties of the mitochondrial megachannel in mitoplasts from human colon carcinoma cells are not influenced by Bax. *FEBS Letters* 579(17), 3695–3700.
- CARAFOLI, E., TIOZZO, R., LUGLI, G., CROVETTI, F. & KRATZING, C. (1974). The release of calcium from heart mitochondria by sodium. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology* **6**(4), 361–371.
- CARRARO, M., GIORGIO, V., SILEIKYTE, J., SARTORI, G., FORTE, M., LIPPE, G., ZORATTI, M., SZABO, I. & BERNARDI, P. (2014). Channel formation by yeast F-ATP synthase and the role of dimerization in the mitochondrial permeability transition. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 289(23), 15980–15985.
- CARRARO, M., JONES, K., SARTORI, G., SCHIAVONE, M., ANTONUCCI, S., KUCHARCZYK, R., DI RAGO, J. P., FRANCHIN, C., ARRIGONI, G., FORTE, M. & BERNARDI, P. (2020). The unique cysteine of F-ATP synthase OSCP subunit participates in modulation of the permeability transition pore. *Cell Reports* 32(9), 108095.
- CARROLL, J., HE, J., DING, S., FEARNLEY, I. M. & WALKER, J. E. (2019). Persistence of the permeability transition pore in human mitochondria devoid of an assembled

ATP synthase. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 116(26), 12816–12821.

- CARVALHO, F. S., MORAIS, C. M., HOLY, J., KRASUTSKY, D., YEMETS, S. V., KRASUTSKY, P. A., JURADO, A. S., OLIVEIRA, P. J. & SERAFIM, T. L. (2018). Toxicity of lupane derivatives on anionic membrane models, isolated rat mitochondria and selected human cell lines: role of terminal alkyl chains. *Chemico-Biological Interactions* 296, 198–210.
- CASTILLO, E. C., MORALES, J. A., CHAPOY-VILLANUEVA, H., SILVA-PLATAS, C., TREVINO-SALDANA, N., GUERRERO-BELTRAN, C. E., BERNAL-RAMIREZ, J., TORRES-QUINTANILLA, A., GARCIA, N., YOUKER, K., TORRE-AMIONE, G. & GARCIA-RIVAS, G. (2019). Mitochondrial hyperacetylation in the failing hearts of obese patients mediated partly by a reduction in SIRT3: the involvement of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore. *Cellular Physiology and Biochemistry* 53(3), 465–479.
- CHANCE, B. & PACKER, L. (1958). Light-scattering and absorption effects caused by addition of adenosine diphosphate to rat-heart-muscle sarcosomes. *Biochemical Journal* 68(2), 295–297.
- CHEN, M. W., SANTOS, P., KULIKOWICZ, E., KOEHLER, R. C., LEE, J. K. & MARTIN, L. J. (2021). Targeting the mitochondrial permeability transition pore for neuroprotection in a piglet model of neonatal hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy. *Journal of Neuroscience Research* 99(6), 1550–1564.
- CHENG, E. H., SHEIKO, T. V., FISHER, J. K., CRAIGEN, W. J. & KORSMEYER, S. J. (2003). VDAC2 inhibits BAK activation and mitochondrial apoptosis. *Science* 301 (5632), 513–517.
- CLARKE, S. J., MCSTAY, G. P. & HALESTRAP, A. P. (2002). Sanglifehrin a acts as a potent inhibitor of the mitochondrial permeability transition and reperfusion injury of the heart by binding to cyclophilin-D at a different site from Cyclosporin A. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 277(38), 34793–34799.
- COELHO, L. A., PERES, R., AMARAL, F. G., REITER, R. J. & CIPOLLA-NETO, J. (2015). Daily differential expression of melatonin-related genes and clock genes in rat cumulus-oocyte complex: changes after pinealectomy. *Journal of Pineal Research* 58 (4), 490–499.
- COLOMBINI, M. & MANNELLA, C. A. (2012). VDAC, the early days. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 1818(6), 1438–1443.
- CONNERN, C. P. & HALESTRAP, A. P. (1994). Recruitment of mitochondrial cyclophilin to the mitochondrial inner membrane under conditions of oxidative stress that enhance the opening of a calcium-sensitive non-specific channel. *Biochemical Journal* **302**(Pt 2), 321–324.
- COUR, M., LOUFOUAT, J., PAILLARD, M., AUGEUL, L., GOUDABLE, J., OVIZE, M. & ARGAUD, L. (2011). Inhibition of mitochondrial permeability transition to prevent the post-cardiac arrest syndrome: a pre-clinical study. *European Heart Journal* 32(2), 226–235.
- CROMPTON, M. (1999). The mitochondrial permeability transition pore and its role in cell death. *Biochemical Journal* 341(Pt 2), 233–249.
- CROMPTON, M., COSTI, A. & HAYAT, L. (1987). Evidence for the presence of a reversible Ca²⁺-dependent pore activated by oxidative stress in heart mitochondria. *Biochemical Journal* **245**(3), 915–918.
- CSORDAS, G., GOLENAR, T., SEIFERT, E. L., KAMER, K. J., SANCAK, Y., PEROCCHI, F., MOFFAT, C., WEAVER, D., DE LA FUENTE PEREZ, S., BOGORAD, R., KOTELIANSKY, V., ADIJANTO, J., MOOTHA, V. K. & HAJNOCZKY, G. (2013). MICU1 controls both the threshold and cooperative activation of the mitochondrial Ca(2)(+) uniporter. *Cell Metabolism* 17(6), 976–987.
- CUI, C., YANG, J., FU, L., WANG, M. & WANG, X. (2019). Progress in understanding mitochondrial calcium uniporter complex-mediated calcium signalling: a potential target for cancer treatment. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 176(9), 1190–1205.
- CUNG, T. T., MOREL, O., CAYLA, G., RIOUFOL, G., GARCIA-DORADO, D., ANGOULVANT, D., BONNEFOY-CUDRAZ, E., GUERIN, P., ELBAZ, M., DELARCHE, N., COSTE, P., VANZETTO, G., METGE, M., AUPETIT, J. F., JOUVE, B., et al. (2015). Cyclosporine before PCI in patients with acute myocardial infarction. *New England Journal of Medicine* **373**(11), 1021–1031.
- DA CRUZ, S., DE MARCHI, U., FRIEDEN, M., PARONE, P. A., MARTINOU, J. C. & DEMAUREX, N. (2010). SLP-2 negatively modulates mitochondrial sodiumcalcium exchange. *Cell Calcium* 47(1), 11–18.
- DAUM, B., WALTER, A., HORST, A., OSIEWACZ, H. D. & KUHLBRANDT, W. (2013). Age-dependent dissociation of ATP synthase dimers and loss of inner-membrane cristae in mitochondria. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States* of America 110(38), 15301–15306.
- DAVIDSON, A. M. & HALESTRAP, A. P. (1987). Liver mitochondrial pyrophosphate concentration is increased by Ca²⁺ and regulates the intramitochondrial volume and adenine nucleotide content. *Biochemical Journal* 246(3), 715–723.
- DAVIES, W. R., WANG, S., OI, K., BAILEY, K. R., TAZELAAR, H. D., CAPLICE, N. M. & MCGREGOR, C. G. (2005). Cyclosporine decreases vascular progenitor cell numbers after cardiac transplantation and attenuates progenitor cell growth in vitro. *The Journal of Heart and Lung Transplantation* 24(11), 1868–1877.
- DAVIS, T. L., WALKER, J. R., CAMPAGNA-SLATER, V., FINERTY, P. J., PARAMANATHAN, R., BERNSTEIN, G., MACKENZIE, F., TEMPEL, W.,

OUYANG, H., LEE, W. H., EISENMESSER, E. Z. & DHE-PAGANON, S. (2010). Structural and biochemical characterization of the human cyclophilin family of peptidyl-prolyl isomerases. *PLoS Biology* 8(7), e1000439.

- DE GIORGI, F., LARTIGUE, L., BAUER, M. K., SCHUBERT, A., GRIMM, S., HANSON, G. T., REMINGTON, S. J., YOULE, R. J. & ICHAS, F. (2002). The permeability transition pore signals apoptosis by directing Bax translocation and multimerization. *FASEB Journal* 16(6), 607–609.
- DE MARCHI, E., BONORA, M., GIORGI, C. & PINTON, P. (2014a). The mitochondrial permeability transition pore is a dispensable element for mitochondrial calcium efflux. *Cell Calcium* 56(1), 1–13.
- DE MARCHI, U., BASSO, E., SZABO, I. & ZORATTI, M. (2006). Electrophysiological characterization of the Cyclophilin D-deleted mitochondrial permeability transition pore. *Molecular Membrane Biology* 23(6), 521–530.
- DE MARCHI, U., SANTO-DOMINGO, J., CASTELBOU, C., SEKLER, I., WIEDERKEHR, A. & DEMAUREX, N. (2014b). NCLX protein, but not LETM1, mediates mitochondrial Ca²⁺ extrusion, thereby limiting Ca²⁺-induced NAD(P)H production and modulating matrix redox state. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 289 (29), 20377–20385.
- DE PINTO, V., GUARINO, F., GUARNERA, A., MESSINA, A., REINA, S., TOMASELLO, F. M., PALERMO, V. & MAZZONI, C. (2010). Characterization of human VDAC isoforms: a peculiar function for VDAC3? *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 1797(6–7), 1268–1275.
- DE STEFANI, D., RAFFAELLO, A., TEARDO, E., SZABO, I. & RIZZUTO, R. (2011). A forty-kilodalton protein of the inner membrane is the mitochondrial calcium uniporter. *Nature* 476(7360), 336–340.
- DECKER, G. L. & GREENAWALT, J. W. (1977). Ultrastructural and biochemical studies of mitoplasts and outer membranes derived from French-pressed mitochondria. Advances in mitochondrial subfractionation. *Journal of Ultrastructure Research* **59**(1), 44–56.
- DEDKOVA, E. N. & BLATTER, L. A. (2008). Mitochondrial Ca²⁺ and the heart. *Cell Calcium* 44(1), 77–91.
- DEL RE, D. P., AMGALAN, D., LINKERMANN, A., LIU, Q. & KITSIS, R. N. (2019). Fundamental mechanisms of regulated cell death and implications for heart disease. *Physiological Reviews* 99(4), 1765–1817.
- DELIERNEUX, C., KOUBA, S., SHANMUGHAPRIYA, S., POTIER-CARTEREAU, M., TREBAK, M. & HEMPEL, N. (2020). Mitochondrial calcium regulation of redox signaling in cancer. *Cell* **9**(2), 432.
- DELUCA, H. F. & ENGSTROM, G. W. (1961). Calcium uptake by rat kidney mitochondria. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 47, 1744–1750.
- DEVALARAJA-NARASHIMHA, K., DIENER, A. M. & PADANILAM, B. J. (2009). Cyclophilin D gene ablation protects mice from ischemic renal injury. *American Journal of Physiology-Renal Physiology* 297(3), F749–F759.
- DHINGRA, R., GUBERMAN, M., RABINOVICH-NIKITIN, I., GERSTEIN, J., MARGULETS, V., GANG, H., MADDEN, N., THLIVERIS, J. & KIRSHENBAUM, L. A. (2020). Impaired NF-kappaB signalling underlies cyclophilin D-mediated mitochondrial permeability transition pore opening in doxorubicin cardiomyopathy. *Cardiovascular Research* 116(6), 1161–1174.
- DI LISA, F., MENABO, R., CANTON, M., BARILE, M. & BERNARDI, P. (2001). Opening of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore causes depletion of mitochondrial and cytosolic NAD+ and is a causative event in the death of myocytes in postischemic reperfusion of the heart. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **276**(4), 2571–2575.
- DING, Y., FANG, H., SHANG, W., XIAO, Y., SUN, T., HOU, N., PAN, L., SUN, X., MA, Q., ZHOU, J., WANG, X., ZHANG, X. & CHENG, H. (2015). Mitoflash altered by metabolic stress in insulin-resistant skeletal muscle. *Journal of Molecular Medicine* (*Berlin*) 93(10), 1119–1130.
- DU, H., GUO, L., FANG, F., CHEN, D., SOSUNOV, A. A., MCKHANN, G. M., YAN, Y., WANG, C., ZHANG, H., MOLKENTIN, J. D., GUNN-MOORE, F. J., VONSATTEL, J. P., ARANCIO, O., CHEN, J. X. & YAN, S. D. (2008). Cyclophilin D deficiency attenuates mitochondrial and neuronal perturbation and ameliorates learning and memory in Alzheimer's disease. *Nature Medicine* 14(10), 1097–1105.
- DUMAS, J. F., ARGAUD, L., COTTET-ROUSSELLE, C., VIAL, G., GONZALEZ, C., DETAILLE, D., LEVERVE, X. & FONTAINE, E. (2009). Effect of transient and permanent permeability transition pore opening on NAD(P)H localization in intact cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 284(22), 15117–15125.
- EIRIN, A., LI, Z., ZHANG, X., KRIER, J. D., WOOLLARD, J. R., ZHU, X. Y., TANG, H., HERRMANN, S. M., LERMAN, A., TEXTOR, S. C. & LERMAN, L. O. (2012). A mitochondrial permeability transition pore inhibitor improves renal outcomes after revascularization in experimental atherosclerotic renal artery stenosis. *Hypertension* **60**(5), 1242–1249.
- ELROD, J. W. & MOLKENTIN, J. D. (2013). Physiologic functions of cyclophilin D and the mitochondrial permeability transition pore. *Circulation Journal* 77(5), 1111–1122.
- ELROD, J. W., WONG, R., MISHRA, S., VAGNOZZI, R. J., SAKTHIEVEL, B., GOONASEKERA, S. A., KARCH, J., GABEL, S., FARBER, J., FORCE, T., BROWN, J. H., MURPHY, E. & MOLKENTIN, J. D. (2010). Cyclophilin D controls mitochondrial pore-dependent Ca(2+) exchange, metabolic flexibility,

and propensity for heart failure in mice. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* **120**(10), 3680–3687.

- ELUSTONDO, P. A., NICHOLS, M., NEGODA, A., THIRUMARAN, A., ZAKHARIAN, E., ROBERTSON, G. S. & PAVLOV, E. V. (2016). Mitochondrial permeability transition pore induction is linked to formation of the complex of ATPase C-subunit, polyhydroxybutyrate and inorganic polyphosphate. *Cell Death Discovery* 2, 16070.
- ELUSTONDO, P. A., NICHOLS, M., ROBERTSON, G. S. & PAVLOV, E. V. (2017). Mitochondrial Ca(2+) uptake pathways. *Journal of Bioenergetics and Biomembranes* 49 (1), 113–119.
- ESKES, R., ANTONSSON, B., OSEN-SAND, A., MONTESSUIT, S., RICHTER, C., SADOUL, R., MAZZEI, G., NICHOLS, A. & MARTINOU, J. C. (1998). Bax-induced cytochrome C release from mitochondria is independent of the permeability transition pore but highly dependent on Mg²⁺ ions. *Journal of Cell Biology* 143(1), 217–224.
- ESPINO, J., BEJARANO, I., REDONDO, P. C., ROSADO, J. A., BARRIGA, C., REITER, R. J., PARIENTE, J. A. & RODRIGUEZ, A. B. (2010). Melatonin reduces apoptosis induced by calcium signaling in human leukocytes: evidence for the involvement of mitochondria and Bax activation. *Journal of Membrane Biology* 233(1– 3), 105–118.
- FANG, Y., ZHAO, C., XIANG, H., JIA, G. & ZHONG, R. (2020). Melatonin improves cryopreservation of ram sperm by inhibiting mitochondrial permeability transition pore opening. *Reproduction in Domestic Animals* 55(9), 1240–1249.
- FANG, Y., ZHAO, C., XIANG, H., ZHAO, X. & ZHONG, R. (2019). Melatonin inhibits formation of mitochondrial permeability transition pores and improves oxidative phosphorylation of frozen-thawed ram sperm. *Frontiers in Endocrinology* **10**, 896.
- FAYAZ, S. M., RAJ, Y. V. & KRISHNAMURTHY, R. G. (2015). CypD: the key to the death door. CNS & Neurological Disorders - Drug Targets 14(5), 654–663.
- FENIOUK, B. A., SUZUKI, T. & YOSHIDA, M. (2006). The role of subunit epsilon in the catalysis and regulation of FOF1-ATP synthase. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 1757(5– 6), 326–338.
- FOLMES, C. D., DZEJA, P. P., NELSON, T. J. & TERZIC, A. (2012). Mitochondria in control of cell fate. *Circulation Research* 110(4), 526–529.
- FONTAINE, E., ICHAS, F. & BERNARDI, P. (1998). A ubiquinone-binding site regulates the mitochondrial permeability transition pore. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 273(40), 25734–25740.
- FOSKETT, J. K. (2020). Uncorking MCU to let the calcium flow. *Cell Calcium* 91, 102257.
- FRIEDMAN, J. R., LACKNER, L. L., WEST, M., DIBENEDETTO, J. R., NUNNARI, J. & VOELTZ, G. K. (2011). ER tubules mark sites of mitochondrial division. *Science* 334 (6054), 358–362.
- GAINUTDINOV, T., MOLKENTIN, J. D., SIEMEN, D., ZIEMER, M., DEBSKA-VIELHABER, G., VIELHABER, S., GIZATULLINA, Z., ORVNBAYEVA, Z. & GELLERICH, F. N. (2015). Knockout of cyclophilin D in Ppif(-)/(-) mice increases stability of brain mitochondria against Ca(2)(+) stress. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics 579, 40–46.
- GANDHI, S., WOOD-KACZMAR, A., YAO, Z., PLUN-FAVREAU, H., DEAS, E., KLUPSCH, K., DOWNWARD, J., LATCHMAN, D. S., TABRIZI, S. J., WOOD, N. W., DUCHEN, M. R. & ABRAMOV, A. Y. (2009). PINK1-associated Parkinson's disease is caused by neuronal vulnerability to calcium-induced cell death. *Molecular Cell* 33 (5), 627–638.
- GAO, Q., ZHAO, J., FAN, Z., BAO, J., SUN, D., LI, H., SUN, C. & JIANG, X. (2017). Cardioprotective effect of danshensu against ischemic/reperfusion injury via csubunit of ATP synthase inhibition. *Evidence-based Complementary and Alternative Medicine* 2017, 7986184.
- GIACOMELLO, M., DRAGO, I., BORTOLOZZI, M., SCORZETO, M., GIANELLE, A., PIZZO, P. & POZZAN, T. (2010). Ca²⁺ hot spots on the mitochondrial surface are generated by Ca²⁺ mobilization from stores, but not by activation of storeoperated Ca²⁺ channels. *Molecular Cell* **38**(2), 280–290.
- GIANNINI, G., CONTI, A., MAMMARELLA, S., SCROBOGNA, M. & SORRENTINO, V. (1995). The ryanodine receptor/calcium channel genes are widely and differentially expressed in murine brain and peripheral tissues. *Journal of Cell Biology* 128(5), 893–904.
- GIORGI, C., DANESE, A., MISSIROLI, S., PATERGNANI, S. & PINTON, P. (2018a). Calcium dynamics as a machine for decoding signals. *Trends in Cell Biology* 28(4), 258–273.
- GIORGI, C., MARCHI, S. & PINTON, P. (2018b). The machineries, regulation and cellular functions of mitochondrial calcium. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* 19 (11), 713–730.
- GIORGI, C., MARCHI, S., SIMOES, I. C. M., REN, Z., MORCIANO, G., PERRONE, M., PATALAS-KRAWCZYK, P., BORCHARD, S., JEDRAK, P., PIERZYNOWSKA, K., SZYMANSKI, J., WANG, D. Q., PORTINCASA, P., WEGRZYN, G., ZISCHKA, H., DOBRZYN, P., et al. (2018c). Mitochondria and reactive oxygen species in aging and age-related diseases. *International Review of Cell and Molecular Biology* 340, 209–344.
- GIORGIO, V., BISETTO, E., SORIANO, M. E., DABBENI-SALA, F., BASSO, E., PETRONILLI, V., FORTE, M. A., BERNARDI, P. & LIPPE, G. (2009). Cyclophilin D modulates mitochondrial F0F1-ATP synthase by interacting with the lateral stalk of the complex. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 284(49), 33982–33988.

- GIORGIO, V., VON STOCKUM, S., ANTONIEL, M., FABBRO, A., FOGOLARI, F., FORTE, M., GLICK, G. D., PETRONILLI, V., ZORATTI, M., SZABO, I., LIPPE, G. & BERNARDI, P. (2013). Dimers of mitochondrial ATP synthase form the permeability transition pore. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the* United States of America 110(15), 5887–5892.
- GLASER, T., ARNAUD SAMPAIO, V. F., LAMEU, C. & ULRICH, H. (2019). Calcium signalling: a common target in neurological disorders and neurogenesis. *Seminars in Cell and Developmental Biology* 95, 25–33.
- GOGVADZE, V., ROBERTSON, J. D., ZHIVOTOVSKY, B. & ORRENIUS, S. (2001). Cytochrome c release occurs via Ca²⁺-dependent and Ca²⁺-independent mechanisms that are regulated by Bax. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **276**(22), 19066–19071.
- GOMEZ, L., LI, B., MEWTON, N., SANCHEZ, I., PIOT, C., ELBAZ, M. & OVIZE, M. (2009). Inhibition of mitochondrial permeability transition pore opening: translation to patients. *Cardiovascular Research* 83(2), 226–233.
- GOMEZ, L., THIBAULT, H., GHARIB, A., DUMONT, J. M., VUAGNIAUX, G., SCALFARO, P., DERUMEAUX, G. & OVIZE, M. (2007). Inhibition of mitochondrial permeability transition improves functional recovery and reduces mortality following acute myocardial infarction in mice. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart* and Circulatory Physiology 293(3), H1654–H1661.
- GONZALEZ-MONTERO, J., BRITO, R., GAJARDO, A. I. & RODRIGO, R. (2018). Myocardial reperfusion injury and oxidative stress: therapeutic opportunities. World Journal of Cardiology 10(9), 74–86.
- GOODELL, S. & CORTOPASSI, G. (1998). Analysis of oxygen consumption and mitochondrial permeability with age in mice. *Mechanisms of Ageing and Development* 101(3), 245–256.
- GRANATIERO, V., KONRAD, C., BREDVIK, K., MANFREDI, G. & KAWAMATA, H. (2019). Nrf2 signaling links ER oxidative protein folding and calcium homeostasis in health and disease. *Life Science Alliance* **2**(5), e201900563.
- GRIFFITHS, E. J. & HALESTRAP, A. P. (1995). Mitochondrial non-specific pores remain closed during cardiac ischaemia, but open upon reperfusion. *Biochemical Journal* 307(Pt 1), 93–98.
- GUNTER, K. K., ZUSCIK, M. J. & GUNTER, T. E. (1991). The Na(+)-independent Ca²⁺ efflux mechanism of liver mitochondria is not a passive Ca²⁺/2H⁺ exchanger. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **266**(32), 21640–21648.
- GUNTER, T. E. & GUNTER, K. K. (2001). Uptake of calcium by mitochondria: transport and possible function. *IUBMB Life* 52(3–5), 197–204.
- GUNTER, T. E. & PFEIFFER, D. R. (1990). Mechanisms by which mitochondria transport calcium. American Journal of Physiology 258(5 Pt 1), C755–C786.
- GUNTER, T. E., YULE, D. I., GUNTER, K. K., ELISEEV, R. A. & SALTER, J. D. (2004). Calcium and mitochondria. *FEBS Letters* 567(1), 96–102.
- GUPTE, S., WU, E. S., HOECHLI, L., HOECHLI, M., JACOBSON, K., SOWERS, A. E. & HACKENBROCK, C. R. (1984). Relationship between lateral diffusion, collision frequency, and electron transfer of mitochondrial inner membrane oxidationreduction components. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States* of America 81(9), 2606–2610.
- GUTIERREZ-AGUILAR, M., DOUGLAS, D. L., GIBSON, A. K., DOMEIER, T. L., MOLKENTIN, J. D. & BAINES, C. P. (2014). Genetic manipulation of the cardiac mitochondrial phosphate carrier does not affect permeability transition. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology* **72**, 316–325.
- HACKENBROCK, C. R., REHN, T. G., WEINBACH, E. C. & LEMASTERS, J. J. (1971). Oxidative phosphorylation and ultrastructural transformation in mitochondria in the intact ascites tumor cell. *Journal of Cell Biology* **51**(1), 123–137.
- HALESTRAP, A. P. (1991). Calcium-dependent opening of a non-specific pore in the mitochondrial inner membrane is inhibited at pH values below 7. Implications for the protective effect of low pH against chemical and hypoxic cell damage. *Biochemical Journal* 278(Pt 3), 715–719.
- HALESTRAP, A. P. (2006). Calcium, mitochondria and reperfusion injury: a pore way to die. *Biochemical Society Transactions* 34(Pt 2), 232–237.
- HALESTRAP, A. P. (2009). What is the mitochondrial permeability transition pore? *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology* 46(6), 821–831.
- HALESTRAP, A. P. & DAVIDSON, A. M. (1990). Inhibition of Ca2(+)-induced largeamplitude swelling of liver and heart mitochondria by cyclosporin is probably caused by the inhibitor binding to mitochondrial-matrix peptidyl-prolyl cis-trans isomerase and preventing it interacting with the adenine nucleotide translocase. *Biochemical Tournal* 268(1), 153–160.
- HALESTRAP, A. P., WOODFIELD, K. Y. & CONNERN, C. P. (1997). Oxidative stress, thiol reagents, and membrane potential modulate the mitochondrial permeability transition by affecting nucleotide binding to the adenine nucleotide translocase. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 272(6), 3346–3354.
- HANSSON, M. J., MATTIASSON, G., MANSSON, R., KARLSSON, J., KEEP, M. F., WALDMEIER, P., RUEGG, U. T., DUMONT, J. M., BESSEGHIR, K. & ELMER, E. (2004). The nonimmunosuppressive cyclosporin analogs NIM811 and UNIL025 display nanomolar potencies on permeability transition in brain-derived mitochondria. *Journal of Biomergetics and Biomembranes* 36(4), 407–413.
- HARMAN, J. W. & FEIGELSON, M. (1952). Studies on mitochondria:: V. The relationship of structure and oxidative phosphorylation in mitochondria of heart muscle. *Experimental Cell Research* 3, 509–525.

- HAUSENLOY, D., WYNNE, A., DUCHEN, M. & YELLON, D. (2004). Transient mitochondrial permeability transition pore opening mediates preconditioninginduced protection. *Circulation* 109(14), 1714–1717.
- HAUSENLOY, D. J., DUCHEN, M. R. & YELLON, D. M. (2003). Inhibiting mitochondrial permeability transition pore opening at reperfusion protects against ischaemia-reperfusion injury. *Cardiovascular Research* **60**(3), 617–625.
- HAUSENLOY, D. J., LIM, S. Y., ONG, S. G., DAVIDSON, S. M. & YELLON, D. M. (2010). Mitochondrial cyclophilin-D as a critical mediator of ischaemic preconditioning. *Cardiovascular Research* 88(1), 67–74.
- HAUSENLOY, D. J., SCHULZ, R., GIRAO, H., KWAK, B. R., DE STEFANI, D., RIZZUTO, R., BERNARDI, P. & DI LISA, F. (2020). Mitochondrial ion channels as targets for cardioprotection. *Journal of Cellular and Molecular Medicine* 24(13), 7102– 7114.
- HAWORTH, R. A. & HUNTER, D. R. (1979). The Ca²⁺-induced membrane transition in mitochondria. II. Nature of the Ca²⁺ trigger site. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics 195(2), 460–467.
- HAWORTH, R. A., HUNTER, D. R. & BERKOFF, H. A. (1980). Na⁺ releases Ca²⁺ from liver, kidney and lung mitochondria. *FEBS Letters* **110**(2), 216–218.
- HE, C., WANG, J., ZHANG, Z., YANG, M., LI, Y., TIAN, X., MA, T., TAO, J., ZHU, K., SONG, Y., JI, P. & LIU, G. (2016). Mitochondria synthesize melatonin to ameliorate its function and improve mice oocyte's quality under in vitro conditions. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 17(6), 939.
- HE, J., CARROLL, J., DING, S., FEARNLEY, I. M. & WALKER, J. E. (2017a). Permeability transition in human mitochondria persists in the absence of peripheral stalk subunits of ATP synthase. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **114**(34), 9086–9091.
- HE, J., FORD, H. C., CARROLL, J., DING, S., FEARNLEY, I. M. & WALKER, J. E. (2017b). Persistence of the mitochondrial permeability transition in the absence of subunit c of human ATP synthase. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the* United States of America 114(13), 3409–3414.
- HE, L. & LEMASTERS, J. J. (2002). Regulated and unregulated mitochondrial permeability transition pores: a new paradigm of pore structure and function? *FEBS Letters* 512(1–3), 1–7.
- HERST, P. M., ROWE, M. R., CARSON, G. M. & BERRIDGE, M. V. (2017). Functional mitochondria in health and disease. *Frontiers in Endocrinology (Lausanne)* 8, 296.
- HEVIA, D., SAINZ, R. M., BLANCO, D., QUIROS, I., TAN, D. X., RODRIGUEZ, C. & MAYO, J. C. (2008). Melatonin uptake in prostate cancer cells: intracellular transport versus simple passive diffusion. *Journal of Pineal Research* 45(3), 247–257.
- HOFFMAN, N. E., CHANDRAMOORTHY, H. C., SHANMUGHAPRIYA, S., ZHANG, X. Q., VALLEM, S., DOONAN, P. J., MALLIANKARAMAN, K., GUO, S., RAJAN, S., ELROD, J. W., KOCH, W. J., CHEUNG, J. Y. & MADESH, M. (2014). SLC25A23 augments mitochondrial Ca(2)(+) uptake, interacts with MCU, and induces oxidative stress-mediated cell death. *Molecular Biology of the Cell* 25(6), 936–947.
- HOM, J. R., QUINTANILLA, R. A., HOFFMAN, D. L., DE MESY BENTLEY, K. L., MOLKENTIN, J. D., SHEU, S. S. & PORTER, G. A. JR. (2011). The permeability transition pore controls cardiac mitochondrial maturation and myocyte differentiation. *Developmental Cell* 21(3), 469–478.
- HOU, Y., GHOSH, P., WAN, R., OUYANG, X., CHENG, H., MATTSON, M. P. & CHENG, A. (2014). Permeability transition pore-mediated mitochondrial superoxide flashes mediate an early inhibitory effect of amyloid beta1-42 on neural progenitor cell proliferation. *Neurobiology of Aging* 35(5), 975–989.
- HOU, Y., OUYANG, X., WAN, R., CHENG, H., MATTSON, M. P. & CHENG, A. (2012). Mitochondrial superoxide production negatively regulates neural progenitor proliferation and cerebral cortical development. *Stem Cells* **30**(11), 2535–2547.
- HUANG, E., QU, D., HUANG, T., RIZZI, N., BOONYING, W., KROLAK, D., CIANA, P., WOULFE, J., KLEIN, C., SLACK, R. S., FIGEYS, D. & PARK, D. S. (2017). PINK1-mediated phosphorylation of LETM1 regulates mitochondrial calcium transport and protects neurons against mitochondrial stress. *Nature Communications* 8(1), 1399. HUNTER, D. R. & HAWORTH, R. A. (1979a). The Ca²⁺-induced membrane transition
- HUNTER, D. R. & HAWORTH, R. A. (1979a). The Ca²⁺-induced membrane transition in mitochondria. I. The protective mechanisms. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics* 195(2), 453–459.
- HUNTER, D. R. & HAWORTH, R. A. (1979b). The Ca²⁺-induced membrane transition in mitochondria. III. Transitional Ca²⁺ release. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics* 195(2), 468–477.
- HUNTER, D. R., HAWORTH, R. A. & SOUTHARD, J. H. (1976). Relationship between configuration, function, and permeability in calcium-treated mitochondria. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 251(16), 5069–5077.
- HUO, X., WANG, C., YU, Z., PENG, Y., WANG, S., FENG, S., ZHANG, S., TIAN, X., SUN, C., LIU, K., DENG, S. & MA, X. (2017). Human transporters, PEPT1/2, facilitate melatonin transportation into mitochondria of cancer cells: an implication of the therapeutic potential. *Journal of Pineal Research* 62(4), e12390.
- HURST, S., GONNOT, F., DIA, M., CROLA DA SILVA, C., GOMEZ, L. & SHEU, S. S. (2020). Phosphorylation of cyclophilin D at serine 191 regulates mitochondrial permeability transition pore opening and cell death after ischemia-reperfusion. *Cell Death & Disease* 11(8), 661.

Biological Reviews (2021) 000-000 © 2021 Cambridge Philosophical Society

- HURST, S., HOEK, J. & SHEU, S. S. (2017). Mitochondrial Ca(2+) and regulation of the permeability transition pore. *Journal of Bioenergetics and Biomembranes* 49(1), 27–47.
- HUSER, J. & BLATTER, L. A. (1999). Fluctuations in mitochondrial membrane potential caused by repetitive gating of the permeability transition pore. *Biochemical Journal* 343(Pt 2), 311–317.
- ICHAS, F., JOUAVILLE, L. S. & MAZAT, J. P. (1997). Mitochondria are excitable organelles capable of generating and conveying electrical and calcium signals. *Cell* 89(7), 1145–1153.
- ICHAS, F. & MAZAT, J. P. (1998). From calcium signaling to cell death: two conformations for the mitochondrial permeability transition pore. Switching from low- to high-conductance state. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 1366(1–2), 33–50.
- IKEDA, G., MATOBA, T., NAKANO, Y., NAGAOKA, K., ISHIKITA, A., NAKANO, K., FUNAMOTO, D., SUNAGAWA, K. & EGASHIRA, K. (2016). Nanoparticle-mediated targeting of Cyclosporine A enhances cardioprotection against ischemiareperfusion injury through inhibition of mitochondrial permeability transition pore opening. *Scientific Reports* 6, 20467.
- IRAVANPOUR, F., DARGAHI, L., REZAEI, M., HAGHANI, M., HEIDARI, R., VALIAN, N. & AHMADIANI, A. (2021). Intranasal insulin improves mitochondrial function and attenuates motor deficits in a rat 6-OHDA model of Parkinson's disease. *CNS Neuroscience & Therapeutics* 27(3), 308–319.
- ISLAM, M. M., TAKEUCHI, A. & MATSUOKA, S. (2020). Membrane current evoked by mitochondrial Na(+)-Ca(2+) exchange in mouse heart. *Journal of Physiological Sciences* 70(1), 24.
- IZZO, V., BRAVO-SAN PEDRO, J. M., SICA, V., KROEMER, G. & GALLUZZI, L. (2016). Mitochondrial permeability transition: new findings and persisting uncertainties. *Trends in Cell Biology* 26(9), 655–667.
- JAKOB, R., BEUTNER, G., SHARMA, V. K., DUAN, Y., GROSS, R. A., HURST, S., JHUN, B. S., JIN, O. & SHEU, S. S. (2014). Molecular and functional identification of a mitochondrial ryanodine receptor in neurons. *Neuroscience Letters* 575, 7–12.
- JIANG, D., ZHAO, L. & CLAPHAM, D. E. (2009). Genome-wide RNAi screen identifies Letm1 as a mitochondrial Ca²⁺/H⁺ antiporter. *Science* 326(5949), 144–147.
- JOHNSON, K. M., CHEN, X., BOITANO, A., SWENSON, L., OPIPARI, A. W. JR. & GLICK, G. D. (2005). Identification and validation of the mitochondrial F1F0-ATPase as the molecular target of the immunomodulatory benzodiazepine Bz-423. *Chemistry & Biology* 12(4), 485–496.
- JOU, M. J. (2011). Melatonin preserves the transient mitochondrial permeability transition for protection during mitochondrial Ca(2+) stress in astrocyte. *Journal of Pineal Research* 50(4), 427–435.
- JOU, M. J., PENG, T. I., HSU, L. F., JOU, S. B., REITER, R. J., YANG, C. M., CHIAO, C. C., LIN, Y. F. & CHEN, C. C. (2010). Visualization of melatonin's multiple mitochondrial levels of protection against mitochondrial Ca(2+)-mediated permeability transition and beyond in rat brain astrocytes. *Journal of Pineal Research* 48(1), 20–38.
- KARCH, J., BROUND, M. J., KHALIL, H., SARGENT, M. A., LATCHMAN, N., TERADA, N., PEIXOTO, P. M. & MOLKENTIN, J. D. (2019). Inhibition of mitochondrial permeability transition by deletion of the ANT family and CypD. *Science Advances* 5(8), eaaw4597.
- KARCH, J., KWONG, J. Q., BURR, A. R., SARGENT, M. A., ELROD, J. W., PEIXOTO, P. M., MARTINEZ-CABALLERO, S., OSINSKA, H., CHENG, E. H., ROBBINS, J., KINNALLY, K. W. & MOLKENTIN, J. D. (2013). Bax and Bak function as the outer membrane component of the mitochondrial permeability pore in regulating necrotic cell death in mice. *eLife* 2, e00772.
- KERR, P. M., SULEIMAN, M. S. & HALESTRAP, A. P. (1999). Reversal of permeability transition during recovery of hearts from ischemia and its enhancement by pyruvate. *American Journal of Physiology* 276(2), H496–H502.
- KIM, B. & MATSUOKA, S. (2008). Cytoplasmic Na⁺-dependent modulation of mitochondrial Ca²⁺ via electrogenic mitochondrial Na⁺-Ca²⁺ exchange. *Journal* of Physiology 586(6), 1683–1697.
- KIM, T. H., ZHAO, Y., BARBER, M. J., KUHARSKY, D. K. & YIN, X. M. (2000). Bidinduced cytochrome c release is mediated by a pathway independent of mitochondrial permeability transition pore and Bax. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 275(50), 39474–39481.
- KINNALLY, K. W., CAMPO, M. L. & TEDESCHI, H. (1989). Mitochondrial channel activity studied by patch-clamping mitoplasts. *Journal of Bioenergetics and Biomembranes* 21(4), 497–506.
- KINNALLY, K. W., ZOROV, D. B., ANTONENKO, Y. N., SNYDER, S. H., MCENERY, M. W. & TEDESCHI, H. (1993). Mitochondrial benzodiazepine receptor linked to inner membrane ion channels by nanomolar actions of ligands. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **90**(4), 1374–1378.
- Ko, Y. H., DELANNOY, M., HULLIHEN, J., CHIU, W. & PEDERSEN, P. L. (2003). Mitochondrial ATP synthasome. Cristae-enriched membranes and a multiwell detergent screening assay yield dispersed single complexes containing the ATP synthase and carriers for Pi and ADP/ATP. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 278(14), 12305–12309.
- KOKOSZKA, J. E., WAYMIRE, K. G., LEVY, S. E., SLIGH, J. E., CAI, J., JONES, D. P., MACGREGOR, G. R. & WALLACE, D. C. (2004). The ADP/ATP translocator is not essential for the mitochondrial permeability transition pore. *Nature* 427(6973), 461–465.

- KORGE, P., YANG, L., YANG, J. H., WANG, Y., QU, Z. & WEISS, J. N. (2011). Protective role of transient pore openings in calcium handling by cardiac mitochondria. *Journal* of Biological Chemistry 286(40), 34851–34857.
- Korzeniowski, M. K., Szanda, G., Balla, T. & Spat, A. (2009). Store-operated Ca^{2+} influx and subplasmalemmal mitochondria. *Cell Calcium* **46**(1), 49–55.
- KOTTKE, M., ADAM, V., RIESINGER, I., BREMM, G., BOSCH, W., BRDICZKA, D., SANDRI, G. & PANFILI, E. (1988). Mitochondrial boundary membrane contact sites in brain: points of hexokinase and creatine kinase location, and control of Ca²⁺ transport. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* **935**(1), 87–102.
- KOWALTOWSKI, A. J., CASTILHO, R. F. & VERCESI, A. E. (1995). Ca(2+)-induced mitochondrial membrane permeabilization: role of coenzyme Q redox state. *American Journal of Physiology* 269(1 Pt 1), C141–C147.
- KOWALTOWSKI, A. J., CASTILHO, R. F. & VERCESI, A. E. (1996). Opening of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore by uncoupling or inorganic phosphate in the presence of Ca²⁺ is dependent on mitochondrial-generated reactive oxygen species. *FEBS Letters* **378**(2), 150–152.
- KOWALTOWSKI, A. J., CASTILHO, R. F. & VERCESI, A. E. (2001). Mitochondrial permeability transition and oxidative stress. *FEBS Letters* 495(1–2), 12–15.
- KRAUSKOPF, A., ERIKSSON, O., CRAIGEN, W. J., FORTE, M. A. & BERNARDI, P. (2006). Properties of the permeability transition in VDAC1(-/-) mitochondria. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 1757(5–6), 590–595.
- KREBS, J. (2017). Membrane Dynamics and Calcium Signaling. Springer, New York, NY.
- KWONG, J. Q., DAVIS, J., BAINES, C. P., SARGENT, M. A., KARCH, J., WANG, X., HUANG, T. & MOLKENTIN, J. D. (2014). Genetic deletion of the mitochondrial phosphate carrier desensitizes the mitochondrial permeability transition pore and causes cardiomyopathy. *Cell Death and Differentiation* **21**(8), 1209–1217.
- LAMB, H. M. (2020). Double agents of cell death: novel emerging functions of apoptotic regulators. *The FEBS Journal* 287(13), 2647–2663.
- LAWRIE, A. M., ZOLLE, O. & SIMPSON, A. W. (1997). Modulation of mitochondrial Ca^{2+} in ECV304 endothelial cells by agents which elevate cAMP. *Cell Calcium* 22 (4), 229–234.
- LE HIR, M., SU, Q., WEBER, L., WOERLY, G., GRANELLI-PIPERNO, A. & RYFFEL, B. (1995). In situ detection of Cyclosporin A: evidence for nuclear localization of cyclosporine and cyclophilins. *Laboratory Investigation* 73(5), 727–733.
- LEGER, P. L., DE PAULIS, D., BRANCO, S., BONNIN, P., COUTURE-LEPETIT, E., BAUD, O., RENOLLEAU, S., OVIZE, M., GHARIB, A. & CHARRIAUT-MARLANGUE, C. (2011). Evaluation of Cyclosporine A in a stroke model in the immature rat brain. *Experimental Neurology* 230(1), 58–66.
- LEHNINGER, A. L. (1959). Reversal of various types of mitochondrial swelling by adenosine triphosphate. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 234, 2465–2471.
- LEHNINGER, A. L. (1962). Water uptake and extrusion by mitochondria in relation to oxidative phosphorylation. *Physiological Reviews* 42, 467–517.
- LEHNINGER, A. L. & REMMERT, L. F. (1959). An endogenous uncoupling and swelling agent in liver mitochondria and its enzymic formation. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 234, 2459–2464.
- LEMASTERS, J. J. (1999). V. Necrapoptosis and the mitochondrial permeability transition: shared pathways to necrosis and apoptosis. *American Journal of Physiology* 276(1), G1–G6.
- LEMASTERS, J. J., HOLMUHAMEDOV, E. L., CZERNY, C., ZHONG, Z. & MALDONADO, E. N. (2012). Regulation of mitochondrial function by voltage dependent anion channels in ethanol metabolism and the Warburg effect. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 1818(6), 1536–1544.
- LEON, J., ACUNA-CASTROVIEJO, D., SAINZ, R. M., MAYO, J. C., TAN, D. X. & REITER, R. J. (2004). Melatonin and mitochondrial function. Life Sciences 75(7), 765–790.
- LEUNG, A. W., VARANYUWATANA, P. & HALESTRAP, A. P. (2008). The mitochondrial phosphate carrier interacts with cyclophilin D and may play a key role in the permeability transition. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **283**(39), 26312–26323.
- LI, B., CHAUVIN, C., DE PAULIS, D., DE OLIVEIRA, F., GHARIB, A., VIAL, G., LABLANCHE, S., LEVERVE, X., BERNARDI, P., OVIZE, M. & FONTAINE, E. (2012). Inhibition of complex I regulates the mitochondrial permeability transition through a phosphate-sensitive inhibitory site masked by cyclophilin D. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 1817(9), 1628–1634.
- LI, Y., SUN, J., WU, R., BAI, J., HOU, Y., ZENG, Y., ZHANG, Y., WANG, X., WANG, Z. & MENG, X. (2020). Mitochondrial MPTP: a novel target of ethnomedicine for stroke treatment by apoptosis inhibition. *Frontiers in Pharmacology* 11, 352.
- LI, Y., WU, J., YANG, M., WEI, L., WU, H., WANG, Q. & SHI, H. (2021). Physiological evidence of mitochondrial permeability transition pore opening caused by lipid deposition leading to hepatic steatosis in db/db mice. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* **162**, 523–532.
- LINDBLOM, R. S. J., HIGGINS, G. C., NGUYEN, T. V., ARNSTEIN, M., HENSTRIDGE, D. C., GRANATA, C., SNELSON, M., THALLAS-BONKE, V., COOPER, M. E., FORBES, J. M. & COUGHLAN, M. T. (2020). Delineating a role for the mitochondrial permeability transition pore in diabetic kidney disease by targeting cyclophilin D. *Clinical Science (London)* **134**(2), 239–259.

- LOUPATATZIS, C., SEITZ, G., SCHONFELD, P., LANG, F. & SIEMEN, D. (2002). Singlechannel currents of the permeability transition pore from the inner mitochondrial membrane of rat liver and of a human hepatoma cell line. *Cellular Physiology and Biochemistry* 12(5–6), 269–278.
- LUDTMANN, M. H. R. & ABRAMOV, A.Y. (2018). Mitochondrial calcium imbalance in Parkinson's disease. *Neuroscience Letters* 663, 86–90.
- LUMINI-OLIVEIRA, J., MAGALHAES, J., PEREIRA, C. V., MOREIRA, A. C., OLIVEIRA, P. J. & ASCENSAO, A. (2011). Endurance training reverts heart mitochondrial dysfunction, permeability transition and apoptotic signaling in longterm severe hyperglycemia. *Mitochondrion* 11(1), 54–63.
- MAGRI, A., REINA, S. & DE PINTO, V. (2018). VDAC1 as pharmacological target in cancer and neurodegeneration: focus on its role in apoptosis. *Frontiers in Chemistry* 6, 108.
- MAILLOUX, R. J. & HARPER, M. E. (2011). Uncoupling proteins and the control of mitochondrial reactive oxygen species production. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 51(6), 1106–1115.
- MALLILANKARAMAN, K., CARDENAS, C., DOONAN, P. J., CHANDRAMOORTHY, H. C., IRRINKI, K. M., GOLENAR, T., CSORDAS, G., MADIREDDI, P., YANG, J., MULLER, M., MILLER, R., KOLESAR, J. E., MOLGO, J., KAUFMAN, B., HAJNOCZKY, G., et al. (2012). MCUR1 is an essential component of mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uptake that regulates cellular metabolism. *Nature Cell Biology* 14(12), 1336–1343.
- MALOUITRE, S., DUBE, H., SELWOOD, D. & CROMPTON, M. (2009). Mitochondrial targeting of Cyclosporin A enables selective inhibition of cyclophilin-D and enhanced cytoprotection after glucose and oxygen deprivation. *Biochemical Journal* 425(1), 137–148.
- MAMMUCARI, C., RAFFAELLO, A., VECELLIO REANE, D., GHERARDI, G., DE MARIO, A. & RIZZUTO, R. (2018). Mitochondrial calcium uptake in organ physiology: from molecular mechanism to animal models. *Pflügers Archiv* 470(8), 1165–1179.
- MARCHI, S., CORRICELLI, M., BRANCHINI, A., VITTO, V. A. M., MISSIROLI, S., MORCIANO, G., PERRONE, M., FERRARESE, M., GIORGI, C., PINOTTI, M., GALLUZZI, L., KROEMER, G. & PINTON, P. (2019). Akt-mediated phosphorylation of MICU1 regulates mitochondrial Ca(2+) levels and tumor growth. *EMBO Journal* 38(2), e99435.
- MARTIN, L. J., FANCELLI, D., WONG, M., NIEDZWIECKI, M., BALLARINI, M., PLYTE, S. & CHANG, Q. (2014). GNX-4728, a novel small molecule drug inhibitor of mitochondrial permeability transition, is therapeutic in a mouse model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience* 8, 433.
- MARZO, I., BRENNER, C., ZAMZAMI, N., JURGENSMEIER, J. M., SUSIN, S. A., VIEIRA, H. L., PREVOST, M. C., XIE, Z., MATSUYAMA, S., REED, J. C. & KROEMER, G. (1998). Bax and adenine nucleotide translocator cooperate in the mitochondrial control of apoptosis. *Science* 281(5385), 2027–2031.
- MATSUMOTO, S., MUROZONO, M., KANAZAWA, M., NARA, T., OZAWA, T. & WATANABE, Y. (2018). Edaravone and Cyclosporine A as neuroprotective agents for acute ischemic stroke. *Acute Medicine & Surgery* 5(3), 213–221.
- MAYO, J. C., AGUADO, A., CERNUDA-CERNUDA, R., ALVAREZ-ARTIME, A., CEPAS, V., QUIROS-GONZALEZ, I., HEVIA, D. & SAINZ, R. M. (2018). Melatonin uptake by cells: an answer to its relationship with glucose? *Molecules* 23(8), 1999.
- MCENERY, M. W., SNOWMAN, A. M., TRIFILETTI, R. R. & SNYDER, S. H. (1992). Isolation of the mitochondrial benzodiazepine receptor: association with the voltage-dependent anion channel and the adenine nucleotide carrier. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 89(8), 3170–3174.
- MENZE, M. A., HUTCHINSON, K., LABORDE, S. M. & HAND, S. C. (2005). Mitochondrial permeability transition in the crustacean Artenia franciscana: absence of a calcium-regulated pore in the face of profound calcium storage. American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology 289(1), R68–R76.
- MERTINS, B., PSAKIS, G. & ESSEN, L. O. (2014). Voltage-dependent anion channels: the wizard of the mitochondrial outer membrane. *Biological Chemistry* 395(12), 1435–1442.
- MINAMIKAWA, T., WILLIAMS, D. A., BOWSER, D. N. & NAGLEY, P. (1999). Mitochondrial permeability transition and swelling can occur reversibly without inducing cell death in intact human cells. *Experimental Cell Research* 246(1), 26–37.
- MISHRA, J., JHUN, B. S., HURST, S., JIN, O., CSORDAS, G. & SHEU, S. S. (2017). The mitochondrial Ca(2+) uniporter: structure, function, and pharmacology. *Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology* 240, 129–156.
- MNATSAKANYAN, N., BEUTNER, G., PORTER, G. A., ALAVIAN, K. N. & JONAS, E. A. (2017). Physiological roles of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore. *Journal of Bioenergetics and Biomembranes* 49(1), 13–25.
- MNATSAKANYAN, N., LLAGUNO, M. C., YANG, Y., YAN, Y., WEBER, J., SIGWORTH, F. J. & JONAS, E. A. (2019). A mitochondrial megachannel resides in monomeric F1FO ATP synthase. *Nature Communications* **10**(1), 5823.
- MONTAIGNE, D., MARECHAL, X., PREAU, S., BACCOUCH, R., MODINE, T., FAYAD, G., LANCEL, S. & NEVIERE, R. (2011). Doxorubicin induces mitochondrial permeability transition and contractile dysfunction in the human myocardium. *Mitochondrion* 11(1), 22–26.

- MOORE, C. L. (1971). Specific inhibition of mitochondrial Ca++ transport by ruthenium red. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 42(2), 298–305.
- MORCIANO, G., GIORGI, C., BONORA, M., PUNZETTI, S., PAVASINI, R., WIECKOWSKI, M. R., CAMPO, G. & PINTON, P. (2015). Molecular identity of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore and its role in ischemia-reperfusion injury. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology* 78, 142–153.
- MORCIANO, G., PRETI, D., PEDRIALI, G., AQUILA, G., MISSIROLI, S., FANTINATI, A., CAROCCIA, N., PACIFICO, S., BONORA, M., TALARICO, A., MORGANTI, C., RIZZO, P., FERRARI, R., WIECKOWSKI, M. R., CAMPO, G., et al. (2018). Discovery of novel 1,3,8-triazaspiro[4.5]decane derivatives that target the c subunit of F1/FOadenosine triphosphate (ATP) synthase for the treatment of reperfusion damage in myocardial infarction. *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry* 61(16), 7131–7143.
- NAMGALADZE, D., KHODZHAEVA, V. & BRUNE, B. (2019). ER-mitochondria communication in cells of the innate immune system. *Cell* 8(9), 1088.
- NARITA, M., SHIMIZU, S., ITO, T., CHITTENDEN, T., LUTZ, R. J., MATSUDA, H. & TSUJIMOTO, Y. (1998). Bax interacts with the permeability transition pore to induce permeability transition and cytochrome c release in isolated mitochondria. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 95(25), 14681–14686.
- NEGINSKAYA, M. A., PAVLOV, E. V. & SHEU, S. S. (2021). Electrophysiological properties of the mitochondrial permeability transition pores: channel diversity and disease implication. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - Bioenergetics* 1862(3), 148357.
- NEGINSKAYA, M. A., SOLESIO, M. E., BEREZHNAYA, E. V., AMODEO, G. F., MNATSAKANYAN, N., JONAS, E. A. & PAVLOV, E. V. (2019). ATP synthase csubunit-deficient mitochondria have a small Cyclosporine A-sensitive channel, but lack the permeability transition pore. *Cell Reports* 26(1), 11–17.
- NEGINSKAYA, M. A., STRUBBE, J. O., AMODEO, G. F., WEST, B. A., YAKAR, S., BAZIL, J. N. & PAVLOV, E. V. (2020). The very low number of calcium-induced permeability transition pores in the single mitochondrion. *Journal of General Physiology* **152**(10), e202012631.
- NESCI, S., TROMBETTI, F., VENTRELLA, V. & PAGLIARANI, A. (2018). From the Ca (2+)-activated F1FO-ATPase to the mitochondrial permeability transition pore: an overview. *Biochimie* 152, 85–93.
- NICOLAY, K., ROJO, M., WALLIMANN, T., DEMEL, R. & HOVIUS, R. (1990). The role of contact sites between inner and outer mitochondrial membrane in energy transfer. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 1018(2–3), 229–233.
- NIEMINEN, A. L., SAYLOR, A. K., TESFAI, S. A., HERMAN, B. & LEMASTERS, J. J. (1995). Contribution of the mitochondrial permeability transition to lethal injury after exposure of hepatocytes to t-butylhydroperoxide. *Biochemical Journal* **307**(Pt 1), 99–106. NOWIKOVSKY, K. & BERNARDI, P. (2014). LETM1 in mitochondrial cation transport.
- Frontiers in Physiology 5, 83.
 NOWIKOVSKY, K., POZZAN, T., RIZZUTO, R., SCORRANO, L. & BERNARDI, P. (2012).
 Perspectives on: SGP symposium on mitochondrial physiology and medicine: the pathophysiology of LETM1. *Journal of General Physiology* 139(6), 445–454.
- OLIVEIRA, P. J., BJORK, J. A., SANTOS, M. S., LEINO, R. L., FROBERG, M. K., MORENO, A. J. & WALLACE, K. B. (2004). Carvedilol-mediated antioxidant protection against doxorubicin-induced cardiac mitochondrial toxicity. *Toxicology* and Applied Pharmacology 200(2), 159–168.
- OLIVEIRA, P. J., GONCALVES, L., MONTEIRO, P., PROVIDENCIA, L. A. & MORENO, A. J. (2005). Are the antioxidant properties of carvedilol important for the protection of cardiac mitochondria? *Current Vascular Pharmacology* 3(2), 147–158.
- OLIVEIRA, P. J., SEICA, R., COXITO, P. M., ROLO, A. P., PALMEIRA, C. M., SANTOS, M. S. & MORENO, A. J. (2003). Enhanced permeability transition explains the reduced calcium uptake in cardiac mitochondria from streptozotocininduced diabetic rats. *FEBS Letters* 554(3), 511–514.
- ONG, S. B., SAMANGOUEI, P., KALKHORAN, S. B. & HAUSENLOY, D. J. (2015). The mitochondrial permeability transition pore and its role in myocardial ischemia reperfusion injury. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology* 78, 23–34.
- ONG, S. G., LEE, W. H., THEODOROU, L., KODO, K., LIM, S. Y., SHUKLA, D. H., BRISTON, T., KIRIAKIDIS, S., ASHCROFT, M., DAVIDSON, S. M., MAXWELL, P. H., YELLON, D. M. & HAUSENLOY, D. J. (2014). HIF-1 reduces ischaemia-reperfusion injury in the heart by targeting the mitochondrial permeability transition pore. *Cardiovascular Research* **104**(1), 24–36.
- OTTANI, F., LATINI, R., STASZEWSKY, L., LA VECCHIA, L., LOCURATOLO, N., SICURO, M., MASSON, S., BARLERA, S., MILANI, V., LOMBARDI, M., COSTALUNGA, A., MOLLICHELLI, N., SANTARELLI, A., DE CESARE, N., SGANZERLA, P., et al. (2016). Cyclosporine A in reperfused myocardial infarction: the multicenter, controlled, open-label CYCLE trial. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology* 67(4), 365–374.
- O-UCHI, J., PAN, S. & SHEU, S. S. (2012). Perspectives on: SGP symposium on mitochondrial physiology and medicine: molecular identities of mitochondrial Ca²⁺ influx mechanism: updated passwords for accessing mitochondrial Ca²⁺ linked health and disease. *Journal of General Physiology* **139**(6), 435–443.
- PALTY, R., HERSHFINKEL, M. & SEKLER, I. (2012). Molecular identity and functional properties of the mitochondrial Na+/Ca²⁺ exchanger. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 287(38), 31650–31657.

- PALTY, R., OHANA, E., HERSHFINKEL, M., VOLOKITA, M., ELGAZAR, V., BEHARIER, O., SILVERMAN, W. F., ARGAMAN, M. & SEKLER, I. (2004). Lithiumcalcium exchange is mediated by a distinct potassium-independent sodiumcalcium exchanger. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 279(24), 25234–25240.
- PALTY, R., SILVERMAN, W. F., HERSHFINKEL, M., CAPORALE, T., SENSI, S. L., PARNIS, J., NOLTE, C., FISHMAN, D., SHOSHAN-BARMATZ, V., HERRMANN, S., KHANANSHVILI, D. & SEKLER, I. (2010). NCLX is an essential component of mitochondrial Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchange. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 107(1), 436–441.
- PAN, P., ZHANG, H., SU, L., WANG, X. & LIU, D. (2018). Melatonin balance the autophagy and apoptosis by regulating UCP2 in the LPS-induced cardiomyopathy. *Molecules* 23(3), 675.
- PANEL, M., AHMED-BELKACEM, A., RUIZ, I., GUICHOU, J. F., PAWLOTSKY, J. M., GHALEH, B. & MORIN, D. (2021). A phenyl-pyrrolidine derivative reveals a dual inhibition mechanism of myocardial mitochondrial permeability transition pore, which is limited by its myocardial distribution. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics* 376(3), 348–357.
- PANEL, M., RUIZ, I., BRILLET, R., LAFDIL, F., TEIXEIRA-CLERC, F., NGUYEN, C. T., CALDERARO, J., GELIN, M., ALLEMAND, F., GUICHOU, J. F., GHALEH, B., AHMED-BELKACEM, A., MORIN, D. & PAWLOTSKY, J. M. (2019). Small-molecule inhibitors of cyclophilins block opening of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore and protect mice from hepatic ischemia/reperfusion injury. *Gastroentenology* 157(5), 1368–1382.
- PARK, M. K., ASHBY, M. C., ERDEMLI, G., PETERSEN, O. H. & TEPIKIN, A. V. (2001). Perinuclear, perigranular and sub-plasmalemmal mitochondria have distinct functions in the regulation of cellular calcium transport. *EMBO Journal* 20(8), 1863–1874.
- PASTORINO, J. G., SIMBULA, G., GILFOR, E., HOEK, J. B. & FARBER, J. L. (1994). Protoporphyrin IX, an endogenous ligand of the peripheral benzodiazepine receptor, potentiates induction of the mitochondrial permeability transition and the killing of cultured hepatocytes by rotenone. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 269 (49), 31041–31046.
- PATRON, M., CHECCHETTO, V., RAFFAELLO, A., TEARDO, E., VECELLIO REANE, D., MANTOAN, M., GRANATIERO, V., SZABO, I., DE STEFANI, D. & RIZZUTO, R. (2014). MICU1 and MICU2 finely tune the mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uniporter by exerting opposite effects on MCU activity. *Molecular Cell* 53(5), 726–737.
- PAVLOV, E., ZAKHARIAN, E., BLADEN, C., DIAO, C. T., GRIMBLY, C., REUSCH, R. N. & FRENCH, R. J. (2005). A large, voltage-dependent channel, isolated from mitochondria by water-free chloroform extraction. *Biophysical Journal* 88(4), 2614–2625.
- PEREIRA, G. C., SILVA, A. M., DIOGO, C. V., CARVALHO, F. S., MONTEIRO, P. & OLIVEIRA, P. J. (2011). Drug-induced cardiac mitochondrial toxicity and protection: from doxorubicin to carvedilol. *Current Pharmaceutical Design* 17(20), 2113–2129.
- PEREZ, M. J., PONCE, D. P., ARANGUIZ, A., BEHRENS, M. I. & QUINTANILLA, R. A. (2018). Mitochondrial permeability transition pore contributes to mitochondrial dysfunction in fibroblasts of patients with sporadic Alzheimer's disease. *Redox Biology* 19, 290–300.
- PEREZ, M. J. & QUINTANILLA, R. A. (2017). Development or disease: duality of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore. *Developmental Biology* 426(1), 1–7.
- PETIT, P. X., GOUBERN, M., DIOLEZ, P., SUSIN, S. A., ZAMZAMI, N. & KROEMER, G. (1998). Disruption of the outer mitochondrial membrane as a result of large amplitude swelling: the impact of irreversible permeability transition. *FEBS Letters* 426(1), 111–116.
- PETRONILLI, V., COLA, C., MASSARI, S., COLONNA, R. & BERNARDI, P. (1993). Physiological effectors modify voltage sensing by the Cyclosporin A-sensitive permeability transition pore of mitochondria. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 268(29), 21939–21945.
- PETRONILLI, V., MIOTTO, G., CANTON, M., BRINI, M., COLONNA, R., BERNARDI, P. & DI LISA, F. (1999). Transient and long-lasting openings of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore can be monitored directly in intact cells by changes in mitochondrial calcein fluorescence. *Biophysical Journal* 76(2), 725–734.
- PETRONILLI, V., MIOTTO, G., CANTON, M., COLONNA, R., BERNARDI, P. & DI LISA, F. (1998). Imaging the mitochondrial permeability transition pore in intact cells. *BioFactors* 8(3–4), 263–272.
- PETRONILLI, V., PENZO, D., SCORRANO, L., BERNARDI, P. & DI LISA, F. (2001). The mitochondrial permeability transition, release of cytochrome c and cell death. Correlation with the duration of pore openings in situ. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 276(15), 12030–12034.
- PETRONILLI, V., SZABO, I. & ZORATTI, M. (1989). The inner mitochondrial membrane contains ion-conducting channels similar to those found in bacteria. *FEBS Letters* 259(1), 137–143.
- PETROSILLO, G., COLANTUONO, G., MORO, N., RUGGIERO, F. M., TIRAVANTI, E., DI VENOSA, N., FIORE, T. & PARADIES, G. (2009). Melatonin protects against heart ischemia-reperfusion injury by inhibiting mitochondrial permeability transition pore opening. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology* 297(4), H1487–H1493.

- PICARD, M., WALLACE, D. C. & BURELLE, Y. (2016). The rise of mitochondria in medicine. *Mitochondrion* **30**, 105–116.
- PIOT, C., CROISILLE, P., STAAT, P., THIBAULT, H., RIOUFOL, G., MEWTON, N., ELBELGHITI, R., CUNG, T. T., BONNEFOY, E., ANGOULVANT, D., MACIA, C., RACZKA, F., SPORTOUCH, C., GAHIDE, G., FINET, G., et al. (2008). Effect of cyclosporine on reperfusion injury in acute myocardial infarction. *New England Journal of Medicine* 359(5), 473–481.
- PLOVANICH, M., BOGORAD, R. L., SANCAK, Y., KAMER, K. J., STRITTMATTER, L., LI, A. A., GIRGIS, H. S., KUCHIMANCHI, S., DE GROOT, J., SPECINER, L., TANEJA, N., OSHEA, J., KOTELIANSKY, V. & MOOTHA, V. K. (2013). MICU2, a paralog of MICU1, resides within the mitochondrial uniporter complex to regulate calcium handling. *PLoS One* 8(2), e55785.
- PONNALAGU, D. & SINGH, H. (2017). Anion channels of mitochondria. Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology 240, 71–101.
- PRECHT, T. A., PHELPS, R. A., LINSEMAN, D. A., BUTTS, B. D., LE, S. S., LAESSIG, T. A., BOUCHARD, R. J. & HEIDENREICH, K. A. (2005). The permeability transition pore triggers Bax translocation to mitochondria during neuronal apoptosis. *Cell Death and Differentiation* 12(3), 255–265.
- QIAN, T., NIEMINEN, A. L., HERMAN, B. & LEMASTERS, J. J. (1997). Mitochondrial permeability transition in pH-dependent reperfusion injury to rat hepatocytes. *American Journal of Physiology* 273(6 Pt 1), C1783–C1792.
- RAAFLAUB, J. (1953). Swelling of isolated mitochondria of the liver and their susceptibility to physicochemical influences. *Helvetica Physiologica et Pharmacologica Acta* 11(2), 142–156.
- RAFFAELLO, A., DE STEFANI, D., SABBADIN, D., TEARDO, E., MERLI, G., PICARD, A., CHECCHETTO, V., MORO, S., SZABO, I. & RIZZUTO, R. (2013). The mitochondrial calcium uniporter is a multimer that can include a dominant-negative pore-forming subunit. *EMBO Journal* 32(17), 2362–2376.
- RAMA RAO, K. V., JAYAKUMAR, A. R. & NORENBERG, M. D. (2003). Induction of the mitochondrial permeability transition in cultured astrocytes by glutamine. *Neurochemistry International* 43(4–5), 517–523.
- REHLING, P., MODEL, K., BRANDNER, K., KOVERMANN, P., SICKMANN, A., MEYER, H. E., KUHLBRANDT, W., WAGNER, R., TRUSCOTT, K. N. & PFANNER, N. (2003). Protein insertion into the mitochondrial inner membrane by a twin-pore translocase. *Science* **299**(5613), 1747–1751.
- REKUVIENE, E., IVANOVIENE, L., BORUTAITE, V. & MORKUNIENE, R. (2017). Rotenone decreases ischemia-induced injury by inhibiting mitochondrial permeability transition in mature brains. *Neuroscience Letters* **653**, 45–50.
- RICHARDSON, A. P. & HALESTRAP, A. P. (2016). Quantification of active mitochondrial permeability transition pores using GNX-4975 inhibitor titrations provides insights into molecular identity. *Biochemical Journal* 473(9), 1129–1140.
- RIEUSSET, J. (2018). The role of endoplasmic reticulum-mitochondria contact sites in the control of glucose homeostasis: an update. *Cell Death & Disease* 9(3), 388.
- RIOJAS-HERNANDEZ, A., BERNAL-RAMIREZ, J., RODRIGUEZ-MIER, D., MORALES-MARROQUIN, F. E., DOMINGUEZ-BARRAGAN, E. M., BORJA-VILLA, C., RIVERA-ALVAREZ, I., GARCIA-RIVAS, G., ALTAMIRANO, J. & GARCIA, N. (2015). Enhanced oxidative stress sensitizes the mitochondrial permeability transition pore to opening in heart from Zucker Fa/fa rats with type 2 diabetes. *Life Sciences* 141, 32-43.
- RIZZUTO, R., DUCHEN, M. R. & POZZAN, T. (2004). Flirting in little space: the ER/mitochondria Ca²⁺ liaison. *Science's STKE* **2004**(215), re1.
- RODRIGUES-DIEZ, R., GONZALEZ-GUERRERO, C., OCANA-SALCEDA, C., RODRIGUES-DIEZ, R. R., EGIDO, J., ORTIZ, A., RUIZ-ORTEGA, M. & RAMOS, A. M. (2016). Calcineurin inhibitors Cyclosporine A and tacrolimus induce vascular inflammation and endothelial activation through TLR4 signaling. *Scientific Reports* 6, 27915.
- ROLO, A. P., PALMEIRA, C. M. & WALLACE, K. B. (2003). Mitochondrially mediated synergistic cell killing by bile acids. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 1637(1), 127–132.
- ROSTOVTSEVA, T. K., QUERALT-MARTIN, M., ROSENCRANS, W. M. & BEZRUKOV, S. M. (2020). Targeting the multiple physiologic roles of VDAC with steroids and hydrophobic drugs. *Frontiers in Physiology* 11, 446.
- ROWLAND, A. A. & VOELTZ, G. K. (2012). Endoplasmic reticulum-mitochondria contacts: function of the junction. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* 13(10), 607–625.
- ROY, S., SILEIKYTE, J., NEUENSWANDER, B., HEDRICK, M. P., CHUNG, T. D., AUBE, J., SCHOENEN, F. J., FORTE, M. A. & BERNARDI, P. (2016). N-Phenylbenzamides as potent inhibitors of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore. *ChemMedChem* 11(3), 283–288.
- ROY, S., SILEIKYTE, J., SCHIAVONE, M., NEUENSWANDER, B., ARGENTON, F., AUBE, J., HEDRICK, M. P., CHUNG, T. D., FORTE, M. A., BERNARDI, P. & SCHOENEN, F. J. (2015). Discovery, synthesis, and optimization of diarylisoxazole-3-carboxamides as potent inhibitors of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore. *Chem.MedChem* **10**(10), 1655–1671.
- RUEDA, C. B., TRABA, J., AMIGO, I., LLORENTE-FOLCH, I., GONZALEZ-SANCHEZ, P., PARDO, B., ESTEBAN, J. A., DEL ARCO, A. & SATRUSTEGUI, J. (2015). Mitochondrial ATP-mg/pi carrier SCaMC-3/Slc25a23 counteracts PARP-

- RYU, S. Y., BEUTNER, G., DIRKSEN, R. T., KINNALLY, K. W. & SHEU, S. S. (2010). Mitochondrial ryanodine receptors and other mitochondrial Ca²⁺ permeable channels. *FEBS Letters* 584(10), 1948–1955.
- SAHACH, V. F., KORKACH IU, P., KOTSIURUBA, A. V., RUDYK, O. V. & VAVILOVA, H. L. (2008). Mitochondrial permeability transition pore opening inhibition by ecdysterone in heart mitochondria of aging rats. *Fiziologichnyi Zhumal* 54(4), 3–10.
- SANCAK, Y., MARKHARD, A. L., KITAMI, T., KOVACS-BOGDAN, E., KAMER, K. J., UDESHI, N. D., CARR, S. A., CHAUDHURI, D., CLAPHAM, D. E., LI, A. A., CALVO, S. E., GOLDBERGER, O. & MOOTHA, V. K. (2013). EMRE is an essential component of the mitochondrial calcium uniporter complex. *Science* 342(6164), 1379–1382.
- SANTULLI, G. (2017). Mitochondrial Dynamics in Cardiovascular Medicine. Springer, New York, NY.
- SARDAO, V. A., OLIVEIRA, P. J. & MORENO, A. J. (2002). Caffeine enhances the calcium-dependent cardiac mitochondrial permeability transition: relevance for caffeine toxicity. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology* 179(1), 50–56.
- SCHALLER, S., PARADIS, S., NGOH, G. A., ASSALY, R., BUISSON, B., DROUOT, C., OSTUNI, M. A., LACAPERE, J. J., BASSISSI, F., BORDET, T., BERDEAUX, A., JONES, S. P., MORIN, D. & PRUSS, R. M. (2010). TRO40303, a new cardioprotective compound, inhibits mitochondrial permeability transition. *Journal* of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics 333(3), 696–706.
- SCHEIN, S. J., COLOMBINI, M. & FINKELSTEIN, A. (1976). Reconstitution in planar lipid bilayers of a voltage-dependent anion-selective channel obtained from paramecium mitochondria. *Journal of Membrane Biology* **30**(2), 99–120.
- SCHINZEL, A. C., TAKEUCHI, O., HUANG, Z., FISHER, J. K., ZHOU, Z., RUBENS, J., HETZ, C., DANIAL, N. N., MOSKOWITZ, M. A. & KORSMEYER, S. J. (2005). Cyclophilin D is a component of mitochondrial permeability transition and mediates neuronal cell death after focal cerebral ischemia. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 102(34), 12005–12010.
- SHEN, E. Z., SONG, C. Q., LIN, Y., ZHANG, W. H., SU, P. F., LIU, W. Y., ZHANG, P., XU, J., LIN, N., ZHAN, C., WANG, X., SHYR, Y., CHENG, H. & DONG, M. Q. (2014). Mitoflash frequency in early adulthood predicts lifespan in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Nature* 508(7494), 128–132.
- SHOSHAN-BARMATZ, V. & GOLAN, M. (2012). Mitochondrial VDAC1: function in cell life and death and a target for cancer therapy. *Current Medicinal Chemistry* 19(5), 714–735.
- SILEIKYTE, J., BLACHLY-DYSON, E., SEWELL, R., CARPI, A., MENABO, R., DI LISA, F., RICCHELLI, F., BERNARDI, P. & FORTE, M. (2014). Regulation of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore by the outer membrane does not involve the peripheral benzodiazepine receptor (Translocator protein of 18 kDa (TSPO)). Journal of Biological Chemistry 289(20), 13769–13781.
- SILEIKYTE, J., ROY, S., PORUBSKY, P., NEUENSWANDER, B., WANG, J., HEDRICK, M., PINKERTON, A. B., SALANIWAL, S., KUNG, P., MANGRAVITA-NOVO, A., SMITH, L. H., BOURDETTE, D. N., JACKSON, M. R., AUBE, J., CHUNG, T. D. Y., et al. (2010). Small molecules targeting the mitochondrial permeability transition. In Probe Reports from the NIH Molecular Libraries Program, Bethesda.
- SILVA, B. S. C., DIGIOVANNI, L., KUMAR, R., CARMICHAEL, R. E., KIM, P. K. & SCHRADER, M. (2020). Maintaining social contacts: the physiological relevance of organelle interactions. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - Molecular Cell Research* 1867(11), 118800.
- SLATER, E. C. & CLELAND, K. W. (1953). The effect of calcium on the respiratory and phosphorylative activities of heart-muscle sarcosomes. *Biochemical Journal* 55(4), 566–590.
- SORGATO, M. C., KELLER, B. U. & STUHMER, W. (1987). Patch-clamping of the inner mitochondrial membrane reveals a voltage-dependent ion channel. *Nature* 330 (6147), 498–500.
- SPARAGNA, G. C., GUNTER, K. K., SHEU, S. S. & GUNTER, T. E. (1995). Mitochondrial calcium uptake from physiological-type pulses of calcium. A description of the rapid uptake mode. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 270(46), 27510–27515.
- STARK, G. (1991). The effect of ionizing radiation on lipid membranes. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1071(2), 103–122.
- STEENBERGEN, C., MURPHY, E., LEVY, L. & LONDON, R. E. (1987). Elevation in cytosolic free calcium concentration early in myocardial ischemia in perfused rat heart. *Circulation Research* **60**(5), 700–707.
- STEFAN, C. J. (2018). Building ER-PM contacts: keeping calm and ready on alarm. Current Opinion in Cell Biology 53, 1–8.
- SUN, Q., JIA, N., LI, X., YANG, J. & CHEN, G. (2019). Grape seed proanthocyanidins ameliorate neuronal oxidative damage by inhibiting GSK-3beta-dependent mitochondrial permeability transition pore opening in an experimental model of sporadic Alzheimer's disease. *Aging (Albany NY)* 11(12), 4107–4124.
- SZABO, I., BERNARDI, P. & ZORATTI, M. (1992). Modulation of the mitochondrial megachannel by divalent cations and protons. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 267(5), 2940–2946.

- SZABO, I., DE PINTO, V. & ZORATTI, M. (1993). The mitochondrial permeability transition pore may comprise VDAC molecules. II. The electrophysiological properties of VDAC are compatible with those of the mitochondrial megachannel. *FEBS Letters* **330**(2), 206–210.
- SZABO, I. & ZORATTI, M. (1991). The giant channel of the inner mitochondrial membrane is inhibited by Cyclosporin A. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 266(6), 3376–3379.
- SZABO, I. & ZORATTI, M. (1992). The mitochondrial megachannel is the permeability transition pore. *Journal of Bioenergetics and Biomembranes* 24(1), 111–117.
- SZABO, I. & ZORATTI, M. (1993). The mitochondrial permeability transition pore may comprise VDAC molecules. I. Binary structure and voltage dependence of the pore. *FEBS Letters* 330(2), 201–215.
- TADDEO, E. P., LAKER, R. C., BREEN, D. S., AKHTAR, Y. N., KENWOOD, B. M., LIAO, J. A., ZHANG, M., FAZAKERLEY, D. J., TOMSIG, J. L., HARRIS, T. E., KELLER, S. R., CHOW, J. D., LYNCH, K. R., CHOKKI, M., MOLKENTIN, J. D., et al. (2014). Opening of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore links mitochondrial dysfunction to insulin resistance in skeletal muscle. *Molecular Metabolism* 3(2), 124–134.
- TAKEUCHI, A., KIM, B. & MATSUOKA, S. (2015). The destiny of Ca(2+) released by mitochondria. *Journal of Physiological Sciences* 65(1), 11–24.
- TAN, D. X., MANCHESTER, L. C., QIN, L. & REITER, R. J. (2016). Melatonin: a mitochondrial targeting molecule involving mitochondrial protection and dynamics. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 17(12), 2124.
- TAN, D. X., MANCHESTER, L. C., REITER, R. J., QI, W. B., ZHANG, M., WEINTRAUB, S. T., CABRERA, J., SAINZ, R. M. & MAYO, J. C. (1999). Identification of highly elevated levels of melatonin in bone marrow: its origin and significance. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 1472(1–2), 206–214.
- TANAKA, T., SAOTOME, M., KATOH, H., SATOH, T., HASAN, P., OHTANI, H., SATOH, H., HAYASHI, H. & MAEKAWA, Y. (2013). Glycogen synthase kinase-3beta opens mitochondrial permeability transition pore through mitochondrial hexokinase II dissociation. *Journal of Physiological Sciences* 68(6), 865–871.
- TAROCCO, A., CAROCCIA, N., MORCIANO, G., WIECKOWSKI, M. R., ANCORA, G., GARANI, G. & PINTON, P. (2019). Melatonin as a master regulator of cell death and inflammation: molecular mechanisms and clinical implications for newborn care. *Cell Death & Disease* 10(4), 317.
- TEIXEIRA, J., OLIVEIRA, C., CAGIDE, F., AMORIM, R., GARRIDO, J., BORGES, F. & OLIVEIRA, P. J. (2018). Discovery of a new mitochondria permeability transition pore (mPTP) inhibitor based on gallic acid. *Journal of Enzyme Inhibition and Medicinal Chemistry* 33(1), 567–576.
- TIKHONOVA, I. M., ANDREYEV, A., ANTONENKO, Y. N., KAULEN, A. D., KOMRAKOV, A. & SKULACHEV, V. P. (1994). Ion permeability induced in artificial membranes by the ATP/ADP antiporter. *FEBS Letters* 337(3), 231–234.
- TOMAR, D., DONG, Z., SHANMUGHAPRIYA, S., KOCH, D. A., THOMAS, T., HOFFMAN, N. E., TIMBALIA, S. A., GOLDMAN, S. J., BREVES, S. L., CORBALLY, D. P., NEMANI, N., FAIRWEATHER, J. P., CUTRI, A. R., ZHANG, X., SONG, J., et al. (2016). MCUR1 is a scaffold factor for the MCU complex function and promotes mitochondrial bioenergetics. *Cell Reports* 15(8), 1673–1685.
- TORPEY, J., MADINE, J., WOOD, A. & LIAN, L. Y. (2020). Cyclophilin D binds to the acidic C-terminus region of alpha-Synuclein and affects its aggregation characteristics. *Scientific Reports* 10(1), 10159.
- TSAI, M. F., JIANG, D., ZHAO, L., CLAPHAM, D. & MILLER, C. (2014). Functional reconstitution of the mitochondrial Ca²⁺/H⁺ antiporter Letm1. *The Journal of General Physiology* 143(1), 67–73.
- URBANI, A., GIORGIO, V., CARRER, A., FRANCHIN, C., ARRIGONI, G., JIKO, C., ABE, K., MAEDA, S., SHINZAWA-ITOH, K., BOGERS, J. F. M., MCMILLAN, D. G. G., GERLE, C., SZABO, I. & BERNARDI, P. (2019). Purified F-ATP synthase forms a Ca(2+)-dependent high-conductance channel matching the mitochondrial permeability transition pore. *Nature Communications* 10(1), 4341.
- VAIS, H., PAYNE, R., PAUDEL, U., LI, C. & FOSKETT, J. K. (2020). Coupled transmembrane mechanisms control MCU-mediated mitochondrial Ca(2+) uptake. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 117 (35), 21731–21739.
- VALASANI, K. R., SUN, Q., FANG, D., ZHANG, Z., YU, Q., GUO, Y., LI, J., ROY, A. & SHIDU YAN, S. (2016). Identification of a small molecule cyclophilin d inhibitor for rescuing Abeta-mediated mitochondrial dysfunction. ACS Medicinal Chemistry Letters 7 (3), 294–299.
- VALASANI, K. R., VANGAVARAGU, J. R., DAY, V. W. & YAN, S. S. (2014). Structure based design, synthesis, pharmacophore modeling, virtual screening, and molecular docking studies for identification of novel cyclophilin D inhibitors. *Journal of Chemical Information and Modeling* 54(3), 902–912.
- VAN VLIET, A. R., VERFAILLIE, T. & AGOSTINIS, P. (2014). New functions of mitochondria associated membranes in cellular signaling. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 1843(10), 2253–2262.
- VANDER HEIDEN, M. G., CHANDEL, N. S., WILLIAMSON, E. K., SCHUMACKER, P. T. & THOMPSON, C. B. (1997). BCl-xL regulates the membrane potential and volume homeostasis of mitochondria. *Cell* **91**(5), 627–637.

- VARANYUWATANA, P. & HALESTRAP, A. P. (2012). The roles of phosphate and the phosphate carrier in the mitochondrial permeability transition pore. *Mitochondrion* 12(1), 120–125.
- VEGA-NAREDO, I., LOUREIRO, R., MESQUITA, K. A., BARBOSA, I. A., TAVARES, L. C., BRANCO, A. F., ERICKSON, J. R., HOLY, J., PERKINS, E. L., CARVALHO, R. A. & OLIVEIRA, P. J. (2014). Mitochondrial metabolism directs stemness and differentiation in P19 embryonal carcinoma stem cells. *Cell Death and Differentiation* **21**(10), 1560–1574.
- VERCESI, A. E., CASTILHO, R. F., KOWALTOWSKI, A. J., DE OLIVEIRA, H. C. F., DE SOUZA-PINTO, N. C., FIGUEIRA, T. R. & BUSANELLO, E. N. B. (2018). Mitochondrial calcium transport and the redox nature of the calciuminduced membrane permeability transition. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 129, 1–24.
- VON STOCKUM, S., GIORGIO, V., TREVISAN, E., LIPPE, G., GLICK, G. D., FORTE, M. A., DA-RE, C., CHECCHETTO, V., MAZZOTTA, G., COSTA, R., SZABO, I. & BERNARDI, P. (2015). F-ATPase of *Drosophila melanogaster* forms 53-picosiemen (53-pS) channels responsible for mitochondrial Ca²⁺-induced Ca²⁺ release. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 290(8), 4537–4544.
- VOROBJEVA, N., GALKIN, I., PLETJUSHKINA, O., GOLYSHEV, S., ZINOVKIN, R., PRIKHODKO, A., PINEGIN, V., KONDRATENKO, I., PINEGIN, B. & CHERNYAK, B. (2020). Mitochondrial permeability transition pore is involved in oxidative burst and NETosis of human neutrophils. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - Molecular Basis of Disease* 1866(5), 165664.
- WACQUIER, B., ROMERO CAMPOS, H. E., GONZALEZ-VELEZ, V., COMBETTES, L. & DUPONT, G. (2017). Mitochondrial Ca(2+) dynamics in cells and suspensions. *The FEBS Journal* 284(23), 4128–4142.
- WALDMEIER, P. C., FELDTRAUER, J. J., QIAN, T. & LEMASTERS, J. J. (2002). Inhibition of the mitochondrial permeability transition by the nonimmunosuppressive cyclosporin derivative NIM811. *Molecular Pharmacology* 62(1), 22–29.
- WALLACE, K. B., SARDAO, V. A. & OLIVEIRA, P. J. (2020). Mitochondrial determinants of doxorubicin-induced cardiomyopathy. *Circulation Research* 126(7), 926–941.
- WANG, C., BARADARAN, R. & LONG, S. B. (2020a). Structure and reconstitution of an MCU-EMRE mitochondrial Ca(2+) uniporter complex. *Journal of Molecular Biology* 432(20), 5632–5648.
- WANG, L., YANG, X., LI, S., WANG, Z., LIU, Y., FENG, J., ZHU, Y. & SHEN, Y. (2014). Structural and mechanistic insights into MICU1 regulation of mitochondrial calcium uptake. *The EMBO Journal* 33(6), 594–604.
- WANG, W., FANG, H., GROOM, L., CHENG, A., ZHANG, W., LIU, J., WANG, X., LI, K., HAN, P., ZHENG, M., YIN, J., WANG, W., MATTSON, M. P., KAO, J. P., LAKATTA, E. G., SHEU, S. S., OUYANG, K., CHEN, J., DIRKSEN, R. T. & CHENG, H. (2008). Superoxide flashes in single mitochondria. *Cell* 134(2), 279–290.
- WANG, X., DU, H., SHAO, S., BO, T., YU, C., CHEN, W., ZHAO, L., LI, Q., WANG, L., LIU, X., SU, X., SUN, M., SONG, Y., GAO, L. & ZHAO, J. (2018). Cyclophilin D deficiency attenuates mitochondrial perturbation and ameliorates hepatic steatosis. *Hepatology* 68(1), 62–77.
- WANG, Y., HAN, Y., SHE, J., NGUYEN, N. X., MOOTHA, V. K., BAI, X. C. & JIANG, Y. (2020b). Structural insights into the Ca(2+)-dependent gating of the human mitochondrial calcium uniporter. *eLife* 9, e60513.
- WASEEM, M., TABASSUM, H. & PARVEZ, S. (2016). Melatonin modulates permeability transition pore and 5-hydroxydecanoate induced KATP channel inhibition in isolated brain mitochondria. *Mitochondrion* 31, 1–8.
- WHITTINGTON, H. J., OSTROWSKI, P. J., MCANDREW, D. J., CAO, F., SHAW, A., EYKYN, T. R., LAKE, H. A., TYLER, J., SCHNEIDER, J. E., NEUBAUER, S., ZERVOU, S. & LYGATE, C. A. (2018). Over-expression of mitochondrial creatine kinase in the murine heart improves functional recovery and protects against injury following ischaemia-reperfusion. *Cardiovascular Research* 114(6), 858–869.
- WIECKOWSKI, M. R., BRDICZKA, D. & WOJTCZAK, L. (2000). Long-chain fatty acids promote opening of the reconstituted mitochondrial permeability transition pore. *FEBS Letters* 484(2), 61–64.
- WIECKOWSKI, M. R., VYSSOKIKH, M., DYMKOWSKA, D., ANTONSSON, B., BRDICZKA, D. & WOJTCZAK, L. (2001). Oligomeric C-terminal truncated Bax preferentially releases cytochrome c but not adenylate kinase from mitochondria, outer membrane vesicles and proteoliposomes. *FEBS Letters* 505(3), 453–459.
- WINGROVE, D. E. & GUNTER, T. E. (1986a). Kinetics of mitochondrial calcium transport. I. Characteristics of the sodium-independent calcium efflux mechanism of liver mitochondria. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 261(32), 15159–15165.

- WINGROVE, D. E. & GUNTER, T. E. (1986b). Kinetics of mitochondrial calcium transport. II. A kinetic description of the sodium-dependent calcium efflux mechanism of liver mitochondria and inhibition by ruthenium red and by tetraphenylphosphonium. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 261(32), 15166–15171.
- WLODAWER, P., PARSONS, D. F., WILLIAMS, G. R. & WOJTCZAK, L. (1966). Morphological changes in isolated rat-liver mitochondria during swelling and contraction. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 128(1), 34–47.
- WOJTCZAK, L. & SOTTOCASA, G. L. (1972). On the impermeability of the outer mitochondrial membrane to cytochrome c. II. Studies on isolated membrane fragments. *The Journal of Membrane Biology* 7(1), 313–324.
- WOJTCZAK, L., WLODAWER, P. & ZBOROWSKI, J. (1963). Adenosine triphosphateindeced contraction of rat-liver mitochondria and synthesis of mitochondrial phospholipids. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 70, 290–305.
- WOJTCZAK, L. & ZALUSKA, H. (1969). On the impermeability of the outer mitochondrial membrane to cytochrome c. I. Studies on whole mitochondria. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 193(1), 64–72.
- WOJTCZAK, L., ZALUSKA, H., WRONISZEWSKA, A. & WOJTCZAK, A. B. (1972). Assay for the intactness of the outer membrane in isolated mitochondria. *Acta Biochimica Polonica* 19(3), 227–234.
- WONG-EKKABUT, J., XU, Z., TRIAMPO, W., TANG, I. M., TIELEMAN, D. P. & MONTICELLI, L. (2007). Effect of lipid peroxidation on the properties of lipid bilayers: a molecular dynamics study. *Biophysical Journal* 93(12), 4225–4236.
- WU, W., SHEN, Q., ZHANG, R., QIU, Z., WANG, Y., ZHENG, J. & JIA, Z. (2020). The structure of the MICU1-MICU2 complex unveils the regulation of the mitochondrial calcium uniporter. *The EMBO Journal* 39, e104285.
- XU, H. X., CUI, S. M., ZHANG, Y. M. & REN, J. (2020). Mitochondrial Ca(2+) regulation in the etiology of heart failure: physiological and pathophysiological implications. *Acta Pharmacologica Sinica* 41(10), 1301–1309.
- YERUSHALMI, B., DAHL, R., DEVEREAUX, M. W., GUMPRICHT, E. & SOKOL, R. J. (2001). Bile acid-induced rat hepatocyte apoptosis is inhibited by antioxidants and blockers of the mitochondrial permeability transition. *Hepatology* 33(3), 616–626.
- YIN, Y., GUAN, Y., DUAN, J., WEI, G., ZHU, Y., QUAN, W., GUO, C., ZHOU, D., WANG, Y., XI, M. & WEN, A. (2013). Cardioprotective effect of Danshensu against myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury and inhibits apoptosis of H9c2 cardiomyocytes via Akt and ERK1/2 phosphorylation. *European Journal of Pharmacology* 699(1–3), 219–226.
- YOUN, T. J., PIAO, H., KWON, J. S., CHOI, S. Y., KIM, H. S., PARK, D. G., KIM, D. W., KIM, Y. G. & CHO, M. C. (2002). Effects of the calcineurin dependent signaling pathway inhibition by Cyclosporin A on early and late cardiac remodeling following myocardial infarction. *European Journal of Heart Failure* 4(6), 713–718.
- YOUSUF, M. S., MAGUIRE, A. D., SIMMEN, T. & KERR, B. J. (2020). Endoplasmic reticulum-mitochondria interplay in chronic pain: the calcium connection. *Molecular Pain* 16, 1–20.
- ZAMZAMI, N., EL HAMEL, C., MAISSE, C., BRENNER, C., MUNOZ-PINEDO, C., BELZACQ, A. S., COSTANTINI, P., VIEIRA, H., LOEFFLER, M., MOLLE, G. & KROEMER, G. (2000). Bid acts on the permeability transition pore complex to induce apoptosis. *Oncogene* 19(54), 6342–6350.
- ZAMZAMI, N., MARCHETTI, P., CASTEDO, M., HIRSCH, T., SUSIN, S. A., MASSE, B. & KROEMER, G. (1996). Inhibitors of permeability transition interfere with the disruption of the mitochondrial transmembrane potential during apoptosis. *FEBS Letters* **384**(1), 53–57.
- ZHOU, B., KREUZER, J., KUMSTA, C., WU, L., KAMER, K. J., CEDILLO, L., ZHANG, Y., LI, S., KACERGIS, M. C., WEBSTER, C. M., FEJES-TOTH, G., NARAY-FEJES-TOTH, A., DAS, S., HANSEN, M., HAAS, W. & SOUKAS, A. A. (2019). Mitochondrial permeability uncouples elevated autophagy and lifespan extension. *Cell* 177(2), 299–314.
- ZHOU, H., LI, D., ZHU, P., MA, Q., TOAN, S., WANG, J., HU, S., CHEN, Y. & ZHANG, Y. (2018). Inhibitory effect of melatonin on necroptosis via repressing the Ripk3-PGAM5-CypD-mPTP pathway attenuates cardiac microvascular ischemiareperfusion injury. *Journal of Pineal Research* 65(3), e12503.
- ZHOU, H., ZHANG, Y., HU, S., SHI, C., ZHU, P., MA, Q., JIN, Q., CAO, F., TIAN, F. & CHEN, Y. (2017). Melatonin protects cardiac microvasculature against ischemia/reperfusion injury via suppression of mitochondrial fission-VDAC1-HK2-mPTP-mitophagy axis. *Journal of Pineal Research* 63(1), e12413.

(Received 16 October 2020; revised 28 May 2021; accepted 4 June 2021)